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INTRODUCTION.

;’ A -r- Enropean M:.htury Adventurers of Hindustan

.n AR

from ounr's than the mere lapse of a eentn.ry snggests.
It is probable that, saving to the stndent of Indian
history, their names are bui s indistinet items on a
forgotien soroll, whose record is nearly obliterated by
the dnst of oblivion, They and their deeds are blended into & bar-
barie past, when history was written in blood not in books, and of
which scarce  vestige remaing in the civilised Indian Empire of the
Vioctorian Zenith. And yet only a hundred years ago these dead and
gone Adventurers created armies, conguered kingdoms, overturned
princes and ruled provinoss, winning snch distinetions and wielding
guch personal power ag are not within the reach of modern endsavour,
Forming a link between the eras of Oriental despotism and Enropean
government, they bedizened the introduction of Weatern enlighten-
ment with the gandy paraphernalia of the East. But Fate planted -
them in one of those periods of transition which by their very nature
are temporary, and they share with it a short-lived fame. Their °
individual places in History are limited to a paragraph or, at most, &
psge. They are but units in the sum of India’s story—stray drafts on
its capital of acbievement which Lave been retived, filed away and
forgotten, None heed these faded personalities now. The whisper of
De Boigne's name is as powerless to compsl sitention as the thunder
of his cannon to create terror ; the mention of George Thomas awalkens
no responsive recognition even in hearts alert to the influence of
Romance and Adventure; the politieal opinions of Petron have long
censed to affect the price of India stock, or set heads wagging in
Leadenhall Sireet. As for the lesser Boldiers of Fortune—the cen-
turicns and the lientenants of the Mercenary Armies of Native India
—they are dust of the common dust, whose memory the greedy march
of English enterprise in the East has shaffled out of aight, reducing
their achievements {0 the common leve! which displays not a head-
stone to view. Yet each in his different way, designedly or uncon-
soiously, direetly or indirectly, worked townrds one eommon end by
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assisting in bringing about the eonditions that paved the way for the
eatablishment of English enpremacy in India; and each, when his
personal share in the drama was finished, and the last great aot
opened, passed off the stage umnoticed and unknown, and lefi the
completion of the task, and the applause it evoked, to other actors.

A word of explanation is necessary soncerning the title chosen for
this book. The * Hindnslan " therein referred to is the sircumseribed
territory defined by that fine old geographer, Major James Rennell, in
bis * Memoir of 8 Map of Hindostan,” pablished in 1785. It was a
territory bounded by the Indus on the west, by the * Burrampootrs
or thereabouts” on the east, by the Himalayan mountains on the
north, and * by the countries of the Deccan on the south, so that the
whole peninsnla to the south of a line drawn pearly from Balsaore to
Eroach is not reckoned Hindostan.” It is necessary to thus localise
the Adventurers whose lives are sketched in the [ollowing pages in
order that they maynot be confonnded with the innumerable European
Free Lances, who served the courts of Haidarabad and Mysore and
other Native Princes in Southern India.

The period in which the European Military Adventorers of Hindn-
stan flonrished began in 1784, during the Government of Warren
Haslings, and ended in 1803 during that of the Marquis Wellesley.
Those twenty years saw the rige, the reign, and the min of Independent
Military Adventnre in India To De Boigne belongs the honour of
baving initiated the wonderful system that took root and grew with
the fatal rapidity of an exotic. He ereated for Madhoji Sindhia—* A
Buler of Indis”—the firet ccmzplete army of regular troops employed
by the Native Princes of the ecuniry., The example was soon followed
by the Nizara of Haidarabad, and, in s different degree, by Tipt Sultan.
In 1798 there were three great disciplined military establishments in
the service of the leading Indian Courts, sommanded by Frenchmen in
the French interest, and employing European arts and tacties of war.
Their destruction and extermination was foreed npon the, Marquis
Wellesley by the political exigenees of the times, and was the most
important work of bis admiunistration. De Boigne's army, which had
passed under the ecrnmand of Perron, was the first of these three
organisations o be ealled into exisience and the last of thera to be
broken up.

The politieal and, indeed, international importance of the Earopean
Military Adventurers of India ean be guaged from the fuilowing
extract from a despaich written by the Marquis Wellesley in 1708 :—

“ In the present weak state of the Nizam of Haidarabad’s Govern-
ment, the French ecrps in his service would {in the event of a war
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between the Epglish and Mysore, which was anticipated) openly joir
Tipd Bultan, and by a sudden blow endeavour to seize the Nizam’s
territories, and to secure them to the Dominion of France under an
allisnes offensive and defensive with Tipd Sultan. . . . The,interest
and the inclination of Sindhia, who entertains a large axrmy in his
service under the command of a French officer (Perron), wounld lead
him to engege with TipG Sultan and the French, . . . The junetion
which might thus be effected between the French officers, with their
several corps in the respective services of the Nizam, of Sindhia, and
of Tipd, might establish the power of France upon the rums of the
states of Poonah and of the Decean.”

Although this book does not deal with the Fremch Factions of
Haidarabad and Myeore, their existence and importance must be
noted, because they are intimately connected with the subjeqt treated.
In Haidarsbad, in addition t5 the Nizam’s irregular eoldiery, there
wos & trained army of 14,000 men and 30 guns under the command of
Piron, who hed succeeded the famons Raymond. The native army of
Mysore numbered 75,000 troops of all arms, and included Tipd's
" European or Fremoch Foree” of 550 officers, non-commissioned
officers and men. Finally Sindhia could muster 40,000 disciplined
infantry with 880 guns, the whole commanded by Perron, who was
sspisted by an efficient staff of 800 Europeans, Rindhia’s Brigades
were one factor, and, as events proved, the most formidable factor ip
that possible combination which a hundred years- ago threatened the
existence of the English power in India. The story of those Brigades
is the story of the Enropean Military Adventurers of Hindustan,

I am desirons of taking this opportunity of recording my obligations
to two gentlemen for help received. Mr. Edmund Neel, C.LE., the
asgistant sacretury in the political department of the India office,
facilitated » search through many volumes of Government records,
and kindly assisted in regard to those of a secret nature which were
not open to my inspection ; and Count de Boigne placed at my disposal
& memoir of his illustrious grandsire's life, and cleared up one doubtful
point of great interest.

In eompiling the following pages m great many anthorities have
been consulted, but it would be tedious to give in detail the names of
all the works from whioh fragments of information have been gleaned.
The principal onea are indioated in the list printed below, to the firat
four books in which I am partienlarly indebted. The aketch of Da
Boigne's life was written before the two French biographies indicated
oame under my observation, and they bave only been used to correot
o few minor statements of faot, chiefly of a personal nature, In the
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life of George Thomas, his memoirs have been very elosely followed,
bat a great quantity of extraneons and uninteresting matier has been
eliminated, and a good deal of additional informstion incorporated.
‘With regard to Perron, so far a8 I am aware, there is no dotailed
biography of this adventurer in existence, and the one here presented
is compiled from original sources. The lives of the lesser adventurers
have been colled from s great varioty of works, by far the most
tmportant of which is the one written by Lewis Ferdinand 8mith.

An earnest endeavour has been made to secure correctness of parra-
tive, bt in some cases it ine been rendered very difficalt, and suecess
rendered doubtful, by divergent sistemenis snd contradictory dates
bearing on the same inc¢ident.

H C.

LIST OF AUTHORITIES CONSULTED.

A Skstch of the Rise, Progrem, and Terminstion of the Regular Corps formed
snd commandad by Earopesns in the service of the Native Princes of Indis.
By Lxwis Feaprsawp Buxrra.  Calenita, 1805.

Military Memoirs of Lieutensut-Colonel James Skinner, C.B. By J. Banie
Prasxn. Londom, 1851.

. The Military Memoirs of George Thomas. By Corowmr WiLiiax FRAWCKLIN,
Calentta, 1803,

A History of the Mahrattas. By Jawzs Grawy Durr. Londom, 1824,

The Despaiches, Minutes, and Correspondence of the Marquam Wellesley, X.0.,
during bis administration in Indis. London, 1837.

Memoire sur Ia carrilre de M. Le Général Comte do Boigne. Chambéry, 1820,

Une page inédité de I'histoire des Indes. Le Genersl de Boigoe (1751-1830).
Par Vicrox px Banwy-Gxwxrs. Poitiers, 1873,

Memoirs of the Pathan Soldier of Fortuyne. . . . Amesr Khan. Compiled in
Persian by Brsawas Lar. Transisted by H. T. Paoesxr.  Calcutts, 1532,

IMustrations of some Institutions of the Mahratta People. By W. H. Towx
Calcutts, 1818.

The History of the Beign of Shah Aulom. By Corosma WILLIAY PRANCKIIN.
London, 1798,

The Calcutts Monthly Register, 1790; The Caleutts Monthly Jourml, 1798~
1800 ; The Hindostanes Intelligencer and Oriental Anthology, 1801-1502 ;
The Asiatic Aonual BRegister, 1801-1811; The Asintic Jowrnal, 1431, ete.
Belections from the Calcuita Gazetie. By W. A. Szvow Eanx. Caleutts,

1864,
Governmant Records at the Imdia Office,
Ete., Bte, Ptc.
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life of George Thomas, his memoirs have been very closely followed,
but a great guantity of extraneous and uninteresting matter has been
eliminated, and a good deal of sdditional information incorporated
With regard to Perron, so far as I am aware, thers is no dotailed
biography of this adventarer in existence, and the one here presented
is compiled from original aourees. The lives of the lesser adventurers
have been culled from s great variety of works, by far the most
tmportant of which is the one wriiten by Lewis Perdinand Bmith.

An earnest endeavonr has been made to secure correetness of narra-
tive, but in some eases it has been rendered very difficult, and euccess
rendered doubtful, by divergent statements and coniradictory dates
bearing on the same incident.

H C

LIST OF AUTHORITIES CONSULTED.

A Sketch of the Rise, Progrems, snd Termination of the Bagular Corpe formed
and commanded by Europeans in the service of the Native Prinoes of India.
By Lxwm Frprwawp Surrm.  Caleuntts, 1905,

Military Memoirs of Licutenant-Colonel James Skinner, C.B. By J. Banize
Frasmg. Londom, 1851.

The Military Memoirs of George Thomas. By Corowss WriLiiax PRaNCELIN,
Calcutts, 1803

A History of the Mabrattas. By Janms Gmaxy Duyr. London, 1826

The Despatches, Minutes, and Correspondence of the Marques Weilesley, K.G.,
during his administration in Indis. London, 1837,

Memoire sur I carridre de M. Le Général Comte de Boigne. Chambéry, 1830,

Une page inédité de Phistoire des Indes. Le Genarsl de Boigne {1751-1830).
Paxr Vicror v Satwr-Gxxm. Poitiers, 1873,

Memoire of the Puthan Soldier of Fortuns. . . . Amesr Ehan. Compiled in
Persian by Braawar Lat. Tramslated by H. T. Promaxr. Calcutts, 1532,

Miustrations of some Institutions of the Mabratis People. By W. H. Tosx
Calcutta, 1518,

The History of the Reign of Bhak Anlum. By Corowxr Woaiaw Prascxiry.
Loadon, 1798,

The Caleatta Mouthly Register, 1790; The Caleutts Monthly Joarnal, 1793
1800 ; The Hindostunes Intelligencer and Oriental Anihology, 1801-1902;
The Asiatic Aunual Begister, 1801-1811; The Asiantic Jowrnal, 1531, ete.
Selections from the Calcwita Gazette. By W. 8. fxrow Kaxx.  Caleutia, |

1864,
Government Reconds at the Indis Office,
Bte., Bte., Bte.
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life of George Thomas, his memoirs have been very closely followed,
but a great quantity of extraneons and unioteresting matier has been
eliminaied, and a good deal of additional information inecorporated
With regard to Perron, so far as I am aware, thers is no detailad
biography of this adventurer in existence, and the one here presented
is eompiled from original sources. The lives of the lesser adventurers
have been culled from a greas variety of works, by far the most
important of which is the one written by Lewis Ferdinand Smith.

An earnest endeavour has been made to secure correctness of narra-
tive, but in some cases it has been rendered very difficult, and success
rendered doubtful, by divergent statements and eontraldictory dates
bearing on the eame incident.
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A Sketch of the Rise, Progress, and Termination of the Regular Corps formed
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Frasxn. Londom, 1851.
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Calcutts, 1803
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1864,
Governmemt Records at the Indis Office,
B, Ble., Bte.



CONTENTS.

§§§E-ﬂl



838 APPENDIX,

of these people no such sentiment ae amor patrie is to be found,
above affection for a few clods of earth or stumps of trees, merely from
their having been jmprinted on their recollection from the sporfive
period of infancy. The Indian is, in this point, a citizen of the world,
It not unfreguently happens that fathers, sons, and brothers embrace
different pervices, and mest in baitle array on the ensangmnined plain
against each other, perhaps unwittingly to fall by each other's hands.”

ARNSTRONG, Masor.—Major Armstrong succesded Major Plumet in
the command of Holkar's Becond Brigade of regular infantry in 1802,
snd distinguished himself at the battle of Poonsh in the same year,
On the bresking out of the war with the English in 1803, Armstrong
determined to quit the chief. But he did not effect this without the
greatost difficulty, and was obliged fo sacrifiee all his arrears and
most of his property, barely saving hias life by s secret flight, Had his
intention beer snspeeted he wounld nssuredly have ghared the oruel
fate of Vickers, Dodd, and Ryan, whom Holkar barbarously put to
death for refusing to fight against their own countrymen. Major
Armatrong lived io enjoy a penpsion of Rs.1,200 a month from the
Britich Government, as 5 compensation for big loss of employ.

Baovrs, Masor [orthography dombiful ; aleo written Bahors].—
Major Baours was a Fronchman, and began his career in the Begum
Somru’z foree, to the command of which ho snceceded in 1788, after
the murder of Pauly at Delhi When De Boigne raiged his firs$
brigade Baours gladly left the Begum’s employ to take the eommand
of a batialion in Bindhia's service. His career was, however, soon cut
short, for he was killed at the battle of Pitan in 1790,

Berrasis, JoserE Harvey, Carratn.—This fine young adventurer
waa probably a cadet of a well-known Bombay family of the same
name, one member of which rose to the command of the artillery in
the Peshwa’s service. Capiain Bellasis was originally an ensign in the
Honourable Company’s Qorps of Engineers, but was impelled by his
peouniary embarrassments to seck to retrieve his fortunes in the service
of the Native princes, and in a rash moment resigned his commission,
and penetrated into the Marithé dominions. He had seen and heard
of many adventurers who had reached the summit of ambition, power,
and riches as soldiers of fortune in the interior of India, and who did
not possess greater talants or stouter resclution than himself; for he
wasg & young man allowed by all to be an honour fo hig profesgion.
His courage was undaunted, his integrity lrreproachable, and his
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of these poople no such sentiment es amor pairie is to be found,
above affection for a few elods of earth or stumps of treed, merely from
their having been imprinted on their recollection from the sporlive
period of infancy. The Indian is, in this point, a citizen of the world.
It not anfrequently happens that fathers, sons, and brothers embrace
different services, and meet in battle array on the ensanguined plain
sgainst each other, perhaps unwittingly to fall by each otber’s hands.”

AnusTRONG, Masor—Major Armsirong succeeded Major Plumet in
the eommand of Holkar's Becond Brigade of regular infaniry in 1802,
and distingnished himself at the battle of Poonah in the same year.
On the breaking out of the war with the English in 1808, Armstrong
determined to quit the chief. But he did not effect this withont the
greatest difficnlty, and was obliged to sserifice all his arrears and
most of his property, barely saving his life by & seeret flight. Hagd bis
intention been suspecied he would sssuredly have shared the eruel
fate of Vickers, Dodd, and Ryan, whom Holkar bazbsrously put to
death for refusing to fight againet their own eountrymen. Major
Armstrong lived to enjoy s pension of Ba.1,200 » month from the
British Government, a8 & compensstion for his loss of employ.

Baoues, Mason [orihograpby doubtful ; also writien Bahors).—
Major Bacurs was & Frenchman, and began his eareer in the Begum
Somru's fores, o the eommand of which ha snecesded in 1788, after
the murder of Paunly at Delli When De Boigne raised his first
brigade Baoars gladly left the Begum’s employ 1o take the eomumand
of a battalion in Bindhia's servica. His career was, however, soon cud
short, for he was killed at the baiile of Pitan in 1790.

Bzirasts, Joszre Harvey, Carrizn.—This fine young adveniurer
was probably a cadet of & well-known Bombay family of the same
name, ope member of which rose to the commmand of the srtillery in
the Peshwa'a service. Captain Bellssis was originally an ensign in the
Honourable Company’s Corps of Enginsers, but was impelled by bis
pecunisry ambarrassments 10 seek 1o retrieve his fortanes in the service
of the Native princea, and in a rash moment resigned his ecommission,
of many adventurers who had reached the summit of ambition, power,
and riches as soldiers of fortune in the interior of India, and who did
not pomess greater talents or siouter resolution than himself; for be
waa » young man allowed by all 10 be an bonour to kis profession.
His ecurage was undsunted, his integrity irreproschabls, and bis
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generogily unbounded. He had an excellent knowledge of military

soiensce, waa elegant in person, and endowed gwith great activity of
body and energy of mind, and was, moreover, an excellent seholar,
conversant with Greek and Lafin, and understanding musiec and
painting. To these acoomplishmenta he added a fascinating address
and an open disposition. Such was the young English gentleman
who in 1796 out himself adrift from his fellow conntrymen, and entered
the gervice of the Marith4 chief, Ambaji Inglia, for whom he raised
four battalions of regular infantry, He soon found out the mistake he
hed made. Ambaji waa * tainted with the worst principles of the
worst Aaiatic,” and Bellasis lacked the powera of intrigue, the as-
sidnity and the duplicity necessary to rise in such a service. Yet he
tried hard to do hie duty, and it is recorded that Ambaji's battalions
would bave been “as fine as any in Hindustan, if the parsimony of
the ohief had mnot rendered futile their commander's iabour and
genina” In 1797 Bellasis was engaged in the storm of Lohér, and
in an assault of unsommon boldness his battalions suffered heavily.
Notwithstanding this, he was ordered, immediately after the capture,
to march his shattered and fatigned eorps fo storm another fort, named
Gopilpur, fiftesn miles distant, leaving his dead unburied, and his
wounded unattended to. SBuch inhmman orders sould only be justified
by the moat ernel necessity, and Bellasis, with the fine feelings of a
soldier and the propriety of 8 commander, refused to obey them, This
refusal, which was eagerly expected, was made the pretext for dis-
charging him and his battalions, and plundering their effecte. Two
years later his distress and his necessities drove him once more into
Ambaji's servios, and he obtained the command of two battalions in
Jomes Shepherd’s party. With these he took part in the siege of
Bounds, and whilst gallantly leading his men on to viotory was shot -
through the head in the assaunlt on Lakwa DAida’s enirenchment.

BerviEs, AveusTiNg, Mazon [spelt Bunnear and Bumesr by oon-
temporary writers].~~Major Bernier waa & French adventurer, and
began hig Indian eareer in the service of the Begum Somru, and was
one of the witneasea to that lady’s marriage with Le Vassoult in 1798,
Later on he commanded a battalion in Perron’s Third Brigads, under
Louis Bourgnien. Bernier was a brave and able soldier, and Bkinner
gtates that at the battle of Georgegarh in 1801 hs saved Bourguien
from a disastrous defeat by his ability and courage. He was killed &
fow weoks later at the grand sssault on the town of Hinsi—a faoct
whioh, it is enriona to note, was brought to light so recently as Novem-
ber, 1891, for Bkinner exroneonsly states that Bernier was killed in the
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sttack on Thomss's outposts whilst rallying bis men, who had been
beaten back. A correspondent of a Lahér paper thus writes on the
date above mentioned :—

“A marble tomb, in a broken condition, has been found by Mr.
Stanley Blkinner in his village of Barsi, close by Hinsi, bearing an
inseription o this effect : * To the memory of Augustine Bernior, late
Magjor in the service of H.H. Dowlut Rdio Beindia. Killed in the
storm of Hinsi, on 10th December, 1801, whils gallanily leading on
his troops. Aged 32 years.'”

Bernier was a great favonrite with his soldiery, by whom, se well
as by his fellow officers, his death waa deeply regretied.

BircH, LIEUTENANT.—Lientenant Birch was originally sn officer in
George Thomas's army, in which he fairly distinguished himself. He
proved faithful to his chief during the long and trying siege of George-
gorh, and accompanied him in hin flight to Hinai, which he helped 10
defend until Thomas was forced to capitniate. Birch then appears to
have joined Perron's serviee, for he remained in Hindustan, and was
one of the officers in Markthé employ who took advantage of Lord
Wellesley's proclamation offering pensions to all British subjects who,
on the declaration of the war, lefy the Marithis and passed over to
the English. Birch appesars to have been swarded a pension of Ra 800
" & month, and after the battle of Delhi, when General Lake left Colonel
Ochterlony in command of the Capital, received the sommand of twe
Najib battalione mised io assist in holding the eity. Boon afterwards
they were detached againat Bapfi Bindbia, Daulaé Bio's governor
in the SBaharanpur distries, but were shockingly beaten, and lost four
of their guns—a eatastrophe which so incensed Colonel Ocbterlony
that he refnsed to entnst any more of the Company's ertillery to
Bindhia’s Iate officers, many of whom were now in the British service
and in eommand of newly raised levies, recruited from the dispersed
remmnants of Perron's Brigades. Birch, after his defeat by Bapf, re-
assembled his battalions, snd was stationed on the Punjab frontier,
where, in 1904, he assisted Skinner to defest s large body of Sikhs.

Bow, J. P., CoLower.—Boyd was an American.  'When Baymond
inereased his corps st Haidsrabad to such an exient ss to make it t0o
formidable, the British Government, as a eounterpoise, suggested to the
Nisam that he should raise two fresh eorps, to be eommanded by officers
whose sympathies were with the English.  Boyd, who owned s patty
deseribed a8 “ s ready formed and axperienced eorps of 1,800 men,”
was engaged, and in 1705 sook part in the bettle of Eardle. In the :
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following year, when Raymond was at the height of his power, and it
was yurmonred that he premeditated an atiack on the Britich Resident’s
camp, Boyd and Finglass (another English adventarer in command
of a corps) at once paraded their troops, and signified their intention
of supporting the Company’s cause. The frouble, however, passed
over, and they were not oslled upon to aet. A few monthe later
misunderstandings arose between Boyd and the Court of Haidarabad,-
fermtented probably by Raymond, and the American quitted the
service, taking his party with him. He wsas next engaged by the
Peshwa of Poonah, who paid him a salary of Re. 8,000 & month, In
October, 1796, Boyd mssisted in the operations which resulted in
Baji Rio being sested on the masnad as Peshwa, after the tragical
death by enicide of Madbu Rio. The next year he was raised to the
command of the Peshwa's regular Brigade, and the last mention of
him is in eonnection with some loeal disturbances which broke ount aé
Poonsh in 1797,

BounevureN, Lovis, CoLoneL [spelt also Bourguienne, Bonrquoin,
Bourgnin, and Bourkin],—This individual, who was known amongst
the Natives as Looes Sahib, was s Frenchmsan, whose real name was
Lounis Bernard.. He came to India in Admirsl Buffrein’s feet, land-
ing at Pondicheiry, where he remained some time, He then made
his way to Calenits, and enlisted in & mercenary regiment of
foreigners in the Company’'s service, kmown as Captain Dozat's
Chasseurs. Upon the reduction of that force Bourguien turned his
attention to eivil purenits, and for some time exercised the calling of
8 cook at Caleutta, his craft in culinary matters being superior to his
akill in military ones. Later on he started business as & manufacturer
of fireworks, and in this capacity accompanied s gentleman named
Gairard, the proprietor of the Vauxhall Gardens &t Calentta, to
Lucknow, Hae then returned to the military profession, and obtained
an appointment in the Begum Somru's force, from which he
entered that of De Boigne about the year 1794, when he is found
rated as o lieutenent on & pay of Re, 200 a month, No mention
of his name appears again until August, 1800, when he joined the
Rijah of Jaipur, with one of Perron’s battalions, to assieh against
Lakwa DAda, Boon after thia he was detached to capture Ajmir,
but the fort proved too strong to be taken, and he was defonted in
December and obliged to fall back. He then invested the place,
and on the 7th of May, 1801, sesured its surrender by bribery. DBut
mesnwhile General Perron had become greatly dissatisfied with his
conduct of the siege, and sent Captain Symes to swpersede him.



842 APPENDIX,

Bourguien was so enraged at this that he offered his services fo
the Bijah of Jaipur, but Partib Singh declined to sccept them
for fear of disobliging General Perron, by whom he had recently
beon redaced to a siate of sbject submission. Bo Bourguien swal-
lowed his moriification, and retained his appointment in Bindbis's
army. He seems to have been undeservedly fortnnate, for in s fow
weeks he was promoted to the command of the Third Brigade, and
in Augusi entrusted with the eondmet of the war against George
Thomas. A full account of this campaign has been given in the
gketch of Thomas's life. Although at the head of ten fine battalions
of infantry and s Iarge body of Hindustani horse, Bourguien was
oulwitted and ountmanceuvred by Thomas, and finally defeated at the
battle of Georgegarh. This led to his supersession for incapacity for
the second iime within the year, but after Podron had retrieved affairs
Bourguien was once again entrusted with the command of operations,
and eveninally forced Thomas to surrender at Hinsi He was then
detached with bis brigade to eollect tribnte in the Butlej states, and
in November, 1602, we find him at Fiod negotiating matters of con-
siderable importance with Bajah Bigh Singh. He remained in the
Bikh conntry till the middle of 1808, his last exploits being the captare
of Rolitak, and the levying of a tribute of Re.15,000 from the Karnal
district. In June of this year, when war with the English was im-
minent, Perron ordered Bourgunisn to encamp st Pinipat, and shortly
afterwards f0 mareh down aod oecupy Delhi. In August hostilities
broke out, and simnltaneoualy Ambaji Inglis was appointed to super-
sede Perron. Bourguien, althongh s “bosom friend * of the General
~—8Bkinner states they were relatives—was the first to revolt against
bim, and the ehief instrument in effecting his downfall, The evenis
leading up to the battle of Delhi, and Bourguien’s brief tenure of
power, have been fully resorded. He surrendered to General Lake
shortly afier the British victory, and was deported fo Calenits, from
whenee, in course of time, he found his way to Hamburg, and so o
Franca, He retired with “ an immense fortune,” and there his
history enda. * He was not only s eoward, but & fool,” was Skinner’s
brief eommentary cn him, and Bmith deseribes him as being * as
wicked as he was weak.” He gained a certain reputation from the mere
fact of his being in pominal sommend of the enemy st the battle of
Delkii, but it was a totally spurious one, for he was the first fo fly the
field. With the exception of Bombre, and perhaps Michael and Fidéls
Filoze, there is no more eontemptible character amongst the military
~ adventarers of Hindustan than Lovis Bonrguien, eook, pyrotechnist,

and poltroon. '
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Browwrtea, Maron—Major Brownrigg was known as Burandee
Bahib amongst the natives, but there is no proof that this derogatory
designation wag anything but an unhappy corrnption of his proper
name, He was an Irishman by birth, and a very brave and sble
officer, much liked by his soldiery, and highly esteerned by Daulat
Rfo Sindhia, for whom he raised an independent eorps, He is first
heard of in 1799, when he stormed and captured the fort of Kolapaur,
near Poonah. During the next year he wag chiefly employed in
opposing Pareshram Bhao, the Peshwa’s commander-in-chief, during
the political revolutions and disorders that prevailed in the Deccan.
He then accompanied Bindhin to Malwa, and in July, 1801, made his
famous defence against Jaswant Bfo Holkar, who, after defeating
MacIntyre, attacked Brownrigg’s entrenched eamp nesr the Narbeda.
Brownrigg's force waa vastly inferior in numbers, not exceeding four
battalions, but his position was an exceedingly strong one, with the -
river in his rear, and his front and flanks intersested by ravines,
which preventsd Holkar's cavalry from acting. He was, moreover,
well supplied with artillery, being accompanied by Bindhia's grand
park. He defended his position with great judgment and intrepidity,
snd finglly obliged Holkar to refreat, leaving two guns behind him.
Three monthe after this Brownrigg assisted Sutherland in winning
the notable battle of Indore, in which Holkar's entrenchments were
stormed at the point of the bayonet, and all his guns taken. By this
time Brownrigg had risen very high in Sindhia’s favour, which made
him an objeet of jealousy to Perron, who, when he came to Ujjain, in
Maroh, 1802, found means to encompsasa his disgrace, and Skinner
mentions him se having been * put in arrest under fixed bayoneta”
for intrigning .against the (General What became of Brownrigg's
corps after this is not quite clear, but it is poesible it was incorporated
in Perron's army, for a few months later Brownrigg was at Koil,
from whence, a little while before the Lreaking cut of the war with
the English, he was sent back to the Deccan in command of five
battalions of the newly raised Fifth Brigade. Bindhia, however, soon
ordered him back to reinforoe Perron’s srmy in Hindustan, and he
reached Agra just after the battle of Delhi had been fought, Although
Brownrigg's battalions were refused entry into the fort, he was per-
mitted to join Heasing, Sutherland, and the other European officers
residing there, and shared with them the confinement they were
presently placed in by the revolted garrison. After the fall of Agra,
Brownrigg entered the British service, obtained the ¢ommana of some
frregular levies, and was smployed in the wax sgainst Jaswant Réo
Holkar. He fell in an unaqual conflict before Birsa, in the Hariing
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district, on the 19tk of Fobruary, 1804, his troops being overpowered
by superior numbers and defeated for want of good arms. It was the
firet ropulse he had experienced in the eourse of twelve years of active
and arduous service. He was an amiable man and a fine soldier,
whose defent of Holkar in 1801 was one of the most brilliant episodes
of MarAth4 eivil strife.

BourtesriELp, Carrain.—Captain Butterfield was the son of an
officer in the Honourable Company’s service. He appears {0 have
sought & career in the Native eourts early in life, and before 1790
was employed by the Rajah of Karaoli, whom he quitted in order to
enter the service of Thaktr Dirjan LAl a Rajput ebief, from which he
was ftempied away by the superior inducements of Bindhia’s srmy.
1t is probable that he joined De Boigne when the Becond Brigade
was raised, for in 1704 he had risen to the rank of a eaptain, thongh
on & pay of only Rs, 200 s month, Bome years later he was still &
captain in the Second Brigade under Colonel Butherland. When
Lakwa DAds joined the rebellion of the Bhais, Ambsji Inglis was
ordered to attack him, and Buiterfield, with two battalions and ten
pieces of eannon, acted under the echief. Marching to Kotah they
engaged the Bhais srmy at 8 place called Chand-khori, when Ambaji's
frregular troops deserted, and the whole brunt of the attack foil upon
‘Buiterfield's two battalions., After fighting for two houms it became
appareni that not only eowardice but treachery waa rife in Ambsji's
army, for some of his troops went over to Lakwa, in eonsequence of
which Buiterfield was foreed to retire, and lost a great number of
tmen before he oould get to & place of safely. Eventually he made
good hLis retreat to Shérgarh. For bis condnet on this occasion he
received a very flattering Jetler from Perron. No forther mention of
kis services ean be found.

Dawes, Carratn—Captain Dawes was an officer in Perron's First
Brigade under Sutherland Little is known of his eareer. In Feb-
raary, 1802, he was detached by Daulat Béo Sindhis to pursoe Holkar
afier his defeat at Indore. Dawes bad only four battalions of regulsr
infantry and six ragamuffin batialions belonging to Ambaji, and
was unabls to effeet anything of importance, or sisy Holksr's mpid
predatory eourse, though he emrried on s desnliory eampaign in
Ehandésh for some months, and won a few small skinmishes. When
Holkar advanced sgainst Poonah, Dawes was seni fo oppose him.
His army was ntierly insdequsis for the work, and inferior in every
respect to Jaswant Béo’s, notwitheianding which he sirongly urged
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Judiseo Bhao, the Marathi general, to force a battle, The defeat
which followed is historical, and was the indirect cause of the war
between the English and Bindhia in the following year. Dawes's
battalions behaved with signal courage, fully sustaining their repuia-
tion, but they wers completely overpowered, Of their four officers,
three - Dawes, Catts, and Dougles —were killed, and one taken
prisoner. The guns lost on this oceasion were the first ever captured
in setion from any of De B?igne's battaliona,

Deenmwon, Lovis, Major [epelt also Deriden, Derridoven, and
Darechdoon]—Major Derridon was & half-bred Frenohman -and
brother-in-law to General Perron, who married his sister, Heo was
also related to Colonel Johm Hessing, probably in the snme degree, for
the Colonel's son, George Hessing, is deseribed by Skinner as Perron’s
nephew. Major Derridon commanded n battalion in Hessing’s corps,
and was present at the battle of Ujjain, when Holkar defeated four of
Sindhia’s battalions, and killed nearly all their officers, In this sction
Derridon was wounded and taken prisoner, and Colonel John Heasing
paid. Ra. 40,000 to ransom him from Holkar, though Sindhia, according
to a local paper published at the time, subsequently refunded the
amount. Derridon then repaired to Hindustan, and when Perron
disoharged most of his English officers in 1802, received a high
appointment in his srmy. He was at Agra when the fort was
captured by General Lake in 1808. Lady Fanny Parkes, in her
“ Wanderings of a Pilgrim in Search of the Picturesque,” incidentally
mentions that this officer was living at Xoil in 1888, *in a honse
formerly the property of General Perron.” His grandsons were
owners of the same property as late as 1871,

Doop, Masor,—Major Dodd was en Englishman, and sucoeeded
Captain Gordner in the command of a brigade in Jaswant Réo
Holkar's servics, which was composed of four battaliona of infantry,
200 cavalry, and 20 guns, It is probable he took part in the battle of
Poonsh. He was one of the British officers beheaded by Holkar in
1804 for refusing to fight against their own countrymen.

DowgLLy, Oaprain.—Qaptain Donelly was an Irishman, and com-
manded a battalion in Perrox's Becond Brigads, under Colonel Pohl-
man. All that is known of him is that he was killed &t the storming
of Bhahpirs in 1799, when Pohlman was beaten back with a losa of a
thousand men killed and wounded. Perron in a letter to De Boigne
mentions the death of this officer, whom he refers to as * your profegé,
Donelly.” ‘
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Deueron, Osrraty.—Captain Drugecn was a Savoyard by birth,
snd a cowntryman of De Boigne. He was born at Hyenne, near
Chambéry where his father resided in the chatean of Bergen. The
ciroumstance of his brother having risen to the rank of & general in tho
Bardinian army seems to indicate that Captain Drugeon was s man of
good family. In 1787 he wae at Paris, and probably came out to India
in the French service. He was one of De Beigne's oldest officers, and
in May, 1794, was Brigade-Major of the Second Brigade, and drawing
Rs. 400 & month pay. When Perron was traneferred to the command
of the First Brigade and sent to the Deccan, Drugeon sccompanied him,
snd suocesded to his command in 1797, when hs was promoted to De
Boigne's vacated post. Drugeon saw some fighting at Poonab, but not
of 8 very creditable kind. In June, 1798, after ths Bhais had fled for
protection to Amrat Réo, that chief was induced by SBindhis to repsir to
Poonah for negotiation. But no sooner had he encamped on the out-
skirts of the city than Ghatkay Réo, Bindhia’s father-in-Iaw, made &
treacherous aitack upon him with two Brigades of infantry under
Drugoon’s command. Opening fire from twenty-five guns upon Amrat
Rio's unsuspecting troops, he speedily threw them into confusion, and
then eharging with the infantry put them to flight and pinndered their
camp. Soon after thia Drugeon appears to have fallen into some grave
trouble, for & local- paper records that he was deposed by his own
‘officers, and, under orders from Perron, superseded by Colonel Duprat,
He aitributed his disgrace to the machinations of his enemijes. In
1800, partly at the request of De Boigns, who appears Lo bave retained
a regard for him, he was restored to Perron’s favour, and sppointed to
the eormmandantship of the fort st Delhi, and ten months Ister to the
charge of the Emperor's person, on & salary of Bs.800 s month.
About this time he wrote an inieresting letter to De Boigne, from
which many of the following particulars are gleaned. He mentioned
he had saved Ra. 80,000, which he had invested in the Company's
Funds, and boped fo be able 1o pay for his passsge to Europs withont
trespasuing on this eapital, which would eonstitate s sufficient provi-
gion for his old age. He deplored De Boigne's departure, declsring
that kis presenes was neecesary to re-establish Sindhia’s fortnnes ons
sound bagis, and that his retwun would be hailed Lks that of s Messiah,
“in such veneration and adoration are you beld, especially by the
troops, who invoke your’name only in their songs.” As for Perrom,
Drugeon deseribes him as “like the King of Prussia for power, and
like & Creegus as regards riches, which fall on Lim night and day like
the most sbundant rain, in the form of rupees. Hei-eomdbyn‘ll
the rijahs and chisfs of the countiry and aleo by Sindkis, who is afraid
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of him, You have made the soup, whick he has only the trouble of
supping.” His own misfortunes, Drugeon goes on to state} had been
very heavy. *“If my jealous enemies,” he protests, * had not done
me an ill turn with Perron, I would have been a rich man to-day. I
try to forget themn—for what can I d0? God Almighty eannot undo
what has ciready been done.” Such ig his philosophicsl reflection,
but doubtless he found a balm fo his wounded epirit in the fact that
the Emperor's person, his coxrespondence, and all his household were
entrusted to his eare, After detailing some local news, which has
been incorporated in the sketch of Perron's life, Drugeon goes on fo
say: “I very mnch desive to return to Europe, but I am hindered
from doing so by an entanglement with e lady of the country, whom.
I love very much, and whom I have taken up with to assist me o
forget my past cares, As to taking her with me, oan I do s0? I do
not at all wish to desert ber,” Kindly give me your advice, Bheisa
niece to the Nawéb Baliman Khan, and a widow, seventeon years old,
and is inoessantly felling me she would rather die than leave me, I
am speaking to you a8 & oonfeasor, and I await your answer befora
deciding anything.”

Drugeon remained at Delhi till the breakmg out of the war with the
English, and i constantly referred to in the Persizn newspapers of
the pericd. Much of the information concerning Perron's movements
recorded in the life of that adventurer has been gleaned from the
published reports which Drugeon made to the Emperor. In August,
1808, when Bourgunien revolted against Perron, and eiirred up o
mutiny in the Second and Third Brigades, Drugeon resisted him, and
after refusing to surrender the treasure he had charge of, twrned him
out of the fort, which he prepared to defend with the §,000 men form- .
ing its regular_garrigon. After the eapture of Delli by the Britich,
Drugecn, who ssems to have stuck to the treasure, attempted to
* deposit it ¥ with the Emperor, but the transaction was regarded by
Genoral Lake as a “fraudulent transfer,” and it was distributed
pg prize money to the troops. Drogeon was deported to Caleutta,
and eventnally found his way to Europe, and died at Nice in 1824,

Dubkexze, THE CExvALIER [written also Du Drenes, Du Dernaig,
Duderneg, Du Dernee, Dodernaigne, Dudernsigue, and Dadernsk.
Known to the natives as Haeur Beg].—Had the history of the Chevalier
Dudrenes been properly recorded, it wonld without doubt have afforded
a8 interesting a careor of romance and adventure as any in these pages.
The following fragmentary particulars have been pieced together from
8 great variety of sources, and even in their skeleton form suggest a
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remarkably eventful life. Dudrenec was a native of Brest, in France,
and a gentleman of refinement, educntion, and agreeable manners.
He came of a good family, his father being & eommodors in the
French navy., The Chevalier arrived in India about the yesr 1773,
a8 & midshipioan on board a French man-of-war, Leaving his ship,
he made his way to Delhi, where he obtained employment in Madoc's
oorps in 1780, two of his fellow officers being the Count do Moidavre
and the Chevalier Cressy. With Madoc's party he served in turns
the Rijahs of Bhartpur and Gobad, and Najaf Kuli Khén, the Wazir
of the Emperor Shah ’Alam, About the year 1782 Madoe retired, snd
Drudenec entered the pervice of the Begum Somrn, whose force was
at this time eommanded by Pauly. With this Iady he remained till
1791, a litile previous to which he obtained the ecmmand of her
troops. But he resigned the appointment to enter the service of
Tukaji Holkar, who offered him Re. 8,000 s month to mise and
discipline s brigade of fonr battalions of regular infantry. In the
Tollowing year this force snffered an annibilating defent from De Boigne,
at the baitle of Lakhairi, when all its guns were captured, and its ranke
broken and dispersed. Dudrenee only saved his life by throwing him-
sell down amongst the dead, and simulating death. But his battalions
had shown such stabborn fighting powers before they were destroyed,
.that Tukaji Holkar listened {0 their eommander’s represeniations and
consented o raise ancther brigade, advancing Dudrenee s large rum
for this purpose. The new foree was enlisted in 1793, and two years
later look part in the battle of Eardla, being associsted with Perron’s
batlalions and sharing with them the honour of a somewhat easy and
bloodless victory. From the seat of war they returned to Indore,
‘where they reposed in peace for three or four years, and by 1797 their
strength had increased to six battalions. On the death of Tukaji
Holkar, Dudrenee was much puzzled whether fo cast in bis lot with
the imbeeile but righiful heir, Kasi Rio, or with the dashing but ille-
gitimate Jaswant Rio. He deelared for the former, and for a time
carried on s eampaign against Jaswant Bio, whom he st frst
defeated, but at whose hands he sustained s sericus reverse in 1798,
After this Amir Kh&n, Holkar's brilliant ally and fidus achates, found
mezns to tamper with Dudrenee’s troops, and by offering them in-
creased pay gained over s greal number, and crested & muliny amongst
the reet, when they were encamped st Mahéshwar, The Pathin chief,
galled at a defeat received st the hands of the Chevalier, had vowed
Dot 10 wear s torban till he had rednced Dudrense, This came to the
knowledge of the latier when he was at Mahishwar, in great strxits
for want of provisions, and he sent s vakil to Amir Ehin offering to
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comse to ferma with Jaswant Réo. The Amir reported tha overture to
Holkar, who, with characteristic perfidy, proposed to allure the French~
man to an interview snd then sssassinate him, But the Pathén, .
thongh not a man of many seruples, could not bring himeelf {0
consent to this, and, after some persuasion, extracted s promise of
honourable terms for the Frenchman. Armed with this authority, he
proceeded to Jimghat, near Mahéshwar, to receive the Chevalier's
surrender. Dudrenec met him some distance ont from his esmp, gave
him & salate with all honours, and invited him to his tent, where
he first desired him to be seated, and then pointing to the silk hand-
kerchief Amir Khédn wore in lieu of a turban, took off his own head
covering, and, with joined bands, said: * As your vow prevents you
from wearing a turban till you have conquered mes, see, the object is
sccomplished! PBareheaded I lay my head's covering before you, and
acknowledge my defeat. Nay, if you wish to make me your prisoner,
here is my sword., I suwrrender it, and you may take me to your
camp” This, being conformable with the Eurcpean eustom, pleased
Amir Ehin very much, and he expressed himeelf fully satisfied with .
the epeech. 'The Chevalier then gave the Amir his own turban, and
put on the silk bandRerchief the Pathan was wearing, after which he
escorted him to Mahéshwar., Having transferred to him all his jewels,
stores, and treasures, he accompanied him to the Marithé oamp, to be
presented to Jaswant Rio. Inconsequence of the protection extended
by Amir Khan, Holkar dared not harm Dudrenec, but he atill designed
avil against him in big heart, * Whereupon,” {0 take up the thread
of the narrative from the pages of a Native historian, “ it happened
that on that very night the Maharajah was sitting on the bank of the
Narbada river, amusing himself with firing at a mark, when the match-
lock burst and inflicted » severe wound in the eye, by which he entirely
lost the sight of it. Of u truth He that knows all things, secret and
divulged, is not to be deceived ! In the twinkling of an eye, npon the
eye of the Maharajah fell this just retribution for the treascherous
designs he meditated sgainst Hasur Beg.” .In the end Holkar
acospted Dudrenec's submission, and restoring him to the eommand
of his brigade, sent him, in 1798, to occnpy and admixister the distriots
of Tonk and Rampiira, where he remained two years,

In 1800, when Lakwa Dida was restored to favour by Sindhia, he
appears to have obtained Dudrenec’s assistance for the subjugation of
Jaipur, in which Holkar was probably interested. On the 12th of
March of that year the Chevalier effected & Junotmn with Perron's
sscond brigade, commanded by Pohlman, and shortly afterwards was
engaged with his corps at the battle of Malpura, . A gpirited scoount
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of the charge of the Rathor cavalry,"which destroyed 500 of his forcs,
exists in the pages of Bkinner's memoirs, and has been already quoted
in the sketoh of Perron's life,

In August of the following year Dudrenee, having made up his
mind to leave Holkar, showed an inclination to follow the fortunes
of Lackwa Dida, who bad boen again disgraced and deposed from
office by Sindhia, but he eventually decided on joining Perron’s service,
being invited to do s0 by the General himself, who offered him the
post of second in command, wice Butherland dismissed, and a brigade.
Dudreneo wae at this time at Rampdira, where he always kept his
family and property under the protection of Zalim Bingh. He had
the greatest difficulty in eacaping, for his troops, who refused to follow
his fortunes, pelted him out of eamp, and then, st the insiigation of
& Native named Shamrao Nadik, surrounded his house, with the
intenticn of putting bim to death. He was saved by the intervention
of Zalim Bingh, the regent of the ruler of the territory, Jaswaut Réo,
on hearing of this, demanded his sarrender from the old Rajput, but
the latier refused to perpetrate such an act of treachery, and in the
end a small sum of money was paid by Dudrense to Holkar, by way
of compensation, apd he waa permitted to depart to Hindastan with all
his money and belongings.

On arriving st Eoil Duidrenoce entered Perron’s army, and esrly in
1808 waa given the command of the Fourth Brigade. In February of
the eame yesr he marched to the Deccan to reinforee Sindkin, but
just before the breaking out of the war with the English he was sent
back to Hindustan, and left Daals¢ Rio’s eamp st Jalgion on the 16th
of July. About this time Ambaji Inglis was sppointed o supersede
Perron in the eommand of the Brigades, and Dudrenee exhibited more
sitachment fo the Native than to the Enropean Commander-in.ehief
—=# desertion which sttmg Perron acutely. On his way to Delhi
Dudrenee received information of Bourguien's defeat, and seeing littls
proepect of unltimaie suocess, sbandoned his command, and on the
80th of November surrendered o Colonel Vandalenr at Mattrs. Thus
ended a eareer full of adventure, incident, and peril. The Chevalier
seems to have been s singularly unfortunats eommander, for be
effoct on Jeswant Rio Holkar, that he withdrew all countenance from
any whose nationality was Freueh, and afier the Chevalier's defection
gave crdery that no adventarer of his nation should be allowed o
enter his service. As will be seen by this slight sketch (in which, it is
to be feared, there are many insecurscies due fo sn sitempt fo -
reconcile divergent statements and dates), Dudrense served no less -
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than seven different masters during the period of his Indian career.
It is difficult to see how he deserves the many encominma that have
been passed on him by various writers, for there is no record of
his having won any gubstantial victory. His surrender to Amir
Khin was singularly epiritless, and his notions of loyalty were
decidedly questionable.

Duronr, Joun Jawes, Masor, — Major Dupont was a native of
Holland, and an officer in Filoze's corps. After the suicide of Fidéle
Filoze he succeeded to the command of four of the battalions and was
with Bindhia when war with the English broke out. Hia foree fock -
part in the battle of Assaye, where they shared in the defeat and disper-
gion of Danlat Béo’s army, Aocording fo one account Dupont was
engaged in thp battle of Ujjain in 1801, where he was wounded and
made prisoner with Derridon and Humphertson.

Durrar, CoLoweL,—Colonel Duprat was a Frenchmar and an
officor in Perron's army. He succeeded Drngeon in the command of
the Firet Brigade at Poonah in 1798, but only held the post for a year,
being relieved by Colonel SButherland. He was in eommand of five
battalions of infantry which attempted to sarprise the camp of Amrat
Rio, the Peshwa's brother, after the Bhais had fled to him for protec-
tion. 'This coonrred on the pight of the 7th of June, 1708, He failed
in the atterpt, and being briskly attacked in return, was compelled to
draw off, and it was not without considerable loss that he made good
hig retrest. In the negotiations whish followed the affair Amrat Rbo
was prevailed on to come fo Poonah, when Drugeon treacherously
attacked and defeated him. Duprai’s name does not appear in any
subsequent records. ’ :

Evang, Carraix [also rpelt Evens]—Very little information is avail-
able concerming thia officer. He appears to have commanded the
Beognm Somra's party after Baours left it in 1789. He then entered
De Boigne’s service and rose fo the rank of eaptain on a pay of
Ba. 400 per mensem. Bkinner mentions an officer of this name as
having been taken prisoner with Colonel: W. H. Tone at the storm of
Sounda, and from another passage it is made apparent that he passed
into Holkar's service. 'When war broke out with the English in 1803
8 Oaptain Evens availed himself of Lord Wellesley's proclamation and
“oame in,” receiving & pension equal to the pay he drew in the service
of the state he was serving. But it is difficult o believe that an
officer who commmanded Bomru's party so far back as 1760 was only
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& captain in 1808, and there may have been two adventurers of the
aame, or gimilar, names.

Fooze, Foix, Corosew [also spelt Filose, Felose, and Feloze).
—Fidéle Filoze waa the son of Michael Filoze by a Native woman.
‘When hise father found it prudent to hastily resign Bindhia's service
and leave Poonah, the eommand of his eloven batialions was divided
between his two sons Fidéle and Jean Baptiste Filoze. Fidale, how-
ever, retained eight of these with him in the Deccan and sent three
only to hie brother who was at Delhi, The firet mention of Fidile is
in 1798, when he and George Hessing were directed by Hindhis to
arrest Ghatksy Réo, whose gross misconduet and contempt for the
prinee’s aunthority had become intolerable, and this taek they effected
with great dexterity. Soon afler this Fidédle succqeded to the
command of his fatber's battalions. In 1801 he secompanied Daulat
Réo to Malwa,and on reaching the Narbada one of his battalions was
detached under Colonel George Hessing to protect Ujjain, and &
second shortly followed under Captain MacIntyre. Both were
defeated and dispersed, the former at Ujjain, the latter st Nirl. The
remaining six batialions tock part in the battle of Indore in October of
the same year, and directly afiorwards Fidile was secused of a foul
" set of treachery, in having fired into Sutherland's troops as they
advanced. It was asserted he had entered into s secret understanding
with Holkar, and on these grounds he was seized and eonfined.
Aeccording to ong aceount he cut his throst in prison, in order to svoid
the disgrace of eondign punishinent, but another states thai the act was
done in a fit of delirium following fever. Smith, thongh sdmitting his
tresnson, somewhat unaccountably describes him as “ on the whols a
good, ignorant man,” but he has been depicted in s much less favonr-
able light by others, and Drugeon eondemns him as & tmaitor who
worked fo ruin s master who had loaded him with favours. This is
probably the more correet estimate of his charaeter.

Fnon,lmannumeComn[kmbthj
Natives as Jin Batteejis]—Bapiiste Filoze, as this individual is .
always eallad, was the younger son of Michael Filoze. When his ;
fstherﬂe&ﬂwmnh-qumsumdDeﬂn.vhmhnbrathaFﬂb
sent him three of the eleven batialions they bad inberited, and fo -
these Baptiste added three more which be raised in Hindustan, This
foree aseisted in the war sgainst George Thomas in 1601, bul was in
A sorry state of diseipling, and extremely insubordinate, the three -
original battalions beirg on ane oceasion expelled from Delld by the
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Emperor Bhah *Alam’s orders on account of their atrocions condact.
This appears to be the single recorded instanes of that king of
kings having voluntarily promaigated s deores which was caxried
inio effeci, and both the order and its prompt execntion sesm fo
indicate that Baptiste's batialions were a publio nuisance. After the
fall of Georgegarh Baptiste—who, aceording to Thomas's memoirs,
aasried on & fraitorous correspondence with him-—retorned to Delhi,
and Bmith eays that Perron procured the transfer of these six
batialions to his eommpand by intrigne, and that they formed the
foundation of the Fourth Brigade. This was probably the cass, for in
1802 Baptiste proceeded to Ujjuin to take over the command of the
Decean battalions left vacant by the suicide of his brother Fidéle,
‘When war broke ont with the English his force consisted of eight
battalions of infantry, 800 cavalry, and 45 guns. Four of these were
beaten and dispersed at Assaye under Dapont, snd Baptiste, with the
remaining four, ceeaped a similar faie by the cirowmstende of his
baving been loft to guard Ujjain, When he hesrd of Sindhis's
erushing defoat, he saved himeelf by hurrying off to BRajputans, but
rejoined the prince on the conclusion-of the war, and remained in his
service for meny yenrs afterwards, being the single military adventurex
of Hindustan who survived the disasters of 1803, Feople of his name,
and probably his descendants, are to thie day employed in the eourt
of Bindhis, and 8ir Michael Filoge is a highly respectable architect at
Gwalior, In Broughton's * Mahratis Camp” there are several
references to Baptiste Filore, whore cireumpiznces in 1809 wers far
from happy, for serions disturbances were sonstantly ocourring in his
oorps, which was seldom ot of a state of reguler mutiny, owing to the
men being in ayrears of pay, snd the tyrannieal treatment they
oxperienced frora Baptiste. On one occasion he was removed from
the eommand, after he and his Europsan officers had been meized and
oonfined, some being flogged, while others, with a refinement of
oruelty, had their ears nipped in gunlocks, after which they were all
expelled from the linee. They numbered forty, chiefly half-onstes, but
two or three were Englishmen, A little later on Baptiste was rein-
stated, throngh the interest of friends at court, who deseribed him as
“one of the greatest generals of the day " ; which eliciied the shrewd
somment from Sindhis * that ho had generally found these very great
gencrsls were also very great rogues.” However, Baptiste obtained
uig reappoiniment, and evidently prospered, as the following extract .
Yom Colonel Sleeman’s “ Ramblea of an Indian Officinl * testifies :—
* After the Dusera festival in November every year, the Pindaris go
Kingdom taking * a8 regulsrly as Fpglish gentlemen go partridge
28
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shooting on the Ist of September. I may give as a specimen the
excursion of Jean Baptiste Filoze, who sallied forth on such an sxpedi.
tion at the head of  division of Bcindia's ariny just before the Pindsri
War., From Gwalior he proceeded to Kerowles, and took from the
chief of that territory the distriet of Babughur, yislding four lakhs
anuually, He then took the territory of the Rijah of Chundeylee, one
of the oldest of the Bundlecund chiefa, which yielded about seven
lakhs of rupees. The Ré4jah got an allowance of Rs, 40,000 a year, He
then took the terxitories of ihe Réjahs of Regooghur and Bakadhur-
ghur, yielding three lakhs a year, and the three princes got Ea. 50,000
a year for subsisience amongst them. He then tock Lopar, yielding
two lakhs and a half, and assigned the Rejah Eas.25000, He then
took Gurha Kotlah whose ohief gets subsistcnce from the British
Government. Baptiste had just completed his Kingdom taking when
our armies took the field against the Pindaris, and on the termination
of the war in 1817 all these acquisitions were confirmed and guaranteed
to Beindia.” Writing in 1888 Colonel Bleeman adds: “ The present
Gwaliar force eonsista of $hree regiments of infantry under Colonal
Alexander, six under Apajee, eleven undsr Colonel Jacob (Broughton
mentions them as excellently disciplined in 1807, their commander
enjoying a Jaidad and paying them regularly), and five under Colone
Jean Baptiste Filoze.”

Baptiste remained st Gwalior $ill the breaking out of hostilitier
beiween the ruling Sindhis and the English in 1843. He was ther
eommander-in-ehief of the Siate srmy, which eonsisted of 50,000
regular troops and the famons park of artillery which had remained
with it since the days of Do Boigne. Just befors the baitles of Maba-
rejapir and Pannidr, Baptiste arranged that be should be locked up ¢
by his own men so as to avoid fighting the Eoglish, The reason of ;.
this weg thai he had £40,000 invested in Company’s paper. Withg
the exeeplion of two, all the other officers of his ssmy withdrew from :
the eonteet, knowing the hopelessncss of suceess. The war was begun:
mdmhdadwlﬂ:thmtwobdﬂu,bothﬁnghtmihcmdqj
mdlﬂannaphmmdhuommmmdﬁmthmmd
mands snd employment of every kind. ’

Thus Baptiste’s eareer is traced for forty-seven years in the ;
of Bindhia—n reeord no other military adveninrer can boast of. !f
Frozm, Micmaxr, Corowsr.— Michse! Filoze was » low-bred
Neapolitan of worthless eharacter, yet not without s certain addres
and cunning that ensbled him fo advanee his inferests. In bis
naiive couniry be had followed the ealling of » mmleteer, befome
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he enlisted in the French army and came out to Madras, from
whenoe, after several vicissitudes, he made his way to Delhi, and
enlisted in the Rana of Gohad'’s service, in the corps commanded by
Madoo, Ds la Fontaine, & Frenchman, was a fellow officer, and it
was evidently after him that Michael named his son Baptiste, wha
was born at Gohad in 1778. In 1762, when the Rana was defeated
by Bindhis end his battalion broken up, Michael Filoze losf his
employment, and it has been stated that during the next eight
years bo psrved one of the Native states of Bouthern India. Buf
if 80, he evidently returned to Hindustan, for about the year. 1700
he found means fo recommend himself to De Boigne, who ap-
pointed him to the sommard of a baftalion in his Firet Brigade, -
It was some time before he rose fo any substantial rank, for in
May, 1794, he was only rated at a pay of Re.B00 per month. In
the previous year he had been seleoted to mocompany Madhoji
Bindhis to the Deccan, and later on he successfully intrigned fo
get his battalion mede into a separate oommand, independent of
De Boigne's. It formed the nuclens of the sorps he raised, which
eventually numbered eleven battaliona, In 1797 Michael Filoze
found it prudent to fly from Poonsh, under the following circum-
stances. Nana Farnavis, the Peshwa's prime minister, and the most
able statesman in Marith4 history, was induced to relwrn a formal
visit of ceremony paid him a foew days previously by Danlat Réo
Bindhina, of whom he was suspicious and distrustful, But Miochael
Filoze pledged his word of honour for the eafety of the cld minister,
and so overcame hies scrupled ; notwithstanding which the Neapolitan
seired Nana end made him over a prisoner to Sindhis. This per-
fidious mot excited the jusé indignation of all the European officers
in the service of the Native states, whose generel character was
impugned by it, and who, in Grant Duff’s words, * though mere
soldiers of fortune, were as distinguished for geod faith ms daring
enterprise,” The MarAthés themselves exonsed Michael's treachery,
saying that he was ignorant of what was intended, and ascribing
it to sudden coercion by Ghatkay Réo. I should further be
mentioned that in a letter to a ourreni newspaper Michasl Filoge
strenucnsly denied his guilt. The Nans was too powerful a person-
age to be kept a prisoner long; for a time he was confined in the fort
of Ahmednagar, but in the following year he obtained hie Liberty by
o payment of ten lakhs of rupees. Direcily Filoge heard he was
trenting for hin liberty, and likely to obiain it, he decamped to
Bombay, leaving the command of his eleven batialions to his sons,
Drogeon, who brands Michael Filoze as a traitor, mentions that he
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set out for Earope, % but died"—whether on the voyage or after his

‘arrival there is not specified. Grant Duff confirms Drugeson’s estimate
of this adventurer’s character, as does Smith, who describes Filoze's
party as one that * never performed any action of military or pelitieal
consequence.”

FinoLiss, Oapramn.—This officer was an Englishman, and formerly
a gaarter-master in the 19th Dragoons, whers be bore a good cha-
racter. He and Colonel Boyd, at the head of two independent parties,
were iniroduced into the service of the Nizam of Haidarabad as &
eounterpoise 40 Baymond's overgrown power., In the yesar 1705
Finglass's corps numbered sbout 600 men, and took part in the
battle of Kardla, where it shared in the defeat the Nizam brought
upon himself by his pusillanimity. After this it was inereased, and
in 1798 puinbered 6,000 men. Early in this year Eaymond died, and
was succeeded by Piron in the command of the * French army”
of 14,000, which was disbanded in the following October by
Lisutenant-Colonel EBoberts, under orders from the Governor-
General. With the dispersion of these troops, sud the cessation of
the danger they threatened, it became a question whether or not
Finglass should be allowed to reiain his corps. In the end Lord
Wellesloy sanctioned its eontinuance, and, furthermore, penmitted
Finglasa from time to time to purchase ordnanee, ordnance siores,
and muskeis at Fort 8. George. It is possible that the Haidarsbad
reformed troops, now in the service of the Nizam, can esmsry their
traditions back to the days of Capiain Finglase.

Frzusea, Caprarw [also writlem Fleury|.~—Captain Fleurea was
a Frenchman and a eavalry officer in Perron’s army. Afier the
battle of Koil in 1803, when Perron precipiiately fled to Agrs, be
detached Flourea, with 5,000 Hindustani horse, to esrry fire and
sword into the Company’s distriet of Cawnpora. Fleures came scross
s small British outpost st Bhikéabad, eommanded by Colonel Con-
ingham, and afler foar days’ fighting foreed it fo surrender. It was
not a very brilliant performance, but still the single advantage gained
by auy of Perron’s troops during the war. On hearing of the fall of
Aligarh, Fleurea’s troopers earried him back to Agra, from whenee he
made his escape with great difficulty afiexr Perron’s flight, joining the
- General st Lucknow, and secompanying him to Calenita.

Frixoxr, Corowxr [spelt also Frimont and Fremond]—Colonel
Frimont was & Boyalist and commander of the Freuch forces st
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Chandernagore. But he guitted the service, ns did most of the other
officers in 1790, on the breaking ount of the French Revolution. Pro-
ceeding up country, he applied to De Boigne for employment, and
was appointed fo the commeand of one of the two original battalions,
. and, when the Second Brigade was formed, prorhoted to the head of
the Firet with a salary of Re. 1,400 a month. In 1792 he distinguished
himself at the storm of Balahiri, 8 hill fort forty-five miles east of
Jaipur, on which occasion Captain Bulkeley was Lkilled. An interest-
ing ncoount of this campaign appears in The World (a newspaper
printed at Calontta), in the following letter, dated from 8 place ealled
* Ringhgaas,” on Angnst 6 and 10, 1792 :—

“We arrived at this place on the 5th, our foroe conaisting of the
Becond Brigede and 15,000 regular Mahratta horse, buf excluding
irregulars. This is a stone fort, upon & scientific plan of construction,
smrrounded by s ditch thirty feet deep, twenty-four fest wide, and
capable of defence with such men and discipline as ours. If belonged
to the Rijeh Deby Bing, a tributary to the Jeypore Réjah, to whom
he has refused the established tribute, amounting to two lakhs and &
half, offering only a emall portion. We mrrived early, and after
summoning the place to that effeot, st nine o’clock we opened our
trenches, and kept up a severe fire on the place till ten o'elock, by
which time we had effected a capital breach between ome of the
bastions and a head of the eurtain, The garrison had but few guns,
with which, and musketry, they contrived {o annoy us heartily. We
opened two morters after dark, which created, as was intended,
dreadful confusion among them,

# Captain Chambaud’s battalion and a select body of Bo}nllaa were
ordered for the atorm in two divisions, with orders not o apare the
sword. The time, three in the morning. However, the order had
reached the garrison, and by a capitulation at half-past two they
saved the lives of the remaining people. Deby Bing had quitted the
fort previonaly, leaving injunctions to his officers not to surrender on
any terms. The garrison are all prisoners now with us, sand the atook
of provisions and stores is valuable {0 us. ‘The valuable property was
carried off to the Rijah ; however, what was lef more than pays the
amount offered.

s Deby Bing has another strong fort, called Bikker, about seight .
coe distant, where he has resolved to hold out, and we ere dstermined
to bring him to implicit obedienes or bondage. He hss a chosen
force, a strong fort, good guns, md three monthg’ provisions, and the
country around is without wa

Frémont brought this expedmon to o sgocesefu) vonclusion. The
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pext mention of him is two years Iater, at Datia, whither he wali
sent to punish the Béjah. The following scconnt of this eampaign is
extracted from the * Asiatic Researches,” *Gopal Rio Bhow marched
against Dutieya (in 1794) to compel payment of tribute and exact &
fine. He was opposed. An engsgement ensued, in which the
Dutfeya troops charged, sword in hand, the veteran battalions of
De Boigne, which were commanded by Major Froment, an officer of
ability and experience. The Bundélhas showed no fear of the musket
and bayonet, and there were several instances of grenadiers ent down,
while their bayonets were buried in the bresst of their sssailants’
horse. The Brigade lost 800 men in the aitack, and Major Frimont
himeelf assured me that nothing bot & eontinaal discharge of grape
from the guns prevenied it from utter destrustion.” In another
scoount the vietory is atiributed to the judicious disposition of Fra-
mont’s artillery, and the gallaniry of his men in scme severe close
fighting, in which they ronted the enemy with considerable slanghter.

In 1795 or 1796 Frémont died, snd this left Perron the senior
officer in the force, and paved the way for his promotion to the
chief sommand. i

Garpxze, Worisax Liwaxvs, CoLowzr, — In its social sspect |
Colonel Gardner's life is the most romantic of sny recorded in these !
pages. Born ‘in 1770, he was a great grandson of William Gardner, -
of Collersine, and & mephew of Alan, first Baron Gardner, s disiin- |
guished sdmiral in the British navy, who received the thanks of |
Parliament for his services. Colonel Gardner was educaied In |
France, and came out to India in the King's servies, and after rising
to the mank of eapiain quitted it to enlist under the banners of the
Native princes, There was a Seotch officer of the ssme name who
entered Bindhis's service in 1792, was Brigade-Major of the Firsi
Brigade in 1798, eormmanded the SBecond Brigade in 1794, and was st
the storm and eapture of Sohawalgarh in 1795, where ho was aesisiod
by George Thomas. But as his Christian name is given as James in
one place it is doubiful wheiher he was the same individusl se the
officer under notice, Colonel Willism Gariner entered Jaswant Bio
Holkar’s service in 1798, and mised 8 brigade of reguiar infantry for
that chief. Buf a disagreement srose beiween them, snd Gardner
left him. The siory of his eseape is thus told by himself :—

“One evening, when in Holkar's service, I was employed as sn
envoy to the Company’s forees, with instructions to return within & |
cartain time, My family remained in eamp. Buspicion of treachery
was caused by my lengthened absence, and sccusstions were brought
forth againsé me a4 the darbar held by Holkar on the third dsy follow-
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ing that on which my presence was expected. I rejoined the camp
while the durbar was in progress, On my entrance the Maharajah,
in an angry tone, demanded the reason of my delay, which I gave,
pointing onf the imposeibility of a speedier retnrn. Whereupon
Holkar exclaimed, in great anger, * Had you not retnrued this day I
would have levelled the khandts of your tent’? I drew my sword
instantly and endeavoured to ont His Highness down, but was pre-
vented by those aronnd\him; and before they had recovered from the
amazement and,confusion caused by the sttempt, I rushed from the
¢amp, sprang upon my horse, and was soon beyond the reach of-
reeall.”

To account for Colonel Gardner’s indignation it must be explained
that he was married to a Native lady, and that the khanmdis, or can-
vas walls of his tent, represented the privacy of the sendna, and to
have cut them down implied the exposure of the inmates, an insult
for which there eould be no atonement. Through the inflasnce of
friends Colonel Gardner's wife and family were allowed to join him
shortly efterwarde—a pisce of generosity hardly to be expected from
such & character as Jaswant Réo Holkar,”

The story of Colonel Gardner’s marriage, as related by himself to
Lady Fanny Parkes, is one of romantie interest. He was married by
‘Muhammadan rites to & princess of the houss of Cambay, a state on
the western seaboard of Indis, and probably when he was an officer
in the British service, This is his desoriptian of the incidents lesding
to the anion i— .

“ When o young men I waa entrusted to negotiate & treaty with one
of the Native princes of Cambay, Durbars and consuitations were
continually held. During one of the former, at whioh I was present,
a curtain near me was gently pulled aside, and I saw, as I thought,
the most beautiful black eyes in the world. It was impossible to think
of the treaty: those bright and piercing glances, those beautifnl dark
eyes completely bewildered me,

«7 folt flattered that a creature so Iovely as she of those deep black,
loving eyes should ventare to gaze npor me, To what danger might
not the veiled beauty bs exposed should the movement of the purdah
be seen by any of those present at the durbar? On quitting the
assombly I discovered that the bright-eyed beauty was the daughter
of the prinse, At the next durbar my agitation and enxiety were
extreme to again behold the bright eyes that baunted my dreams and
my thoughts by day. The ourtzin wos again gently waved, and my
fate was dascided. '

# [ demsended the princess.in marriage, Her relations were at firat
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indignant, and positively refused my proposal. However, on mature
deliberstion, the ambassador waa considered too influential & person
fo have a request denied, and the hand of the young princess was
promised. The preparations for the marriage were earried forward,
¢ Remember,” said I, ‘it will be nseless to attempt to deceive me.
I shall mow those eyes again, nor will I marry any other!’

¥ On the day of the marriage I raised the veil from the eountenance
of the bride, and in the mirror that was placed between us, in accor-
dance with the Mahomedan wedding ceremony, I beheld the bright
eyes that had bewildered me. I smiled. The young Begum smilsd
m-ll

This young princess was only fhirteen years old when she was
married : * An event,” says Colonel Gardner, * which probably saved
both our lives.” Bhe was eventually adopied as s daughter by Akbar
Shah, who succeeded Shah 'Alam as Emperor of Delhi. For over
forty years husband and wife lived & life of perfect happiness, and
she died of & broken heari in August, 1835, six months after Colonel
Gardner.

Sobsequently to his departure from Holkar's service Colonel
Gardner had another very narrow esespe for his life. In 1808 he
waa econfined a prisoner by Amrit Rio, who, when war broke out with
the English, cansed Gardner to be fastened to s gun, snd threatenad
with immediste execution if he refused fo take the field agsinst his
fellow countrymen. The Colonel remained sisunch, and in the hope
of wearying him out, his exeeution was suspended, and he was placed
in eharge of & guard, who had orders never to quit sight of him for
a single instant. Walking one day along the edge of a steep cliff,
which led by s precipitons descent to the river Tapti, Gardoer was
snddenly inspired to make s daring dash for liberty, snd perceiving
a place fitted for his purpose, he called out * Bismillah | (* In the
name of God ™), and flung bimself down s declivity some forty or ity
feet deep. None were inclined to follow him, but an alarm was
sounded. Becovering his feet, he made for the river, sud plunged into
it; but after swimming for some distanee he found pursuers were gaining
on him, and sought shelier in a friendly ecvert, where, with merely his
mouth above water, he waited until they bad passed. He then landed
on the opposite side, snd proeseded by unfrequented paths fo s town in
the neighbourhood, which was under the seommand of s Native whom
he knew, and who afforded him proleetion. Afier temaining in
hiding for some time, he ventured ous in the disguise of & grass euiter,
sand reached the British ouiposts in safety.

At one time it would sppear, from s paseage in Major Tharn's ** War
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.in India,” that Colonel Gardner was in the sorvice of the Rijah of
Jaipur ; but in 1804 he retnrned to his allegiance to the British Govern-
ment and raised a famous eavalry corps known as  Gardner’s Horse,”
which achieved s great reputation. His best servioes, both in the fisld
and in diplomacy, were performed under the King’s flag. He had a
profound knowledge of the mative character, and had adopted many
of the ideas and opinions of the pecple with whom he passed & great
portion of his lifs, But this did not prevent him from being an
acoeptable companion to his own countrymen, with whom he was
always a great favourite. Lewis Ferdinand Bmith describes him ag
5 gentleman and a soldier of pleasing address and nncommon
abilities,” His figure was tall and commanding, and his handsome
countenance and military air rendered his appearance very striking,
Lady Fanny Parkes, from whose interceting ** Wanderings of a
Pilgrim * many of the foregoing facts have been glesned, formed an
intimate friendship with Colonel Gardner, and speaks of him, in his
0ld age, in terms of the warmest admiration and regard. For many
years prior io his death he resided on his jaghir, or estate, at Khasganj,
pixty miles from Agra. Hin Begum bore him two sons and a dsughter,
His oldest son James married a niece of the Emperor Akbar Shah,
The younger, Alan, was anited to Bibi Bahiba Hinga, and left two
daughters, Suzan and Hirmuei. The latter was married in 1888 to
her relative, William Gardner, a nephew of the sacond Baron Gardner.
Their son, Alan Hyde Gardner, succeeded to the title, and is the
present holder of it. He married in 1879 Jane, & converted princess
of the House of Delhi, and has an heir, born in 1881, Thereis a most
interesting pedigres of this family on p, 420 (vol. i) of the ¥ Wander-
inge of a Pilgrim,” which illnstrates in a very curious way the thread of
connection by intermerriage between the heirs and descandants of an
English Barony, the Imperial Houss of Taimr, the Kings of Oudh
and the Princes of Cambay. The degree of relationship is too intricate
to be explained in detail, but the present Lord Gardner is grandson of
& Prince of Cambay, and nephew to a late Emperor of Delhi, and
a late King of Oudh. This sketch cannot be more suitably soncluded
than by an extract from Dod’s Peerage.

“ GarpNER (Ireland) created 1800. PBaron Gardner, 1806 (United
Kingdom), by which title be holds his seat in the House of Lords,
Baronet, 1794 (Great Britain). Alan Hyde Gardner, son of the late
Btewart William Gardner, grandson of the first baron. B. 1886: M.
16879, Jane, daughter of Angam Bhekoe. Bucoeeded his kinaman in
1888. Residence, Village Munowta, near Nadri, Etah district, Heir,
Bon Alan Legge, born October 25, 1881
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GesLov, Masor—Major Geslin was s Frenchman, snd sommanded
# battalion in Perron’s Second Brigade. When the war of 1508 broke
out he wes appointed to succeed George Heasing in command of the
brigade, the Isiter being sent to take np the commandantship of the
fort of Agra, rendered vacant by the death of his father, Colonel John
Heesing. Geslin, meanwhile, joined Bourguisn st Delhi, and opposed
bim when he revolted against Porron’s authority, and usurped his
commmand. Bourguien, having failed in every stlempt o sedoce
Geslin from his allegiance, incited the brigade to mutiny snd place
the Major under arreet, which they did. After the battle of Deihi,
‘Geslin was one of the officors who surrendered to Lord Lake, snd
were deported to Calcuita.

Haevnrse, Masor— Major Harding was s very gallsat young
English adventurer, whose earcer though short was brilliant. He
raised a brigade of four battalions for Jaswant Bio Holkar, which he
brought to a high state of efficiency and discipline. He met his desth
at the baitie of Poonah, whilst eharging Dawew's guna side by side
with Holkar. In the very moment of victory he reseired a eannon
shot in the shoulder, almoet the last ons fired in the aetion. Joawsnt
Bio, although wounded in thres places, immedistely huwrried to the
spot where Harding was lying, to afford bim assistance and ecnsols-
tion. But the wounded officer was sinking fast, and he only had time
to expross a wish to be laid %o rest by the side of his fellow ecuntry-
men in the burial place of ths British Residency at Poonah—a dying
request that was scropalonsly fulfilled.

Haigriore, Carrars.—Captain Harriott was an Englishman, and an
officer in Perror’s Fifth Brigade. Ho was one of the Earopeans eon-
fined by the mutinous troops aé Agrs, previous to the captare of that
fortrees by General Laka, Tiking sdvantage of the terms of Lord
‘Wellealey's proeiamuation, he passed over to the British Government,
and obtained the command of one of Sindhia’s batialions which were
taken into the Company’s serviee afier the war, and saw some fighting
with i in the Harikna distriet in 1804,

Hxzagaxy, Carrarn.—Captain Hearsey was one of Thomsa's officers,
and sssamed temporary charge of the eamp st Georgegarh after the
memorsble battle of the 4th of Beptember, 1801. It was owing to his
error of jndgment in not retiring to Hinsi, that Thomas's [all was in-
direetly due. Heo appears to have possessed very little military sbility,
but wae faithful to his chief, and not only sceompanied kim in his Sighs
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o Hinsi, but fought bravely to the end. Afier Thomas's fall Hearsey
entered the service of some Native state, whether Sindhia’s or
Holkar’s it is impossible fo say; but he was one of the officers who
availed themeselves of Lord Wellesley's proclamation in 1808, and
reoeived n pension of Ba. 800 s month from the British Government,

Hesamwa, Gzoraz, OoroxErL.—George Hessing was a half-caste
Dutchman, being & son of Colonel John Hessing by a “ Native
womsan.”  But though Grant Duff deseribes the mother in these
terms, there is little doubt bui that ehe was m sister of Major
Darridon and Madame Perron, for Skinner mentions that George
Hessing was the Genersl's nephew. Hessing was known amongst
the Nafives ag Jorue Sahib, a corrnption of his Christian name, which
eannot bear comparison with the scnorons Joterwy applied to Thomas,
The first mention of George Hessing is in 1798, when, in conjunction
with Fidéle Filose, he expertly effected the eapiure of Ghatkay Réo,
In 1800, on the retirement of hig father, he succeeded to the command
of a brigade of four battalions, which he quickly increased to eight.
The next year he acoompanied Bindhia to Malwa, and on reaching
the Narbada was sent forward to protect Ujjain against a threatened
attack by Holkar, Although it was in the rainy seamson, and the
ocountry flooded with water, Hessing made an astonishingly rapid
march, and arrived at the eapital in June. Amir Khén soon attacked
him, and kept him in play till Holkar defeated MacIntyre and
attempted to repeat the smcoess against Brownrigg: but being re-
pulsed by the latter officers, he joined Amir Ehén, and made & con-
certed assanli on Hessing's entrenchments outside the walls of Ujjain.
Hessing behaved in & most eowardly manner, flying at an early
period of the action, and leaving his troops to be annihilated, and his
elever European officors killed or wounded and taken prisoners.
Just previous to the battle of Ujjain be bad despatched four of hia
battalione to his father at Agra, whither he now made his way, He
was soon ocalled upon to march with these to aseist in the war against
George Thomas, and it was through his lines that Jowruj Jung cut
his way when he escaped to Hénsi, After this Hessing returmed to
Agra. Bmith states that his four battalions were taken over by Perron
in 1808, and made the foundation of the Fifth Brigade, Hessing being
promoted to the command of the Becond, in succession to Robert
Sutherland ; but he did not hold the appointment long, for his father
died iz July, and he was transferred to the commandantship of Agra.
He was here when (eneral Lake ocaptured the fort, but not in eom-
mand, for ko had been proviously deposed and oconfined by his
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mutinous troops. At the Iast moment he waa put forward to negotiate
terms for the garrison. Skinner seseris that he was ** t00 rich s man
to defend the fort well, and soon found means to dissatisfy the
garrison,” but this opinion seems ill fonnded. Hessing’s fortune was
estimaied at five lakha of rupees, besides money in the Company’s
funds. Afier his surrender he retired to Chinstira for soms time, and
eventually removed to Calentts, where he died on the 6th of
Javuary, 1826, aged foriy-four years,

Hessiva, Jorn, Corower.—Colonel Hessing was s native of Holland,
snd was born in 1740. He came to India in 1764, and entered the
service of the Native princes, Afier many adventnres, no records of
which appear to exist, he jeined De Boigne, and obtained the com-
mand of one of the first two batialions the General mised. He wos
present at the batiles of Lalsot, Chaksana, Agrs, and Phian. After
the latier he quarrelled with his commander and left him. Soon after
this he was specially employed by Madhoji Sindhia to reise a body-
guard for that chief, and sccompanied him to Poonsh in 1792 By
degrees Hessing increased his party to s email brigade of four batta-
licus. In 1800 ill-heaith obliged him to resign his command in favour
of his son George, and, ** eovered with wounds received in war,” the
fine old Dutchman reiired to fill the post of Commandant of the Fort
of Agra. Here “in his judicial eapacity he so tempered justice with
mercy, that he was upiversally loved and esteemed, and in this
hononrable retreat passed the remaining years of his lifs, spending
with liberality a well-earned fortune.® He had many opportunities
of extending hospitality to British officers, who visited Azra for amuse-
ment or curiosity. Lord Metealfa, then s young civilien and Assistant
Reaident at Danlat Rio Bindhia's ennp, met John Hessing at Agrs in
March, 1801, and thus describes the incident:—* 1 breakfasisd by
invitation with the Duteh Commnandant, Colonel J. Heasing. 1 found
bim with his son, who eommanded in the engagement at Ocjein,
where his batialions were defeated ; s Mr. Marshall, sn Englishman, |
and two others, whose names 1 have not learni. 'I'hebreaHllt‘
md%ﬁ(ﬁ»mﬂm),ﬂah,mmmvmdﬂm;
stews, oranges, pears, pomegranates, eges, bread-and-butler, eakes of |
all kinds, paneakes, and a namber of other dishes which have escaped :
my recollection—amongst others I have forgotien to enumerstes cheesa,
The Dutchman was as polite as 8 Dutchman eculd be, and very well :
meaning, I s eertain. Onthefoﬂomngdqlhakfndedlﬁﬂdmﬂd
with him again.”

Jobn Heming died on the 21st of July, 1808, ngedmty.ﬂneoyelﬂ.d
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which thirty-seven had been spent ag an adventurer in military service
in India. From some passages in Skinner's % Memoirs” it appears the
Colonel was father-in-law to Robert Butherland, and it seems certain
that his wife wae n eister of Madame Perron, Bmith describes John
Hesging as * & geod, benevolent man and a brave goldier.” A bean-
tifal maugoleum was erected to his memory in the Catholic burial

ground at Agra. If wase designed in imitation of the T4j, and cost o
lakh of rupees! .

Horxws, Capram,—Caoptain Hopking was the son of a field officer
in the Honourable Company's service, and one of George Thomas's
officers. He was an extremely gallant man, greatly beloved by his
chief, whom he sccompanied in the invasion of the Sutlej Biates,
where he was twice wounded whilst gallantly storming Native forts.
He met his death at the battle of Georgegarh. Thomae was deeply
affected by his loss, and thus refers to him in his memoirs :—* The
firmness of his behaviour during the whole period of his service, as
well as the manly resignation which he exhibited at the close of life,
stamps his character as that of an mmiable man and & brave and
gallant soldier.” And Bkinner gives it mns hia opinion that, * had
Thomas possessed another officer like Captain Hopkius, he would
have gained the day at Georgegarh.” Hopkins's batialion was the
only one that remained faithful to Thomas to the last. ‘'When Thomas
retired into British territory, after hia surrender at Hinei, he sent a
present of Rs. 2,000 to Hopking's sister, who had just been left an
orphan by the death of her father, with a promise that if this sum

was not thought enongh, he wonld extend further benevolenoce to her
out of his rined fortunea.

Leaan, Toomss.—The name of *Tom Legge ” has been rescued
from oblivion by the graphio pen of Coloned Tod, the author of *The
Arpals of Raj’asthan,” and from a contribution of his to the Astatio
Journal the following partionlars are excerpled :—Legge was a native -
of Danagades, in the north of Ireland, his father being a shipowner
ir a email way, and engaged in the emigrant-carrying trade to
America. Tom Legge was very wild in his youth, and, rejecting all
hig father's offers lo establish him in & respectable ealling, ran away
from home and shipped on board the Swaliow, aloop of war, bound
for Madras. Arrived in India, his vagrant principle asserted iteelf,
and, deserting his ship, he tramped his way to Haidarabad, in Sind,
supporting himeelf by begging. This must have beer sbout the year
1776, He stayed in the lower Indus distriota for five or pix years,
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and then proceeded to Multan, and from thenee through the dosert to
Jaipur, After a short regidence in Rajputana he entered the service
of the Jit Rana of Gohad, being sppointed to a post in Bangster's
corps. From this officer Legge lsarnt the urt of casting cannon and
whatever belonged to their management, and with the possession of
this knowledge, and the revival of the errant principle within him,
he resumed his travels. Bidding farewell to Sangster, he steered his
course $0 Kabul, where his talenta gnined him a situstion on & pay of
three rupees a day. Here he remained some years, receiving very
kingd treatrment, and rendering himself so useful that, when he desired to
leave, he waa obliged to escape by stealth. Journeying north, he crosssd
the Hindu Kish and entered Badakshan, and waa so well received
that he stayed there for a considerablo time and contracied s lefi-banded
marriage. On quitting this country he went to Bokhira, where he
exercised his art for some time, and there, as elsewhere, his only
difficalty waa to get away. He aflerwards visited Herdt snd Ean-
dahér, and in this mode of life spent twenty years, serving almost
every power between the Indus and the Caspian. At length, tired of
this nomad existence, he set out for Jaipur, where he determined to
seitle down for the rest of his days. Here he married a danghter of
Dr. de Bilva, a grandson of the ecelebrated Favier de Bilva, whom the
King of Portugal sent out $o ssaist the astronomical studies of Jai Singh,
the prinee who founded Jaipur. This allisnce ebtained for Legge
ﬂ:awmmndofsﬂsjibbuhﬁonhthehipmmy,huthinﬁm‘
service with it proved his last, for in storming the stronghold of & |
refractory chief he received two wounds, It was shortly after this
that he eame to Colonel Tod's camp fo oblain medical assistance.
“ I waa poked down with & pike, and shoi through my thigh, snd I've
eome o your honour’s eamp to get cured, for they ean make no hand
st it at Jaipur,” was his explanation of his sppearance, and the
speech was intermingled with forcible and patristie expressions of joy
ai seeing the British flag waviny in front of the Colonel's tent. Ilis
stay here extended for some montha, during which Colonel Tod beard
all the incidents of his sdventurons life, snd records the pleasure he
felt **in listening to the variegnted history of this singular being, who
had retained, amidst these strange vicissitudes, an articssoces of |
manner and goodness of heart which were displayed in many notable
instances during his abode of some months in cur eamp.” Legge was .
in many ways an eecentrie and cosmopolitan charncter. He practised |
the healing art, alchemy, and divination. He was very beuevolent,
and his aceurate memory had mastered and retained an extraordinary -
stock of wild Central Asian legends, which he used willingly o retail
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to any one who would listen fo him. He suffered from & delusion
that during his wanderings he had digecovered the Garden of Eden.
The road which led to it was throngh a spacious and dark cavern, and
an angel with flaming wings guarded its enirance. Deep down in
the heart of a monntain was gituated s beantiful gardem, filled
with delicious fruit, with piles of gold bricks at one end, and of silver
at the other, and various other marvels. The location of this imagi«
pary spot was iv the Hindn Kho, Anocther stxiking and praiseworthy
characteristio of Tom Legge’s was his reverence for the Bible, a copy
of which he carried about with him in all his travels and wanderings,
The dootor who attended Tom Legge was s Beotchman, and although
bis patient’s brogue eould not be mistaken, there waa blended with it
a sirong Beotch accent, and the doctor fancied he recognised a country-
man. ¢ At this Tom’s meek spirit took fire; the guaere involved a
double insult, fo his ecountry and to his veracity, and he exclaimed with
warmih, ‘ You may take me for a Spaniard or a Portugeae, or what
you plase, sir, but I tell you nothing but the truth, your honour, when
I say I'm an Irishman,' Colonel Tod instantly poured the oil of
gladness on his wounded spirit by aaying he did not doubt his word,
but that the dootor was a Beotohman, and wished to know whether,
from his sceent, he might not claim Tom sa a fellow-countryman,
Tom's eountenanes brighterned as he rejoined, with a tone and expres-
sion which could only eome from a genuine gon of Erin, *Bure, an’ was
net ms mother s Mackintosh ? ' ?

Tom’s wound did not, heal, and he felt himself slowly wasting away.
“I do not fear death, your honour,” he said to Colonel Tod, * and
could I get my life writien and my boy sent to Caloutta I should die
contented.” At length he expressed a desire to return to Jaipur, and
everything necessary was provided him ; but he had not long quitted
the camp before despair overtook him, and, throwing away his clothes,
he took np his post in » deserted tomb and proclaimed himself a
Fakir, In thig condilion he was discovered by the wife of Bindhis’s
General, Jean Baptisie Filoze, Bhe scted the good Samaritan towards
him, but it was too late, and poor Tom Legge died shorily afterwards
in the year 1808. Alssl the pity of it that his book was never written,
Literature might have been the richer by another work like * Tom
Coryat’s Crudities.”

Ls Mancmant, Capramy [also written Le Marchand].—Captain Le
Marchant was & Frenchman, and entered De Boigne’s service abouf
the year 1702, In 1794 he had risen to the rank of eaptain, and was
drawing Re.800 & month pay, Four years later Pexron appointed him
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‘“ Prefect ” of Delhi, and there, in command of two battalions, hd
faithfully disoharged the trust reposed in him, and proved himself anl
active and diligent officer. He died in November, 1799, and his w:dowi
sssumed the command of his battalions, and refused to mrrendsq
them o a successor. In March, 1800, s Native was appointed to the
post, but the spirited widow declined to recognise his suthority, and:
Perron was obliged to send Emilius Felix Smith to dislodge the defiant
lady. BShe bad taken nup a strong position, and foriified it with fam"
guns, but despite her gallant resistance she was eventually compellod
to surrender, after having held her late husband's appointment for four
months, The custom of a widow succeeding to the command snd
emoluments enjoyed by her husband was not an uncommeon one in
India. The example of the Begum Somru natorally suggests ilself,
but others can be addnced as illustrating this somewhat singalsr system
of sucoession. There was in 1790 in the Peshwa's service & eorps
commanded by a European named Yvon, on whose desth an English-
man named Rebinson was appointed to succeed him. Buf Mm. Yvon
immediately hurried t0 Dharwar, where the corps was stationed,
deposed Robinson, esused him to be imprisoned, and sssvmed the
command herself Another instance occurred in the service of Haidar
Ali of Mysore, A Poringese officer named Mequinez, who had on
one cceasion rendered signal service to the prince, was slain in s batile
with the Markthis. Haidar Ali immedistely eonferred the eommand
of *his battalion upon the widow, Madame Mequinez, and investod
her with the rank of eolonel, which she was to eujoy nntil her son
became old enough for the post. This Iady accompanied the regiment
everywhere ; its eolours were earried to her house, and she had &
private sentinel at her door. Sha received the pay of the force, and
eansed it to be distribnied, snd the deductions made from it, in her
own presence. When the regiment was drilled and paraded she
inspeeted it herself, but in time of war her second in eoramand led it
into setion, Her fale was rather s humiliating one. She married 8
“ mongrel Portugese sergeant ” ; whereupon Haidar Aii redueed ber
to & sorgeant’s rank and pay, because, by her own voluntary action,
she bad degraded herself!

LzsTiveav, Mowsrzoz {also writien Lestenewn}—Lestinesu was & -
Frenchman, and eommanded s regular eorps in the service of Raujid
Bingh, the Rijah of the Jits, about the year 1768, Afier the defest of -
Lalsét, Madhoji Sindhis entered into an allisnee with Banjit Bingh,
and thus it happened that Monsienr Lestinean's eorps scted with the
Marithis in the battles of Chaksins and Agrs. In the former Lis
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iroops were stationed on the right wing, and shaved with De Boigne'lg
two batfalions the barren honours of the day, and after making g
staunch and gallant resistance, were forced to retire owing to the.
desertion of the Marfithé cavalry, Lestineau and his corps sccom-"
paniad the Mardthis to Delhi after the victory of Agra, and he was
detached o asaist in the pursuit of Gholim Kadir, who had fled to
Meerut. When Ghuldm was captured, his saddle-bags, stuffed with
the jewels which the miscreant had looted from the Emperor's palace,
fell into Lestineau's hands, who with -thess, and the pay of hig
battalion, absgonded shortly after his retmm to the cepital. He
reached British territory in safety, and aventnnlly found his way to
Europe, with hig ill-gotten wealth.
" Ls VassovLr, CoroveL [spelt also Le Vassou, Le Vaisseau, Le
Vaisseaux, Le Vaissaux, Le Vasaco),—Le Vassoul{—aseuming this to
be the proper orthograpby of his name—was & Frenchman, and a
person of talent, good birth, and pride of character. He entered the
Beg'n.m Bomru's corps, and nfter rendering his mistress essential ser-
vice in the management of her axtillery, waa promoted to the command
of it in 1798, Two years later, in order o obtain eomplete control of
her party, he married the Bogum. He always felt & profound con-
tempt for the officers in the foree, and refused to sit at meals with
them, freating them in a hsughty manner, and attempting to reform
the character of the troops with stern severity. This speedily led to
# mutiny, and Le Vassoul{ lost his life under eireumatances which
will be found fally related under the heading of * Bombre.”

Luoan, Caprain [also spelt Lueoan]—Captain Lucan was an Irish-
man, and an officer in Perron's army. When the war of 1808
ocenrred, he availed himself of the Governor-General's proclamation,
and lefy Bindhia's service. At the storm of Aligarh he volunteered to
show Lord Lake's trcops the way to the gnte, and the Commander-in-
chief mentions him in the followmg terms in his despatch of the 4th
of September, 1808, announcing the capture of the fortress:i—*1 feel I
ghall be wanting in justise to the merits of Mr. Lucan, a native of Grest
Britain, who recently quitted the service of Bindhia fo avoid serving
against his sountry, were I not to recommend bim to your Lordship’s
partionlar attention. He gallantly undertook to lead Colonel Monson’s
storming party to the gate, and point ount the road through the fort,
which he effected in a most gallant manner, and Oolonel Monson has
reported having received infinite benefit fro ' i}

Eew&rdﬁdmthem%mm. RISEIE A P
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\l.f Rs. 24,000—¢ for the job,” as Bkinner somewhat disparagingly pute

%. Gecneral Lake mentions Lucan again in his despateh of the 10th
of October following :—** To Mr. Lucan's information and exertions on
;this occasion [the batile before Agra] as well as on every other, 1
feel myself very much indebted.” Bubssquently Captain, or s he
onght perhaps to be ealled, Lieutenant Lucan was sppointed to the
- command of & large body of irregular cavalry, and sttached o the
forse undexr Colonel Monson, which was employed in keeping Holkar
in check. Monson met with a disasirous defeat after s short
eampaign in Holkar's territory, and Lmcan was-detached to pro-
tect his rear, When the troops were lesving Rampfira he mighi
have saved himself if he had retreated directly Jaswant Rao's advance
guard eame in sight. But he desired to win & pame for himself, and
thought he might do so by making & brilliant charge before falling
back. He was deserted by most of his men, and soon surrounded by
Holkar's best cavalry, and after sustaining » gallant fight, in whieh
his few faithful troops were cut to pieces, he was wounded and taken
prisoner. He was eonfined at Kotah, and shortly afierwards died,
according o various accounts, by poison, by torture, or from the
effects of his wounds. In the ¥ Life of Amir Kbén,” by Bhosawsn Lal,
it is made fo appear that Lncan fell in hand-io-hand eonflict with
Holikar himself, and the apoeryphal exploit is commemorated by
some Persisn verses, of which Prinsep gives the following metrical
translation w=-

¢ The Maharaf st Lucan flew,
As swoops the falecm on ils prey,
His water-tempered biade he drew
And streams of gushing tlood found way !

_The twoken host took flight snd fled,
Death was among them freely dealt,

Bepoys and soldisre, back and white,
The sword’s keem edge in pleoty feik.

A Baging Lion, Jeswwnt Réo,

Came upon Loesn, brave sad hold,
And striking st his neck one biow,

His bead upom the green swand rofled.

The army saw their loader’s fato
And forthwith in confasion turned ;
Mﬂnu‘uﬂdﬂ:m,vhmm
“Laweing Bolar o, »d 0



APPENDIX. - 871

It is, perhape, as well to mention that, despite these ciremmstantial
and gory details, the sbove incident is purely imeginary.

MacInryne, Carran,—Nothing is Imown of this adventurer, except
that he was an officer in Hessing's or Filoze’s brigades, and was
detached by Bindhia in June, 1801, to support the former at Ujjain
with two battalione. He was-cut of by Jaswant Réo Holkar af
Nari, twenty-gever riles distant from the oapital, and corapelled to
surrender, )

MacKeyzm, LigoTeENanT.—Lieutenant MacKenzie was an officer
commanding a battalion in Perron's Third Brigade under Bourguien.
He was present during the ecampeign agninst Thomas, and behaved
with gallantry at the final assanlt on Hfnei, where he was wounded.

Manoo, CoLoreL [spelt also Médoc].—Next to Sombre’s, Mados’s
wag the oldest * party” in Hindustan, Madoe was an illiterate and
ignorant Frenchman, who had formerly been a private in the French
armay in Bonthern Indis, from which he deserted in 1774, and found
his way to Delhi, where he entered the service of Najaf Khén, for
whom he raised a corps of five battalions of infantry, 500 cavalry, and
20 guns. He gathered around him several very respectable and com-
petent officars, amoengst whom were the Uount de Moidavre and the
Chevaliera Dudrenac and Cresgy. Colonel Malleson states that Madoo
commenced his career as early ag 1757, and that he was one of Sombre’s
officers, and served at the battle of Buxar. He was a gallant man, bat
deficient in military knowledge, and with more enterprise and bravery
than prudence and science, and his battalions generally failed in their
attacks from the rash impetuosity of their commander. After leaving
Najaf Khén's service, Madoo entered that of the Réna of Gohad in
1776, and n little Iater experienced & disastrons defeat in the defiles
of Bifna in the Méwatti district, where his force was attacked by a
large band of Rohillas, during a heavy storm of rain, and annihilated,
twelve of his European officers being killed, and ali his guns and
baggage oaptured. Madoo escaped by flight, and found refuge at
Fatehpur, from whence he repaired to Agra, and get fo work fo cast
pow guns and raise and discipline another corps. When it was ready
for service, by a species of transaction not uncommon in those days,
he sold it to the Rana of Gohad in 1782, and ite command devolved
on Major Sangster. Madoo, having reslised a emall fortune, ratired
to Europe, where he was not long afterwards killed in a duel.
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MyranaLL, JAMES, CaPrain.——Capiain Marshall was & Scotchmnan,
and a gentleman of good family and education. He began life as &
midshipman in the Company’s navy, but in a spirit of adventure left
the ses, and took service with the Native princes, obtaining the
command of s battalion in Hessing’s corps. He is spoken of by a
contemporary as s brave soldier, an intelligent officer, and & man of
liberal sentimenis and amiable manuvers, Little is known of his active
career in Sindhia's service, except that he was one of the officers who
waa confined by the revolted troops at Agrs in 1808, and it is probable
he was engaged in the war against George Thomas. Having sur-
rendered to General Lake in terms of the Governor-Genersl's procls-
mation, he waa awarded a pension of Re, 500 a month by the British
Government, and shorily afterwards appointed to the eommand of
some newly-raiged levies, and sent to keep order in the Harifna
district. He waa shot through the heart about the year 1804, whilst
gallantly storming a town, in the discharge of his doty to his King and
couniry. * Boch characters are rarely seen,” writes Lewis Ferdinand
Smith, “J knew him long, and he was esteemed and respected by all
who were acquainted with his many excellent and amisble qualities.
He was cut off in the flower of his lifs. As he received the fatal buliet,
he grasped the hand of his friend, Captain Harriots, smiled at him,
and dropped back desd.”

Marring, Craops, GENERAL [also written Clsud Martin}l —Clande
Martine was & Frenchiman, He was born in the year 1732 st Lyons,
where his father earried on the business of & silk manufacinrer. It was
intended that be should follow the sama ealling, but his adventurous
spirit wounld not submit to so tame a eareer, and running away from
home st an early age, he enlisted in the French army. He soon dis-
tinguished himaelf by his activity and energy, and was advanced from
an infantry to a eavalry regiment. In 1757 the Count de Lally was
sppointed fo the government of Pondicherry, and requiring voiantesrs
for his bodyguard, Martine made sppliestion to be enroiled, and wss
socepted. Aecompanying Lally o India, he arrived there in 1758,
buihldnntbeenlongmthomnﬁ'ybdmhebeg:nhw
trouble. Lally’s ideas of diseipline were inondinately severe, and his °
behaviour and manners toward his sobordinsies harsh and tyrannical -
His treatment might have been necessary, for a large portion of his
bodyguard had been reervited from military eriminals snd deserters '
under pentence, who wers drafted into it as & punishment. But Lally’s ¢
sternnesg had the effeet of inereasing rather thsn diminishing the in- :
subordination, and when,  litile lster, Coote advanced and laid siege
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to -Pondicherry, the whole of the Governor's bedyguard deserted en
masee to the English, by whom they were well received. On the
return of the British troops to Madras, Martine volunteered to reise a
corps of French chassenrs from amongst the prisoners of war, for
service under the Company’s flag. Hie proposal was entertained, and
ke received a commission 86 ensign. Bhortly afterwards he was
ordered to Bengal with his corps, but, during the voyage, the ship in
whioh he sailed sprang a leak, and it was only with the greatest diffi-
culty that he saved his men in the boats, and eventually landed them
safely in Calentta, In dune course he was promoted to the rank of
captain, but in 1764 his men mutinied, notwithstanding his exertiona
to keep them faithfnl, and the corps was broken up. Martine's conduct
on this oscasion was greatly commended by the anthorities, and, being
an able draughtsmen, he was rewarded by an appointment in the
north-enstern districts of Bengal, where he was sent fo survey the
country, His work wae go satisfactory that, on its completion, &
similar appointment was found for bim in the province of OQudh,

Thie wae the turning-point in his oareer, which had hitherto been
more eventful than profitable. Having fixed his headquariers at
Lucknow, he employed his leisure in exercising his ingenmity in
several branches of mechanics, and, amonget other things, manuofae~
tared “ the first balloone that ever floated in the air of Asaia.® This
brought him nnder the notice of the Nawab, wha conceived so high an
opinion af his sbilities, and especiully his gkill in gunnery, that he
solicited permission from the Bengal Government for Martine's ser-
vices to be transferred to him, and this bsing granted, the adveniurer
was appointed superintendent of the Nawédb's park of artillery and
arsenal,

Martine did not neglect the opportunities thus opened out to hin,
and speedily ingratiated himself with his new master, whose oon-
fidential adviser he became. In the many political changes that took
place in Oudh during the next tweniy years the Frenchman always
oontrived to remain on the right side, making himeelf indispensable
in negotiations between the NawAb snd the Company. At the same
time he was oareful not to push himself forward into public notice,
preferring to remain the power behind the throne; and although he
seldom appeared st Darbar, he had more real infiuence than the
Nawéb's ministers in ahaping the courss of events,

Martine's salary was largely inoreased, and he enjoyed, in addition,
extonsive sources of smolument, such s& were always open to men in
positions of confidence in the Native courts. He became the recog-
nisad channel for petitions from all who desired any favour from the
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Government, and in this capacity ‘enormous bribes and prosents o
great value found their way into his bands. He educated the Nawil
into an appreciation of the products of Europe, and then acted as ki
agent in proeuring them, Hoe established extensive credits with the
Native bankers, and so obtained a large share in the profitable public
loans made to his master. Pinally his position at Court wos esteemed
o sooure that, in a country disiracted by war and internal troubies,
he soon became & sort of “safe deposit® for the valpables of the
Nawib'a subjects, charging 8 commission of 12 per cent. for the
custody of arkicles eommitted to his ecare. By thess and simils
methods he acquired an immense fortune daring his long residence sl
Lacknow., .

Martine’s pleasure in life seems to have been limited to the mere
scoumulation of riches, for he derived none from spending them.
In his peculiar way he was sufficiently hospitable, but kis table was
not calenlated to attract guests, either by the elegance of the enler-
tainment or the geniality of the host. Of his private bounty during
his life very few instances are recorded, though it is known that from
time to time he nasisted his family at Lyvons. The prineipal object of
his ambition or vanity seems {0 have been the attainment of military
rank, » fact the truth of which is emphasised by the epitaph he wrote
for his own fomb. Dauring the time he resided st Lacknow his pro-
motion in the Company's service eoniinued; for although be
relinquished his psy and sllowances, be retained his eomimission,
In 1790, at the eommencement of the first war with Tipu Bultan, he
presented the Company with s number of fine horses to moant s
troop of eavalry, and in return was gazetted to the rank of eolonel,
thus achieving the oljeet for which the gift was mads. Six years
later, when the Company’s officers received brevet muk from the
King, Martine’s name was inelnded in the Gasetle, and to bis infinite
satisfaction he beeams s major-general Lord Teignmouth deseribed
him in 1797 as & man of much penetration and observation, whose
language would be elegant if it eorresponded with his ideas; but he
talked very broken English, interlarding every sentence with “ What
do yon call it 2 *—* Do you see ? ?

Amongst the most remarkable poinis eonnected with Martine was
his house at Lacknow, which was s eastellated edifice built on the banks
of the River Gimti, and designed for defence if necessary. 1t was
ecnsiructed strictly on hygienie prineiples, for it eontained s series of
rooms—or flste, as we should eall them in these modern days—.
adapted to the varying temperature of the diflerent sessons of the
year. Thus in the hot season he resided in s subtesranean suite of
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chamberg, which were always cool and sheltered from the fierce glare
and heat outside. When the rainy season came on, he ascended fo an
upper story high above the ground lovel and itz malaria, In the
cold weather he changed guartera again, and dessended to the ground-
floor. The house wae fitted with many ecurious mechanical con-
trivances for comfort ; the ceilings of the different apartments were
formed of elliptie arches, ornamented most elaborately, whilst the
extertor decorations were equally fanciful and florid. The furnifure
was on a par with the building, and the walls of the rooms were
oovered with glasses, prints, and pictures, estimated at many thousand
pounds in valme. Not the least curicus feature in' this building—
which wes called Constaniia, from the motto Labore et Constantia
carved on ite front—was a room containing a vault designed for
Martine's place of sopulture, He builf this because the Nawab refnsed
to pay him the price he asked for the edifice ; wherenpon, in a fit
of pique, be declared that his tomb should be handsomer than any
palace in the kingdom. Mis subsequent interment therein had the
effect of desecrating the place in the eyes of the Muhammadans, for
no followers of the Prophet can inhabit a tomb.

For the last fifteen years of his life Martine suffered grestly from
stone, He onred himseif once by a successful though erude and
painful conrss of ireatment; but a recurrence of the disease ter-
minated his life in the year 1800, at the age of aixty-two.

On the 1st of January of the same year he execufted an extra.
ordinary will, which he drew up himself, It contained ovar forty
olauses, and began by scknowledging with penitence that aself-interest
had been his guiding principle through life, His fortune, amounting
to nearly half a million sterling, be bequeathed in inonmerable
logacies. Amongst them were three to the poor of Caloutts, Chan.
dernngors, and Lucknow, the interest of which was to be doled daily
at cortain fixed places, distinguished by tableta bearing an inseription
in English, French, or Persian, according to the location, and notifying
that the alms distributed were the gift of General Martine, and to
be so disbursed in perpetuity. He left a large sum in frust to the
Government of Bengal for the establishment and endowment of a
school to be called La Martiniérs, which still exists, and whers on the
anniversary of hie death s sermon was to be preached, followed by a
publio dinner, at which the toast of *“ The Memory of the Founder ™
was to be drunk in solemn silence. To his relatives and the town of
Lyons he bequeathed large legacies, and two separate sums to that
oity and Caloutta, their interest to, be devoied o releasing poor
debtors from gaol on the anniversary of his death. He left directions
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that his house Constantia should never be sold, but serve as s manso-
leuam for his remsins, and he sommitted it to the care of the ruling
power in the eountry for the time being. Buch were the ¢laborate
precantions taken by this eceentric man to keep his memory alive and
band it down to posterity.

The thirtieth clause in his will was perhaps the most remarkable of
all. TIi ran ss follows: * When I am dead, I request that my body
may be ealted, put in spirits, or embalmed, and afterwards deposited
in & leaden eoffin made of some shest load in my godown, which is
to be put ir another of sissoo wood, and then deposited in the cave in
the mmall ronund room north-east in Constansis, with two feet of
masonry raised above it, which is o bear the following inscription :—

# Muor-Gewgeat. CLavpx Mazrivx,
Born at Lyons, January, 1788,
Arrived in Indis as & common soldier, and died et [Lucknow, the
18th of Beptember, 1800] s major-gensral ;
and he is buried in this tomb.
Pray for his sonl”

His wishes were faithfully fnlfilled, and when Lady Fanny Parkes
vigited the tomb in 1831 she mentions that s busi of the General
sdorned the vanl, lights were eonstantly burning before the tomb,
and the figures of four Bipahis, ss large as life, with their arms
mveraed,atoodmmchuuthandodihommm Iutho

sought to perpetaste his name ; and it is not an unpleasing thought
that the asonement of his testamentary charity still keeps alive the
Pious memory of the founder of La Martiniére.

Mowraeox, Epwazo, Lizvresasr.—Lisutenant Montague was the .
son of Colonel Montague, of the Bengal Artiliery, and sn officer in
Heasipg’s brigade. He was killed st the battle of Ujjain in 1801 -
He is deseribed in an obituary notice published i the time a5 5 most
asenennlished wwme man. wha had hean adnemtsd at the Rowval
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Military Academy at Eensington, and received s more ample
education than was generally esteemed necossary for the army.
Tempora mutantur; as witness the groups of greai-brained, yonng
aspirants, who periodically cluster round the doors of Barlington
House o prove their sufficient intellectual powers.

Morem, Jogw.—John Morris waé an Englishman, and commanded
one of George Thomag's battalions. He is only mentioned omee in
Thomas's memoirs—namely, in the description of the batile of
Fatehpar, where he distingnished himself and was wounded. * He
was & brave man,” wrote his master, * but beiter adapted to con-
duot a forlorn hope than diréet the motions of troops on the field of
battle.” '

Patnr, Carratm.—There appear to have been two officers of this
name, One, a eaptain in the Chevalier Dudreneo’s corps, wae Lilled at
the baitle of Malpura in 1799, in the charge of Riihor cavalry that
overwhelmed the force; the other, a lisutenant in Parron’s Fourth
Brigade, was wounded in the storm of SBounda, in 1801, As both inei-
dents are gleaned from Bkinner's memoirs, it is possible that they
refer to one and the same individual, and that he was only wounded,
not killed, in the first ackion.

PauLy, CoLoNEL (PaoLi).—Colonel Panly wae a German, and aelected
by the Begum Somru to command her hasband’s party after Sombre's
deathin 1778, He engaged too muoh in Oriental politics, and espoused
the ecause of Prince Jiwan Bakht, who, in 1782, desired to rid Bhah
*Alam of some of his unraly nobles, and andertook o secure the arrest
of & powerful minister named Mirea Bhifi Khén; whereupon the
Iatter fled, and the Emperor appointed Jiwan Bakht Amir-l-Umra,
or Chief of the Noblea. But Mirza Bhifi entered into an alliance with
severhl other rebel nobles, and, oolecting a large army, marched againet
Delhi, sending forward a vakil to Shah 'Alam, demanding his restora-
tion to power. The Emperor was intimidated, and summrioned a couneil,
at whicl: Jiwan Bakht proposed to sally forth and fight the rebels, a
line of action which Pauly strongly supported, undertaking to defeat
Mirza Bbafi's following with his battalions of regulars. But the
Emperor was too frightened to act boldly, and ordered Pauly to
enter into mn amicable arrangement. The German cbeyed, and a
general reconciliation of all parties was outwardly agreed to, but
soarcely had Pauly entered the rebels’ camp to arrange for earrying
the agreement into affeot, than a party of horse, who had been placed
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in ambuseade, fell upon him, and, dispersing his escort, “ by & bloody
process cut off the head of Mr, Panly.”

Pxorox, Covowgr.—Colonel Pedron was s Frenchman, and &
native of Hennebon, near L'Orient, Hoe served in Monsienr Law's
corpe at Lucknow in 1760, Law. it may be mentioned, was & son of
the financial genius known as ** Mississippi” Law, whose speculative

enterprises in France produced o paraliel to our Sonth Sea Bubble in ;

England. Law was at Chandernagore in 1756 when Clive captured it,
but managed to make his escape into the Upper Provinees with about
250 of his eountrymen, whom he kept together till the year 1761,
when he was defeated and forced fo surrender to Major Carnse. But
prior to this = great pumber of his Europeans deserted, and smongst
them was Pedrom, who returned o Oudh, and tock service with the
Nawib Wazir at Lucknow. When the French were expeiled from
that ruler's dominions st the instigation of the English, Pedron ob-
tained employment under the Bijah of Borar. After this & grest
blank occurs in his history, for he is not heard of again till 1790, when
he entered De Boigne's First Brigade ae s lienienant, and was posted
to Matira, and shortly afterwards purchssed his majority. In 1796
bhe was promoted 0 the command of the Third Brigade, snd musi
have been & man of considerably over fifty years of age. In 1799 he
was engaged in the siege of Delhi, which the Nalive ecnunandant,
despite Sindhis’s orders, refused to deliver over to Perron. After s
blockade of five weeks the gates were opened “ to the inapulse of gold,”
but whether to Pedron or to Butherland is doubtfal, as the honour has
been assigned to both. In 1800 Pedron maised the Fourth Brigade
when the threatened invasion of Hindustan by Zemén SBhal enased
Perron t0 increase his army. His next service was sgainst Lakws
Dida at Sounda in 1801, but he affected so little with his eight battalions
that Perron proceeded in person to the seal of war, and stormed ithe
rebel chief's entrenchments. Soon afier this hostilities were declared
agninst George Thomas, and when Bourguien demonsirated his utter
ineapacity, Pedron was sent to supersede him. That ke was success-

fol was again due,in # grest measure, to the * impulse of gold "—s .

U

-

metal in which be seemns to have had mare faith than in steel, for bs °

displayed little military talent, and po ecurage, whilst the methods he

sdopted of tampering with Thomas’s troops were not such as eommend :

themselves to Europeas notions of honourable warfara. But be gained

his ends, and afier Thomas’s flight to Hinsi, made over the command

hBourguimaglin.mdenadbAﬂguhﬁonmﬁlhihig!de..

which had been woakened by easualtics snd transiers to the Third.
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Here he remained for eighteen months in charge of Perron’s head-
quarters, and when the rupture with the British Government occarred
in 1803 he was enfrusted with the defence of the fort, and was the
recipient of the famous letter from Perron which exhorted him to
hold the place while one stone remained npon another. But this
desperate resolution was not in Pedron, and he waa anxious to sar-
render without a blow, and only prevented from doing so by the spirit
of the troops under him, who, on the firat indioation of his weakness,
deposed and confined him, and slectod & Rajput named Baji Réo to
the cormmand. Aligarh wae taken by storm on the 4th of Beptember,
and Pedron was made a prisoner of war, or t0 be mare exsct, was
fransferred from Marathé to English bondage. Thorn describes him
a8 ** an elderly man, dlad in a green jacket, with gold lace and epau-
lottes " —which is the last record discovered of this adventurer.

Proier, J., Carran.—COaptain Pillst was a Frenchman, in Les-
tinean’s corps, in the service of the Rana of Gohad, {o the command
of which he sucoeeded by seniority when Lestinesu absconded after
securing Giilam EAdir's saddle-bags. He was, however, unable to
oontrol the men, who broke into mutiny and were disbanded. Pille$
subseqnently entored the service of tha Rijah of Jaipur, and about the
year 1794 made = long report to the British Government on the
resonrces of that country, with a view to an allisnce. As the leading
feature of the proposal was that the Béjah shonld keep up sn army of
50,000 men, and the Company pay for it, it did not receive that atten-
tion which doubtless both Partib Sing and Pillet fondly hoped.

Pizox, CoLoNer [often mis-spelt Perron}—Colonel Piren, who is
constantly confounded in historical books with General Perron, was a
native of Alsace. He was in the service of the Nizam of Haidarabad,
and second in command to the famous adventurer Raymond, who
raised a brigade of seventeen battalions for that ruler. Piron was an
outrageons Jaocobin, and in close touch with the Frenoh Kepublican
faction in Mysore. On Raymond’s death, in Mareh, 1708, he succesded
to the command of the 14,000 men comprising the foroe, which waa
supporied by a Jaidad yislding eighteen lakbs of rupess annaally, and
included a strong train of artillery and a complete military equipment.
One of his first acts was to send to Perron, Bindhia's general, a silver
tres and Cap of Liberty as & souvenir. XHis corpa always hoisted the
French national flag, and the lapels and epaulettea of the Sepoys’
nniforms were emhroidered with the words Libertd of Constitution,
Piron and all bis officers entertained ambitious deeigns, and sonsidered
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themselves as forwarding the intereste of France. Their undieguised
hostility to the English and pronounced principles soon compelled
Lord Wellesloy to take nction againet them, and he determined fo
effect the disbandment of the force. Lisutenant-Colonel Roberta,
asaisted by John Maleolm, was told off for the task, and effected it with
complete guccess on the 22nd of October, 1798, the operation being
facilitated by the fact of the iroops being in a state of open muiliny,
and Piron and his officers in danger. The following account of
the dispersal of this * French Army " (ss T.ord Wellealey calls it) is
exiracted from Knye's “ Life of Malcolm.”

“ Having reported to Colonel Roberts the favourable sapect of
affairs, Maleoln drew up his deteschment on the heights facing the
French lines, There he was speedily joined by the European officers
of the French corps, elate with joy at their eseape from the hands of
their infuriste soldiery, and sctusily, in the conjuncture that had
srisen, regarding the English as friends and deliverers. The rest was
soon socomplished. The Sepoys left their guns, laid dewn their arms,
and in the presence of the two lines of British troops, moved off in »
deep column to a flag planted on the right of the ground. Not a shot
was fired, not & drop of blood was shed. Eleven or iwelve thousand
men were dispersed in 8 few hours; and before sanset the whole can-
tonment, with all their storehouses, arsensls, gun fonndries, and powder
millg, were completely in our posseesion. The eclebraied Fremeh
corps of Hydrabad had passed into tradition.”

Piron and his compatriots eonfossed themselves very grateful, not
only for their resene from a grave peril, but for the humanity with
which they were snbsequently treated. It is difficult to eetimate the
exact qualifies of this sdventurer. Msjor Kirkpstrick, the Besident
st Haidarabad, writing in 1797, describes him as younger than Ray-
mond, and far more enterprising and sctive, and partieslerly fond
of the military profession. But Sir John Maleolm, then Kirkpatrick’s
a.uimnt,who had equally good oppertunities of forming an opizdon,

records that “ Piron is = rough, violens demoers, & man with more .
bostile dispositions to us than his predecessor Raymond, but less
dangerous ; being a siranger to thati temper and those wlm.hnm!
manners by which the latter won bis way to greatness Piron has :
no ability, and his sathority is far from being geperaily scknow.
ledged.” Events proved Piron was totally unfitted to step into the -
post wnade vacant by Raymond's death. He died sé Clnndcmsgcn
in 1803,

PLomxr, Masor.—Major Piumet was *“ s Frenchman snd s gentle-
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man—two qualities which were seldom united in the Mahratia
Empire.,” Buch is Bmith’s dicfum. Plumet raised a party for
Jaswant Réo Holkar in 1798, and had a principal ghare in secnring
the victory of Ujjain, althongh a short time previonsly he had sustained
a reverse when he attacked Major Brownrige's position on the Narbada.
According to one historian, he was wounded and taken prisoner in
the Iatter mffair, and not present at Ujjain; but another, with equal
insistence, accords fo him the honour of that day. He scon found
Holkar *too oruel, cunning, capricious, and ungratefel,” and left his
service. Major Ambrose states that Plumet deserted his chief on the
eve of the battle of Indore, and so conduced fo the defeat which
Jaswant Rio soetained, and that this behaviour caused Holkar to
brand all Frenchmen as * Duggerbsz,” or Faithless, Major Plumet,
after hie brief career in the Deccan, retired to the Isle of France.

Porruan, CovLoweL [also written Pholman and Balaman]—Colonel
Pohlman was a native of Hanover, and & sergesnt in a regiment com-
posed of men of that nationality, formerly quertered at Madras, and
one of eeveral gimilar mercenary eorps of foreigners in the Company's
service, such as Doxat’'s Chasseurs, the Bwisa Regiment de Meuron,
and Clande Martine’s ecompany. Pohlman entered De Boigne's brigades
sbont the year 1792 or 1798, and was a captain on the modest pay of.
Re. 200 a month in 1794 In April of the following year he was in
command of a Najib battalion in the Second Brigade at Mattra, to
whick James Bkinner was posted when he first joined the service,
Between this and 1799 he probably saw & good deal of service, for
it i a period of which Skinner has much to relate. Earlyin 1799
Parron distrusted Butherland, who was in command of the Becond
Brigade, and removed him from his post, which he beatowed on
Pohlman, who shortly afterwards eustained & eevere reverse in.
an unsuceepsinl attack upon the fort of Shipira, when six of his
battalions were beaten back with a loss of two officers and 1,000 men
killed and wonnded. Eventusally ke oaptured the place, when, it is
pleasant o record, he treated the gallant Rajpit gerrison with great
humanity aed consideration, permitting them and their women.folk
to march out with all the honours of war, and the respeot due to their
heroie defence. 1In the following May, Pohlman commanded at the
important battle of Malptra, when his foroe oonsisted of his cwn
brigade of eight battalions, five of the Chevalier Dudrenec’s, and 5,000
cavalry, He inflicted & sovere defeat on BR4jsh Partab Bingh, and
oaptared 74 of his guns. This was the action in which Dudrenec’s
corps was ridden down by the Réthors, and the victory wae solely due
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to Pohlman's good generalship. For the next two yoars he sppear
to have been quartered in Rajputans, to enforce payment of the
tribnte due, and keep the country under eontrol whilat Perron's other
brigades were engaged in the wars against Holkar, Lakwa Dads, and
George Thomaas, in none of which Pohlman seems to have had any
part. In 1802 he escorted Perron to Ujjain, and here, for the second
time, superseded Sutherland, who was obliged to leave the service
owing to Perron’s hostility. Pohlman and the First Brigade remained
with Sindhia in the Deccan $ill war broke out with the English. Tt
is uncertain whether he was in command of Bindhia’s infantry aé the
battle of Assaye, in which his brigade fought well, the ariillery being
splendidly served, and the men sustaining s stubborn fight agninst the
geniua of Welloaley and the valour of British troops for three hours,
Pohlman eventually entered the Company’s service, though withont
rank, and re-enlisted some of his old soldiers 10 form an irregular
infantry sorps. He is described as an exceedingly cheerful and enier-
taining charaster, who lived in the style of an Indian prinee, kept a
seraglio, and always fravelled on an elephant, stiended by s guard of
Mughals, all dressed alike in purple robes, and marching in file in the
same way as a British eavalry regiment; notwithstanding which
melodramatio weakness, Pohiman was certainly one of Perron’s most
competent officers.

Raruonp, Friwgors pE, (xxsgar.—Frangois de Raymond (whose
name Colonel Malleson givesas Michel Joachim Marie Baymond) was
born at Sarignae, in Gascony,in 1765. He eame ont to Indis early in
life, and in 1775 obtained employment as sub-lieutenant in & baitalion
eommanded by the Chevalier de Lassé, in the service of Haider Ali
of Myusore. His conduet broaght him to the notice of the military
sathoritiss, and he received s eommiission as eaptain in the Freneh
armry in 1783, and was appoinfed aide-de-camp to the famous Bussy.
Three years later, on Bussy’s death, Baymond entered the service of
the Nizam Al EKhin of Haidarabed, for whom he raised & small ;
eotpnofﬂﬂﬂmm.hnngﬂuwupomwnhwhinhtbqvmumdé
from s French merchant on the cosst, at the rate of sight sumas per |
mensem for each nmsket. Whmthaemfedm'nnganxpuJ
Bolian broke out, and the Englich, Mariibis, and the Nizam were
lugneiagainﬁthomhdlym&m&'smdwum;
to 700 men, and he distingnished himself so much in the eampaign
that he grew into great favour with AH Khin, and his foree was :
sugmented to 5,000 men, his own psy being increased (o Be. 5,000 8
month. At the battle of Eandls in 1795 Baymond's bsitalions
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nambered 10,840 men, with 28 guns and 46 tombrils, The regularity
with which this foree was paid enabled him to Al jits ranks with
deseriers from the Company's aervices, fo whom he held out fempting
indacementa, He is also gaid to have encouraged French prisoners
of war on parcle to escape and take service under hin flag. The
battle of Eardla was the only oconsion except the Mysore war in which,
during a service of seventeen years, Raymond met & foreign foe. He
was forced to retire from the field, but was not defeated, for the retreat
_waag solely due to the Nizem’s pusillinamity, and ordered at & moment
when Raymond's batialions were stoutly and, peradventure, snccess-
fally holding their own. He was next employed in reducing to sub-
mission the Nizam's rebellions son and heir, Ali Jah. - In thig he met
with stout resistance, and was. obliged to send for reinforoements ta
one of his subordinates named Baptiste, on being joined by whom he
quickly brought the expedition to & aonelueion, and secured the person
of Ali Jih, who committed puicide, leaving Bikander Jih heir to
the throns, This Prinoe was accustomed to swear * by the head of
Baymond,” whom he regarded as the first of men, with the single
detraction that he bolonged to a nation that bad murdered ita Lking
and gqueen, After the battle of Kardla Raymond tried hard to obtain
the Karpa distriet, which would bave enabled him fo eo-operate with
any French force making o descent on the Coromandal coast, with or
without the cononrrencs of the Nizam. Ho already possessed an im.
mense military territorial assignment which yielded fifty-two lakhs of
rupees a year, in addition to an estate or Jaghtr of his own, the income
of which waa Ra. 50,000. His palary was princely, and in the style of
his domestic life he oollscted round him every Juxmry and elegance
within the reach of a Eurcpean in Indis. Previons to his death
he further increased his force, which*he considered “ A French body
of troops, employed and subsidised by the Nizam,” o over 14,000
men, with & complete train of artillery, chiefly brass ordnance,
worked by s well-trained corps of Europeans, and drawn by 5,000
bullocks, His cavalry numbered 600. He posseased, in his own
right, all the gnne and military equipage belonging to the foree. The
physique of his soldiers was not to be compared with that of the
stalwart and warlike warriors whormn De Boigne and Perron enlisted.
ifrom the fine recruiting grounds of Upper Indis, but the men were
well disoiplined, and their parade appearance was good, whilst the
service itself was extremely popular with the Natives.
BRaymond was an ambitions and Iniriguing man, and one who
understood the art of gaining his ends by engaging manners and
conoilistory demennounr. - After the battle of Eardla he began--to
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. aasume an almost kingly state, for his power made him the arbitrator
of Haidarabad. All hia regimental returns were hesded Corps de
Frangois de Raymond, and he waa received in his own eantonmenta
with a royal salute, He stood in & position which wonld bave enabled
him, in the event of the Nizam's death, {0 elevate whom he plessed to
the throne, and the overpowering influence which he soquired in the
conniry waa a serious menace to English interests. He was in close
tonch with the Government of France, and with Tipa Salisn of Myscre,
and engaged in intrigues which bad fer their object an alliance against
the British power in the East. He was alsc in eorrespondence with
some of the European officers in Bindhia‘s service, and an interesting
letter exists which he addressed to Michael Filoze in January, 1708,
on the snbject of the treacherous seizure of Nana Farnavis, the
Peshwa's Prime Minister. This is worth quoting ss showing Ray-
mond’s bonourable feelings, and because of & rather quaint adaptation
it eontains of the “ Rights of Man” theory to eighteenth century Mariths
politics—probably the first and last time the argument was used in
such & eonnection. * A report prevails,” writes Baymond, * that
Nana Farnavis has been arrested contrary to the Righte of Man and
to the clanses of the treaty for which you [Filoze) were seeurity. Ibave
no other interest in spenking of this but that which I take for every
European whose reputation is dear fo me.” Then he goes on to request
Filoze to obtain the Nana's restoration o liberty, and offers him a
podition and emoluments, “one-fourth more than you have with
Scindis, and a jaghir of one lakh of rupees annually.” The resson
of this liberality is not obvious in the letter, but it suggests many
inferences. The episile concludes: “I will be shortly on your
frontiers, when we shall be sble to keep up a correspondence, Bum
this letter if i should not suit you ; bui write fo me. Raymond”

Two months later RBaymond died—aceording to some accounts by
poison—at the early age of forty-three, and in the enjoyment of a
degree of power and consequence never reached by sny other military
adventarer in Sontharn India

Raymond’s character has been varionsly estimaled by different
writers. Major Thorn describes him s * s man of exiensive know-;
" ledge and equal aetivity.” Kayo,inhil“lﬂoduakolm.'ﬁul’
his charseter in the following light: “ Baymond was s man of grest
ability and address. . . . Had he lived the taking of kis men {in 1796)
would not have been an easy task ., . His troops were admirably
diseiplined and equipped. Their stare-rooms well filled with arms
and seeoutrements, and elothing from Europe of exeellent quality,
and they could with ease have armed 12000 more men in & fow



APPENDIX. 885

months. They oast excellent cannon, and made serviceable muskets
in their different foundries, all of which, as well aa their powder.
mills, were nnder the direotion of able and scientific Europeans.”
Malcolm’s opinion has slready been quoted in another page, namely,
that Baymond was & man of “ temper and concilistory manners, by
which he won his way to greatnesa,” DBub it has been reserved for a
contemporary historian, on grounds which it is a liftle diffionlt to
understand, to elevate Raymend to the position of a national hero.
“ This remarkable man,” writes Colonsl Malleson, *ig referred to by
many English writers simply a8 ' an adventurer named Raymond.’
That he was an sdventurdt is true, but he was one in the best sense
of the term—chivalrous, daring, trustworthy, and a splendid or-
ganiser; one of those adventurers who, like Garibaldi in our own
days, leave their mark on the history of the country in which their
deeds have been achieved. . . . It may be said that no Indian Prinoe,
not even Madhajee Boindia, or his succeszor, Dowlut Réo, ever had a
finer or mora efficient body of troops in his service [than those which
Raymond raissd]. In the campaign against the Mahrattas in 1795 (?),
it was Raymond snd his froops who repulsed the charge of the
Mahratta cavalry and wonld have beaten them back altogether had
not the Nizam and his troops abandoned the field. His reputation,
great af the time, still eurvives, and it may be said with truth that
the name of no Enropean connected with Indis has survived seventy-
#ix years after the demise of his body, to live with such eternal green-
ness in the henrts of the people of the country as does the name of
Raymond in the memories and traditions of the great families of
Hydrabad.” :

Those who have read these pages will hardly feel inclined to agree
with thia estimate of Baymond's euperior talents as a military ad-
venturer. A soldier of fortune is judged by his deeds, and Raymond's
achievements in the tented field eannot for s moment bear comparison
with those of De Boigne, Perron, or Thomas,

Pasging to the other side of the picture, we have the opinion of
Major Kirkpatrick, who was British Resident at Haidarabad in 1797,
and wrote of Raymond as “ by no means s man of vigoroug mind or
decided character, and very hard, and wanting liberality in pecuniary
imatters, which makes him much disliked by all his officers, 8xcept
one or two he favours. He never showed himself to be much of &
doldier, but was arifol, and had an erranging head and conciliating
manners when they suited his purpose.” Caplain Fraser, in * Our
Faithfal Ally the Nizam," desoribes Raymond as wanting in oharas-
ter, promptitnde, and decision. Colonel Beatson, in his History of

25
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the war with Tipd Sclian, has recorded the following opinion of the
adventarer and his party :—* The eorps commanded by Cplonel
Raymond, which, during the last war in Mysore, amonnted to uo
more than 1,500 men, was at that period so defsctive in point of
discipline a8 o be rather an object of sontempt than jealousy to the
Goveroment of India, It has graduslly augmented its numbers snd
improved ite discipline under the command of the late Monsisur
Raymond, until it nearly reached the number of 14,000, and had
obtained a degree of discipline superior in every respect to that of any
Naiive infantry in Indis, excepting the Bepoys in the Compsny’s
. service. The corps formed the largest and most effisient branch of
the military establishment of His Highness the Nizam, and the
French officers had aoquired s considerable ascendeney in his do-
minions and eouncils, and had manifested on several occasions the
symptoms of a disposition so arrogant, overbearing, and adventurous,
as 1o excite alarm in the minds of His Highness and his minis

The last quoiation must be from the despaiches of the Marquis
‘Wellesley. “ Baymond’s force was avowedly designed to cope with
one De Boigne had created for the Mahratias, sud was orgsnised on
" wery similar lines. Each regiment was officered by two Europeans,
and there was a field train of fifty guns, and & small body of dis-
ciplined ecavalry attached. The former was served by European
gunners, many of them deserters from the Company’s service. The
parade appearance of the force was good, but the discipline was far
homshid,mdtbedmkminﬂ:ismpeﬂ,mhindwﬁhth‘l
regularity of pay, mads the service m very popular one with the'
Nativea, so that there was no difficulty in keeping the brigade np to:
ite full strength, All the officers were Frencbmen, davoted fo the!
doetrines of Jacobiniem, and any amongst them who evineed Boyalist
tendencics were speedily dismissed. They fought under the Freneh
flag, and the Cap of Liberly was engraved on their buttons. Baymond
was noi s man of any great caparily or vigour, bui in eraft and
intrigus he was an adept, sud sustained his position by surrounding
himself with s few favourites, who supported him through ghiek and
thin, Withh:'uothuoﬂiemhowuhtfmmpopuhr,bﬁngahudg
man, and in peeuniary matiers extromely illiberal ; for, aithough hey
dmedvﬂmmuﬁmmmmdmgnmmhmu
never divest himself of his inherent avarice and meannees.” 3

Boexsrs, LisvrEnany.—Licutenant Roberts was so Englishman,
snd commanded a battalion of infautry in De Boigne’s First Brigade
in 1790. He was present st the baties of Pithan and Merts, and
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was severely wounded at the latter by a missile from & weapon known
as an * organ,” and which consisted of several gun barrels so joined
together as to fire at onoce. Whereby it would seem that the Mitrail-
lense was of Rajpitanic origin |

RyaN, Major.—This unfortonate officer was an Irishman, and
commanded u battalion in the service of Jaswant Rio Holkar, His
only cla.un fo be remembered is a8 a victim fo that chief's treachery,
for he "waa one of the three British eubjects who were cruelly
beheaded in 1804 for refusmg to fake tho field against their fellow
eountrymen.

Barzur, CovoNeL [also spelt Suleur and Salenre)—Colonel Saleur
was & Swiss or French officer, who succeeded to the command of the
Begum Bomru’s corps, after the snicide of Le Vassonlt in 1795. He
had taken no part in the mutiny which led to his predecessor's death,
bot bad, on the contrary, done everything in his power to prevent it.
He was deseribed as the * only respectable officer” who signed the
Covenant entered into between the Begum and her rebellions soldiery.
Baleur, who had been in the foree almost mince ite commencement,
ingreased its strength to six battalions, with 40 guns and 200 cavalry,
and in 1802 marched with five battalions to join Sindhia in the Deccan
after the defeat of Ujjain. The men were in & state of mutiny the
whole way, as many of the colonel's letters, written in French, fo
his mistress testified. When war broke out with the English, Salenr's
troops were with Bindhia, but only one battalion ook part in the
battle of Assaye, the other fonr having been left behind to guard the
Marsthé camp and baggage, and owing &0 this circumstance they
escaped destrnotion; and Colomel Baleur marched them safely to
Burhanpur, and from thence back to Bardhédne. Balenr was one of
the witnesses of the Begum's marriage to Le Vassoult in 1708,

HiNasTRR, MatoR—Major Bangster was a Scolchman, and a person
of gkill and ingenuity. In 1782 he obtained the command of the
diseiplined battalion of infantry which Madoo raised at Agra and
sold fo the Réna of Gohad. It consisted of 1,000 well-trained Bepoys
and a respectable train of artillery. Bangster was skilled in the art
of casting cannon, and those he turned out eonld compars with the
best the Company manufsctuored, whilst his muskets, produeed at a
cost of ten rupees each, were exoellent in every respect. When De
Boigne raised his first two battalions, he engaged Bangster (whose
master had been forced to swrrender to Bindhia), and appointed him
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to the charge of the arsenal st Agra. Hoe appears to have led s very
busy life, for in process of time other argenals and magazines were
established at Matirs, Delhi, Gwalior, Kalpi, and Gohad, of all of
which he bad the superintendence. The cannon balls were cast at
Gwalior, where there were very fine ircn mines, and goanpowder was
manufactured at Agrs, the saltpeire and snlphur being imported from
Bikanir, No mention of Bangater ean be found after De Boigne's
resignation, though in 1801 a report appears in one of the Fersian
journals that “ Lakwa Didas has employed Mr. Sangster’s son to
raise and discipline a battalion for him,"” which seems to indicate
that the father was still in the country, Young Sangster was probably
the cadet * Songster* who surrendered to General Wellesley after the
battle of Assaye.

SeepaEED, JanEs, CoLowzL [known to the Natives as Jamus Sahid],
—James Shopherd was an Englishman of ununsual enterprise and
eourage. When hardly emerged from ehildhood, he deserted his
ehip in Calcutts, and accompanied an officer to De Boigne's eamp in
the quality of & menial servant. He afierwards lived in the same
capacity with a gentleman st Fatehpur. Bhepherd was deseribed as
well ealculated for the Native service, being s good-looking man and
endowed with pliability of temper. Abont 1799 he fock serviee
under Ambaji Inglia, for whom he raised s brigade of reguixr
infantry, which numbered five battalions, with 500 eavalry and 25
guos. Ambaji was a penurious chief, and stinted his officer in
monoy, or he would have ereated a much more efficiont foree than
one which is sometimes alluded to as the * ragamuafin bstialions.”™
Bhepherd was engaged in the atiack on Lakwa Dida’s position si
Bounds in 1801, when he materially assisied in defesting that cixief,
but loat foar of his European officers killed or wounded—poor Bellasis
amongst the former—and s great pumber of his men. He was
detached to pursue Lakwa Dids after his flight, and kept him in pisy
during Perrov’s eampaign against George Thomas. It is s pity there
is no detailed record of Shepherd’s services, for he is stated to have
scen much and been frequently wounded. “Wntbmhnh,edw
tion, or protection” wmemnh,“huro-efrmohuntybm-
sequence by his bravery, his perseverance, and his fidelity; his
diligent toil and bold enterprise deserved all the success be won.™
On the breaking out of the war with the English, Bhepberd and his
party passed over to the Company's service, and he distinguished
himself in Bandelkhand in 1804, where he gave the celebratod Froe-
booter Amir Khan a sound bealing st Malthon Ghaut, and on the 24th
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of June completed his dissomfiture by entirely defeating and dis-
persing his force near Kiinch. Shepherds sorps ab this time consisted
of 8,180 men, and was highly praised for it efficiency when General
Lake reviewed it in 1805.

Bnvwer, James, Lieurenanr-CoLoNgL, C.B.--This compilation is
80 much indebted to * The Military Memoire of Lieutenant-Colonel
Jamea Skinner, C.B.,” that although that delightfol and graphie
biography of the stont old adventurer exists, & sketch of his career
must be included in these pages, and the following has been condensed
from the above work :

James Skinner was born in 1778. His father was a native of
Seotland, and an officar in the Company’s service, and his mother a
Rajplitni, the davghter of a Rajptt landholder in the Mirzipur
sountry. She wae taken prisoner in the war with Chait Bingh, the
Réjah of Benares, during an action near Bijaigarh, and came nnder
the protection of Engign Skinner, to whom she bore six children,
three sons and three daughters. The latter were all married to
gentlemen in the Company’s service. David, the eldest son, went to
sea; James, the second, and the subject of this sketch, became a
military adventurer; and Robert, the youngest, followed in his
footstepa,

Bkinner's mother died by her own hand in 1790, becanse it was
decided that her daughters shonld be sent to school, and she con-
ceived this would be a violation of the sanciity of the purdah, and
that their Rajpit honour would be destroyed in consequence, Afier
her doath James and Robert were sent to a charity school, their
father being still only & lientenant, erd unable to pay for their
education. However, when he obtained his captaincy in 1798, he
removed his sons to a boarding-school, where the charge was Re.80 a
month for ench. Two years later James was bound apprentice to a
yprinter, on a seven years’ indenture, and sent to the office to learn his
business.

Three days sufficed to disgust him with his proposed calling, and
be determined to run away to sea. On the third nighi he effected his
escape, with sixpence in his pocket, on which he contrived to live for
gix days. When his money was exhausted he wandered about the
Caloutta bazaar, working for any one who would hire him, and for
some time picked up a precarious living by carrying loads or pulling
the drill for Native carpenters st a pay of threepsnce a day. But
before long he wae recognised by a servant of his elder sistar, Mra,
Templeton, who forthwith bore Lim away to his master's house,
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After geiling & good rating from his uncle, he was set to work t
oopy law papers, and remained so employed for three months, unti
hia godfather, Colonal Burn, arrived at the Presidensy. This gentle
man, finding that young Bkinner burned to be a soldier, gave hin
Rs. 800 and sent bim fo Cawnpore, where Captain Skinuer's regimen
waa stationed, and whither the Colonel was soon retnrning.

Here SBhinner arrived in April, 1705, and » fortnight lster bi
godfather followed, and furnished him with » lotter of introductior
to General de Boigne at Koil Proceeding thers ihe youngster wai
very kindly received by the great man, who gave him an ensign’
appointment in his brigades, on a pay of Rs. 150 & month, and postel
him to 8 Najib batialion, commanded by Captain Pohlman, ai
Mattra.

Bhorily after this De Boigne retired, and the temporary eommand
of the army devolved upon Colonel Robert Butherland, who was al
the head of the Becond Brigade, to which Skinner's battalion belonged.
Bkinner's first experienoe of active service was during s eampaign in
Bundelkhand, where Sutheriand and Lakwa Dads were engaged in
reducing several refractory chiefa and rijahs to obedienes. Here he
asgisted in two field-batties, and the storm and eapture of five or six
forta, which intensified his military aspirations. He pow mads it
his study to master all the modes of NKative warfara, and beeams pro-
ficient in the use of the MarithA spear, the bow and arrow, and the
sword exercise,

Inl?ﬂﬁPenon'usppomhdtoﬂnmpnmwmnddﬂn
army of Hindustan, and arrived at Mattra in Februnary of the follow-
ing year. ‘Boon afier this the rebellion of the Bhais broke out, and s
large foree was ordered to assamble st Gwalior, under Captain Butler.
field, to which Skinner’s batfalion was sttached. The first aetion in
the eampaign was the bsttle of Chandkhori, where, owing to his
desertion by the Markthi eavalry, Bniterfield was defexted and
obliged {o fall back with a loss of 500 men. Bkinner defended his
rear during the retreat to a fort ealled Bhérgarh, behaving very:
gllln.nﬂymthafueofgre-tchﬁaﬂtlutmldnng-l,lmllmngnzgJ
off his guns with safety. For this he received great eommendabion;
from Capiain Butterficld, and General Parron hearing of it promoted
him {o the mnk of lientenant with the pay of Re. 200 & month.

ThanﬂuhdmbunpmadbyIan&da,andMuﬂb
Chitnrgarh in Udaipar, and thither Ambnji Inglia, the new Marfthé
eommander-in-chief, followed then. Caplain Bufterfield was again'
in eommand of the infautry, and Skimner, now promoted to the
charge of two battalions, seccompanied him. A grest deal of
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skirmishing took place, but nothing decisive waa effected. Nor were

matiers mended when Ambaji was joined by Colonel Sutherland and

George Thomas, who had been temporarily engaged by the chief

The campaign, which was not without adventure for Skinner himself,

was cnt short by politieal congiderations, and Colonel Sutherland

being suspected of iremchery by Perron, was superseded, and his -
command conferred on Major Pohlman, an officer under whom

Bkinpar snbsequently saw much pervice, It may be observed that

Bkinner did nof sare much for Butherland, and there was a quarre!

between the two before the Colonel left the brigade.

Boon afier sasuming command Pohlman was directed to take a
fort oalled Jijpur, whioch was in the possession of a refractory Bajpit
chief named Easri Singh, In the first assanlt he suffered a severe
repulse, but four days later susceeded in carrying the place by storm.
This was one of the hottest affairs Skinner was ever engaged in. In
Pohiman’s life the name of this fort is given as Shaptira on very good
authority, but from internal -evidence it seems more likely that
Bkinner's losation of the scene is the right one, there being s strong
fort at Jajpur and none at Mhapfiira. From here the brigade marched
fo Delhi, st the siege and capture of which, a8 well as at that of
Agra, Bkinner wag present, both cities having refused to acknowledge
Porron’s anthority.

The next aotion in which Ekinner was engaged was the battle of
Malpiira, in which he showed distingnished gallantry. Lord William
Bentineck, when he waa Governor-General of India, mentions an
incident in this battle in one of bis political despatches to the Couré
of Directors on the subject of Bkinner's publio services. **I cannct
refrain,” he writes, * from relating an anscdote told me by an old
Birdar in the Jeypore service. He had a oommand in the battle of
Bozxar in 1764, and he must have been a hundred years of age; but
he had gtill retained the ereciness of youth, a fine martial appearance,
and his faculties animpaired. He desoribed to me, with s manner
and expression glowing with gratitode, how in the battle of Jeypore
(t.¢., Malptra), Colonel Jamea Skinner, then a youth, led a charge
of eavalry, eaptured & field battery which the Sirdar commsnded,
and then, by his humane and decided interference, saved his life.”
It is worthy of Skinper's habitual modesty that he does not relate
this incident in his own description of the baitle, but merely mentions
how he neaxly loat hig own life in the final repulse of the Rithors,
being attacked by one of them, who charged into the centre of the
square and killed his horse, Skinner only escaping with his life by
an undignified retreat under a tumbril, After the baitle Skinner was

.,'
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the firsi to reconnoitre the Jaipur oawp, into which he rode boldly,
ouly to find it deserled. Here he looted two golden idols with
diamond eyes, belonging to Rijah Partib Bingh, and trinkets to the
value of Re. 2,000, amongst them being “ & brass fish, with two
chowrees hanging down liks monstachios,” This curious object
proved to be the Mahi maratid, or Fish of Dignilics, s decorative
symbol eonferred by the Mughal emperors on rijahs of the highest
rank, and equivalent to the Thres horse tails of the Turkish Empire,
or the Button of the Chiness mandarin, In this insiance the decors-
- tion had been conferred on Rijah Partéb Singh. Bkinper presented
this waluable scquisition to the Marithé Qeneral, and recsived in
return & handsome Ehilat and eonsidersble scommendation,

A few days after this Perron joined the army, and Bkinner visited
Jaipnr in his suils. From here he was detached, in independent
command, to stiack s fort near the Chambal river, belonging o »
Bajpiit ehief named Bam Pal Singh. On wriving before this place,
he found the low mud walls so nearly level with the erost of the
glacis, that there was no ionching the bestions with the baitering
train. He therefore opened trenches, and advanesd by regular
spproaches {0 the glacis, and then ordered s mine to be exrried under
it. 'When this was sprung his three battalions rushed forward to the
ssesult, and after ons rather severs cheek the placs was taken
Skinner was next ordered to asaist the Earaoli Béjab, who had fallen
out with his neighbour of Uniirs, and hired several baitalions,
(smongst them Skinner’s from Perron), fo fight his battles for him.
The foree eonsisted of six batialions of infantry, 2,000 eavalry, snd
twenty guns; of these the only efficient troops were Bkinner's.

The scens of the eampaign was between the territory of Tonk sod
the Banis river, and here the two mrmies eame in sight of one
soother. But the Karsoli ehiof was & ecoward, and an impeennious
one o boot, and eould not find money to pay his mereensries, who
beeame 8o dissatisfied and insnbordinate, that Skinner sent for rein-
foreements to Colonel Fohlman. But before they srrived the Unikra
Réjah took advaniage of the troobles in his enemy’s esmp, and intri-
gued with the diseoniented levies, and o little later moved out to
give hattle ; whereupon the whols of the Karaoli infantry, with the
exception of Skinner’s baitalion, deserted to the epemy.

On seeing this, Skinner commenced s reireat towards s deserted
village in his rear, which he gained with diffieulty, drivicg off two
of the enetny’s battalions who charged him. Then the whole of their
eavalry and infantry, amounting to 6,000 men, eams on to the atlack,
and upom this Skinner recognised it was hopeless o stiompt o bold
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the village. Bo he decided to refreat, if possible, o Tonk, which was
six miles distant, and evacaated his position, but was immediately
aftacked by the two battalions who had previously charged him,
and wbre now aided by their cavalry. These Skinner repulsed, but
not without the loss of one of his five guns, and his horse was killed
under him. The remainder of the enemy now came np fast, and
Bkinner found further progress impossible, o he drew up his men on
& level plain, and thern made thern a short but spirited speech, telling
them they could but die once, end exhorling them fo fight, and, if
needs be, fall like good and brave soldiers.

Allowing the enemy to approach to within fifty yards, Skinner gave
them a vollby and then charged. Those in front gave way, and he
eaptured their guns ; but their flanks wheeled into action, and galled
him terribly ; whereapon Bkinner threw his men into a aquare, and,
as o last regource, attempted to gain some ravines about three quarters
of & mile away. But it was to no purpose ; the enemy, inspirited by
his rotreat, charged again and again, captured thres more of hig
gung, and destroyed g0 many of his men that he had but 800 and a
single field piece left. Driven to desperation, he ealled on his men
to make a final sally, but as he waa in the act of leading them forward
he was shos throngh the groin by a matehlock man, and fell fo the
ground, and the remnants of his brave but unfortunate battalion were
destroyed.

This happened sbout three o’clock in the afternoon, and ha did not
regain consciousness till the next morning, when he found himself
despoiled of everything except his pantaloons. Arcund bim were
heaps of his dead and wounded Native officers and soldiers, among
them & Subabdar with his leg shot off helow the knes, and s Jamadar
with & pike thrust through the body. All were tortured with thirat,
and upable to move; and thus they remained in helpless agony
through the long hot day, praying for death. Night came at last, but
neither release from enflering nox assistance. The moon was full and
olear, and about midnight it was very cold. Bo dreadful did the
night appear that Skinner vowed to himself that if he survived it he
would never go soldiering again, and if he lived to recover, that he
wonld baild a church to the God of his white father. The wounded
on all sides were moaning and orying out for water, and the jackals
kept flitting about like foarlegged ghouls, tearing the dead, and
coming oloser and oloser to the living, and were only kept off by
slones fecbly thrown at them.

Next morning an old man and woman oame to the battlefiald
carrying s basket end a pot of water. To every wounded msn the
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latter gave a plece of joari bread and a drink of water. This revived
Skinner, but as the woman was a Chumarin (an outeaste} the Subah-
day, who wag & high-class Rajpit, wounld take nothing from her hands,
saying that a little more or less suffering was nothing, and that he
preferred to die unpolluted,

Skinner wag eveniually rescued by a party of the Unisra Rijah's
men, who came to the field to bury the dead, and send the wounded
into camp. The poor Subahdar now got some waier, and he and
Skinner and the rest were lifted in gheets and taken to the Rajah’s
on¢ampment, After o month the chief gave Skinner his liberty.
Tt is pleasant to learm that the brave Bubahdar also recovered, and
that Skinner sent the poor Clwmarin woman a pregent of a thousand
rupees, and a mesdage that he considered her in the light of a mother.

His wound now obliged Skinner to take leave, and in February he
went down to Caleutta, where he stayed several months with his
sieter, Mrs, Ternpleton, returning to his daties in the month of
January, 1801. In the May following he was engaged in the storm
of Sounda, having in the interval been transferred from the Second to
the Third Brigade, which, under Pedron, had been entrusted with thiz
attack, The column to which Skinner was attached lost three officers
and 1,000 men killed and wounded, but captured Lakwa Déida’s guns.
The easualties are Skinner’s, and the prudent reader will do weil to
divide sll his figures by three or four, and sometimes more; but in
this sketeh they are all given as he estimates them. After the vietory
Skinner returned with his corps to Aligarh.

Two months later he was again sent on aclive service, this time
agninst George Thomas, The Third Brigade was now commanded by
Louis Bourguien, an officer for whom Skinner had no respect what-
ever. The events of the war have already been very fully detailed
{chiefly from Skinner's memoirs), and need not be repeated ; although
it may be noted thet Skinner considers the battle of Georgegarh the
severest one in which he was present during his military career. Later
‘on he had & creditable shave in securing for Thomas the terms which
enabled him to surrender with honour to himself, and Skinner's con-
duct on this oceasion, unagsumingly related by himself, is worthy of
the highest praise.

In March, 1802, Skinner, who had been posted back to his old .
brigade, the Second, accompanied Perron to Ujjain, and wae present
at the memorable Darbar when Daulat Rdo Bindhia’s intended
treachery was averted by the cunning and precantion of Parron.
Skinner returned to Hindustan with the General, and a period of
comparative inaction followed, till war broke out with the English in
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Augnst, 1803. On the 28th of that month all the British subjects in
Perron’s brigades were summarily dismissed tho service, and a few
days later Skinner joined General Linke’s camp, under circumstances
which his dark complexion rendered gomewhat mortifying to the
amour propre of a gallant man. DPut this was compensated by the
treatment he received from the Commander-in-chief, who took & great
fanoy to him, and shortly afterwards, when 2,000 of Perron’s Hindu-
gtani horse came over to the English after the battle of Delhi,
appointed him fo the command. On this occasion ceowrred an inei-
dent which shows how Skinner was beloved by hig goldiery. When
the troopers were asked whom they would have for their commander,
with one voice they shouted—* Sikander Sahib,” that being the
appellation, half name, half sobriguet, given Bkinner by the Natives.
His own cognomen they pronounced Is-kinner, which they changed
into Sikander, associated in their minds with Alezander the Great, as
a compliment to Skinner's dauntless valour, which was a bye-word
amongst them.

‘With Skinner’s subsequent career it is not in the provines of this
compilation to deal. Perron’s 2,000 Hindustani horse became a
fameus British irregular cavalry -corps, known as Skinner’s Horse,
or more familisrly and affectionately as The Yellow Boys. They and
their leader covered themselves with glory during the next thiriy
venrs, and their exploits and achievements won for Skinner the sub-
stantive rank of Lieutenant-Colonel in the British Army, and the
coveted distinetion of the C.B. A valuable jaghir in the Aligarh
district was also conferred upon him. For many years his head-
quarters were at George Thoras's old capital of Hansi (near to whieh
some of his descendants are still living), and he performed able service,
although his after life was not unchequered with some diseppoint-
ments which he did not deserve, He made a host of friends, and
found many admirers, amongst them such distingnished men as Lord
Lake, Sir John Malcohn, Lord Metcalfe, Lord Minto, the Marquis of
Hastings, Lord Combermere, and Lord William Bentinek. Tt is
goodly roll of pairons and acquaintances for the offspring of a Com-
pany’s ensign and a Rajputni girl, and one whose only intreduction to
high society was his own sterling worth !

Many anecdotes are related of Skinner, but only two or three can
be here recorded. Perhaps his most remarkable characteristic was
his modesty and utter contempt of all assumption. To the end of his
life an old spoon was placed on his breakfast table every morning to
remind him of his own humble origin and early days. In fulfilment
of the vow he made on the battlefield of Unifra, to build & chureh +
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the God of his father if his life were spared, he erscted the edifice of
St. James at Delhi, at a cost of £20,000, and in the same spirit of
modest humility before noted, often expressed a desire that when he
died he should be buried, not within it, but under the door sill, so that
nll persons entering might trample upon “ the chief of sinnaers.”

Skinner’s domestic babits were in some respects more Muhammadan
than Christian, and he left behind him a numerous family by sundry
 wives, of whom he had at least fourteen., His eldest son, Hercules
Skinner, wag educated in England, and through the influence of Lord
William Bentinck received a commission in the Hydrabad Contin-
gent, much jo his father’s delight, In 1836 Colonel Skinner was
confirmed, and during his latter years was sincerely pious, constantly
studying the Bible, and preparing himeelf for his end. He died at
Hénsi on the 4th of December, 1841, aged sixty-thres years, and was
buried there with military honours. But a little Jater his remaing
were disinterred, and carried to Delhi fo be deposited by the side of
his dearly loved friend and comrade, William Fraser (brother to his
biographer), under the altar of St. James's Churcl. It had been hig
wish to be buried near Fraser, and it was felt proper that this wish
should be fulfilled.

On the 17th of February 1842, accompanied by the whole of his
corps, and a great eoncourse of people, the coffin wag carried from Hénsi
to Sitaram-ka-Sarai, on the outskirts of Delhi, Here all that was
mortal of the gallant old adventurer was met by the civilians and
military officers of the station, and a vast multitude from the city, and
g0 escorted fo its final resting-place. * Nome of the Emperors of
Hindustan,” said the Natives, © were ever brought into Delhiin such
state as Stkander Sahib !”

SRINNER, RoBERT, Major.—Robert Skinner was the younger brother
of Colonel James Skinner, He entered Perron’s army in November,
1800, with an ensign’s commission, and was posted to do duty with
his brother's battalion. The introduction of the young subaltern to
his men wag a characteristic one. The elder Bkinner called his most
trusty Native officers together, fine old soldiers, with searred faces and
grizzled beards, and steady, intrepid fellows every one of them, Then
he drew himself up in military fashion, and pointing to Robert, said,
“This iz my brother; see ye be his protectors!” The veterans,
stroking their beards, and earrying their hands on their foreheads, -
replied with grave emphasis—"* On our heads be it!"" James Skinner
was not quite confident of his brother’s diseretion, and gelected this
method of safeguarding his inexperience,
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Robert Skinner was present at the attack on Ram Pal Singh's fort
near the Chambal, where he was wounded by a bullet in the neck, and
obliged to return to Aligarh to recover. He rejoined his brother after
the defeat of Uniira, and was soon afterwards promoted to the rank
of lieutenant, and given the command of s battalion in the Becond
Brigade under Pohlman. The next occasion on which the two
brothers served side by side was in the war against George Thomas,
At the battle of Georgegarh the following incident oscurred, touchingly
related by Fraser in Skinner’s memoirs ; ** James and Robert Skinner
were engaged at different parts of the field, so that neither knew how
the other fared. The cannonade was so fierce and contintous, and
the slaughter so great, that al! was emoke and earnage, and there was
little sommunieation between the different battalions engaged. When
the battle cessed, 8 report came te James that his brother had been
killed, whilst s similar one reached Robert as-to James, Both, moved
by cne impulse, ran to the bloody field, without thinking of rest or
refreshment, and sought all over fox the body of the brother, but in
the darkness, amidat the thonsands of corpses, torn and mutilated by
the cannon shot, neither found what he sought, and after a weary
and fruitless search, they returned to the tent of their commanding
officer o make their report. By a singular chanee they entered from
opposite gides at the same moment, and the first thing that met their
eyes was the objeot on which their thoughts were dwelling. They
saW nothing else, but ran and embraced, ealling out each other’s names
before the officers that filled the tent”

Robert Bkinner was engeged at the siege and storm of Hénsi, and
st the latter led one of the three assanlting columng. In the hand fo
hand street fighting he approached so olose to Thomas on one oces-
sion, that ** he got & out at him, bat hia armour saved Thomse.” Ii
was chamcteristio of Thomss's generons naimre that after his sur-
render he was * partionlarly gracious to the younger Bkinner, whom
he embraced, and showed him the cut he had received from him on
his belt.?

On the oocurrence of the war with the Englich in 1808, RBobaert
Bkinner, after being dismissed from Perron's army, repaired to
Bardhina, and took service with the Begum Bomrn, and when General
Lake arrived at Sikandra was deputed by that lady to make ferms for
her, which he did successfully. Saubsequently Skinner entered the
Company’s service, and was given the local rank of lieutenant, and
appoinied to the oavalry corps his brother commanded. In this he
oontinued fo serve for many years, performing excelient services, and
witning many encomiums. In 1815 James BSkinner, with. the
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generosity of disposition and brotherly nffection which so distingnished
his nature, desired to sever from his corps 2 portion to be made inte
& sepurate command for his brother, whoee intereste e thus hoped
to forward. But Lord Hastings, the Governor-General, preferred the
foree being left intact, and Bobert Skinner remained in command of
the second reghwent in if, bub was promoted to the rank of loeal
Major. In 1819 the Government granted him in perpetuity a small
Jaghir in the distriet of Aligarh ; but he did not live to enjoy it long,
for his death ocourred in 1821, before he had reached his fortieth
year,

Smrrn, Lewis FErpivanp, Masor,—Major Lewis Ferdinand Smith,
a4 the historian of the military adventures of Hindustan, and as an
adventurer himgelf, and a writer of considerable ability, deserves a far
more complete biography than can, unhappily, be compiled; for he
wae & modest soldiery man, whe preferred to write of the achieve.
ments of others, not of his own deeds. Of his carly career little is
recorded. He was the gon of Major Lewis Smith, an officer in the -
Honourable Company’s service, and entered Sindhin’s army during the
time that De Boigre wag in command, though at what precise date it
is impossible to say. He evidently kunew De Boigne well and inii-
mately, for in 1796 and 1797 he eoptributed two excellent letters, de-
seriptive of the General's lifo and career, to the Calcutia Telegraph—
a, eurious uame for s newspaper in the last contury, although, so far
back as 1767, Indgeworth had invented his Telelograph, contracted
into Tellograph, “a machine which desoribes words at & distance,”
This digression is, however, parenthetical. - In the two lelters alluded
to, Bmith indieates that hehad & long daily intercourse with De Boigne,
Hia first independent command on active service seems to have been
in 1798, when be defeated the forces of the Bhopal State in an engage-
ment, when he wag at the head of a batialion of infaniry and 100
cavalry. In December of the following year he was entrusted with
the conduet of & more considerable campaign. An impostor named
Sultan Shah gave himself out to be Ghulam Kider, the misereant
who blinded the Emperor Shah 'Alamin 1788, and whom he declared
had never been killed, but escaped and reached Meces, Sultan
Sbab, claiming this personality, pretended he had been ordered
by the Prophet to recover Hindustan from the Maréthés, and
re-establish the Muhammadan Empire. He appeared in arms in the
provinece of Saharanpur, where Le was opposed by a Marthé officisl
named Ramchander Palkia, whom he easily defeated. The éclaé- of
- thig vietory brought him a number of followers, and Perron found it
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'necessary to send Major Smith with thres battalions against him.
' Bmith was strengthened by some of the Begum Somru's troops, and
the combined foree marched against Sultan Shah, and on the 22nd of
- November, 1799, came upon him at the village of Délun, near the Kali
N4df. Bmith st once crossed the river, but the Begum’s battalions
' remained where they wers, ¥ for more security,” as & contemporary
chronicler quaintly puts it. An sction tock place, and the Impostor's
. army, which consisted of 10,000 Robhillas, 400 cavalry, and some small
field pieces ahowed poor fight. Bmith advanced quickly to within
grape-ghot range, and then poured several discharges into the enemy,
who forthwith tock to flight, and were chased for a considerable
distance.

The next record of Smith’s services is during the war with George
Thomag, in which bis achievements pt first were less satisfactory, He
wh8 in command of a battalion of Bourgnien's Brigade, and de-
tached with this and two others to beseige Georgegarh, whilst the
Colonel followed Thomas on a wild-goose chase into the Sikh country.
The latter doubled back, shook off his pursuars, and swooped down on
Bmith, with a greatly superior numerical force, Bmith at once raised
the sisgs, and retreated upon Jhajjar. * Why Thomas did not follow
ms,” he writes in his book, * I cannot say. If he had continued the
purenit I must have lost all my guns, and my party would have heen
completely destroyed, But Thomas spared me asnd remasined af
Georgegarh.” Bmith was rescued from his perilonaly weak position
by hie brother’s sirrival nexi dey; but he did not forget Thomas’s
moderation, and amply repaid it. He was present throughout the whole
of the sampaign, and seccompanied Bourguien to Héngi; and when the
latter had * subdued the garrison with gold, which in India is more
irresistible than in Europe,” Bmith came forward to assist Thomas to
obtain honourable terms of surrender.

In 1808 Smith accompanied Dudrenec’s Brigade to the Decoan, and
lnter in the year returned with it to Hindustan, and surrendered to
Colonsl Vandeleur at Mattra, & fow days after the battle of Delhs,
availing himeelf of the Governor-General's proclamation offering
pensions to all British eubjects in the Marith#é employ who resigned
their posts, and being swarded one of Re. 1,200 & month. I have
lost,” he writes, * the hopea of an independent fortune, which I
would have acquired from my rank, the result of my long service, in
spite of Perron’s injustice ; and I should have etarved had it not been
for the political and munificent generosity of the Most Noble the
Governor-General in allowing liberal provisions to the British
{ officers, who ware obliged to quif Beindia's servios on the declaration
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of war. We should have been wanting in principle, and in duty |
our sountry, had we continued to serve its enemics.” Besides beir
the author of “A Bketch of the Regular Corps in the Bervice of 1l
Native Prindes of Indis,” Bmith contributed several papers to il
Agiatie Annual Begister and other publications, for his style of con
poeiticn ean easily be recognised in many of the “ Newslettern
which appeared in Indian newspapers during the time that Perrc
flourished.

Surrn, Exnrus Frirx, Carraaw.—Captain E. F. Smith wae
younger brother of Lewis Fordinand SBmith, and was born in Rohi
khand in 1777, He entered Bindhia’s service at & very early age, n
left on obtaining & commission in the 86th Hegimewi. This, hov
over, he subseqnently resigned in grder to remain with his brother, an
o this end re-entered Sindhis's vervice in 1600. Boon after this he w1
engaged in the reduction of two rebel baitalions, eommanded by th
widow of Captain Le Marchant, who had refnsed submission to Perron
orders. He then obtained an appointment in the Hindustani Hors
and aecompanied Bourguien on the exmpaign against George Thoma
‘When his brother was defeated at (Qeorgegarh, and obliged W In
back on Jhajjar, Emilius burried to the relief at the head of his eavalry
and * performed an astonishing rapid movement of eighty miles in 1o
bhours, fraiernal affection giving impualae to his conrse.” Two days Late
bhe commandad the lefi wing of Bourguien's army af the baitls ¢
Georgegarh ; and whilst gallantly leading it to the eharge, his log wa
severoly ahatiered by a four-pounder eannon-ball. He was removed &
Jhajjar, where hs bore the tortures of an upakilful operstion witl
manly fortitnde, but sank under the fever which the wound and shoel
to the system indueed. He died on the 8th of October, 1901, age
twenty-four years. Just before he expired he said with s sigh—* Ak
why did I not fall on the plains of Egypt with my regiment. I shoul
then bave died without s regret.® He foll & sacrifice fo his srdon
fox bis profeasion. He was & young man of fine character, aflee
tionaie disposition, and good ednestion. Bomething of & poset, t00
for many fogitive pieces from his pen found » eorner in the Calenth
periodicals of the day. ,

Bowsmx, or Bowev.—His infamy rather than his schievement:
have rescued the name of this notorions adventarer from oblivion, aod
awsrded it an unenviable niche in Indian kistory. Sombre’s res
nane was Walter Beinhard, and be was reputed to be the son of 1
butcher at Salusburg, whare he was born in 1720. As the sge of thirt)

A
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he came out to Pondicherry on board a French frigate, from which °
he deserted in order to enlist in the French army of Southern India.
T8 hide his identity he assumed the name of Bomers as s nom ds
guerre, but his saturnine features and lowering mien soon caused its
corruption into the sobriguet of SBombre, which in tarn was twisted by
Native pronunciation into Sornru.

Sombre appears to have spent some years in the Carnatie and
S.uthern India before he made his way to Bengal, Arrived here, he
first of all enlisted as & private soldier in a Swiss battalion in the
employ of the Company, but eighteen days’ experience of it snfficed,
and he crossed the boundary into Chandernagors, and was appointed
a sergeant in Mons, Law's force. But ho wae scon discontented with
this, and onee more abandoning his allegiandce, proseeded to the Upper
Provinces, where he assumed the Native style of dress, and entered
the servies of Surhj-ud-Daula, the Nawéb of Bengsl, a8 a sommon
troopbr. This eitnation proved even less to his liking than his previons
ones, aud for the next two or three years he appears to have led a
restless and vagabond existence, till 1760, when he joined the rebel
Faujdar of Parnea, by whoo he was appointed to the command of a
imall foree, with instructions to drill it in the Enuropsan method and
bring it into discipline, In a fow months the Fawjddr snffered a
revorse, which naturelly determined 'Bombre to desert him. The
adventurer now socepted a mimilar post under an Armenian name,
Gregory, & member of a Calentta family of repute, and the virtual
minister of Kassimx Ali Khén, who had succeeded Burij-ud-Daula ag
Nawib of Bengal. Fortune favouring Sombre, he was promoted to
the command of two battalions, In 1768 a ruptore occurred betwesn
Kasgim Al and the Company, and the former, enraged at the ill
sncoess of hig arms, treacherously attacked and captured a lurge body
of Englich residents at Patna, and in a spirit of wanton and blood-
thirsty revenge, ordered them to be executed.

But the deed was too dark and foul a one for any of Eassim Ali's
Native officers to nnderiake, and it wae reserved for Sombre to ingra-
tiste himsslf with his master by carrying ont the erime, The details
of this * execrable villainy  are thus given in the * Annual Register.”
% Bomers invited above forty officers and other gentlemen, who were
smongst thess nunfortunate prisoners, to eup with him on the day he
bad fixed for the exsoution, and when his guests were in full security,
protected as they imagined by the lawa of hospitality, as well as by
the right of prisoners, he ordered the Indians under his command to
fall upon them ond ent their throats. Even these barbarous soldiers
revolted at the orders of this savage European. They refused at first
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fo obey, and desired that arms should be given to the Englisb, and
that they wounld then engage them, Somers, fixed in his villainy,
compelled them with blows and threats to the accomplishment of
that odious service. The unfortunste vietims, though thus suddenly
atiacked ned wholly unarmed, made s loog and brave defence, and
with their platea and bottles even killed some of their ssaailants, bus
in the end they were all slanghtered. Proceeding then, with 8 file of
Bepoys, to the prison where a number of the prisoners then remsined,
Lhe dirested the massacre, and with his own hands assisted fn the
inhmman elaoghter of one bundred and forty-eight defenceless Euro.
peans confined within its walls-~an appalling act of strocity that has
stamped his name with infamy for ever.” Justice requires it 10 be
added that in ope account of this tragedy, it Is asserted ihat
Sombre’s own lLife would have been forfeited had bo refused to earry
out Kassim Ali's commands.

EBritish troops were soon marching op from Calentta to svenge this
foul deed, and Kassim Ali Kbin's army was defested. But before
this happened Borobre had been invited by the Nawib Wazir of Oudh
to enter his service, and seising the opporiunity of Kaseim Ali's dis-
trees, renounced his allegiance, extorted by violenee the arrears of pay
due to him, and then marched his iwo battalions to Luckpow, where
be entered on his new appointment.

By the end of 1788 Bombre's force had inereased o four battalions
of infantry, one of eavairy, and & strong eomplement of artillery, and
their commander enjoyed & high influense at Court, until war broke
out with the English, and the Nawib Wazir was defeated at the battle
of Buxar, and eompelled to sue for peace, when one of the prineipal
eonditions insisted on by the English was the sarrender of Sombre.
The Nawib sccepted the stipulsiion in theory, but pointed ocut that,
in practiee, Bombre was in command of an armed foree, which made
hig spprehension imposesible. He proposed, as an aliernative, to
poison or amsasginaie the adventurer, but this suggestion was deelined.
Meanwhile Sombre, suspecting the tenor of the protracted negotin-
tions, took adwvantage of the deley o surround and plmder the '
Nawib’s Begums, who had been entrusted to bim for protection, and
also to rob his late master, Eaasim Ali, who was at the time & refuges
at the Oudh Court. Having thus sequired s large sum of money by
methods perfectly in keeping with his past eareer, be seeured the
fidelity of his force by psying it up in full, and then marebed to
Rohilkhand. Here he entered the service of the Afghan chief, Hafix
Baimat Ali-the bemevolent BRohills ruler of Macanlsy's essay on
Warren Hastings. But fear of the English soon drove him to leave
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the neighbonrhood, and marching to Dig, he enlisted nnder the banners
of the Jat Béjah of Bhartpur. His ednnection with this potentato was
of a very short duration, for in a foew months he was serving the Rijah
of Jaipur in s similar capaeity, but the Rajpiit prinee soon dismissed
& mercenary whom he found too villainous for his service, and Sombre
finally tendered his sword to Najaf Ehén, the Wazir of Shah *Alam,
the Emperor of Delhi, and & nobleman who seldom refused the pro-
posalg of any military adventurers, and who agreed to pay Bombre
Ras, 65,000 a month for the services of his party.

Up to this period of his carser Sombre had served twelve or fourteen
different masters, but he remained in the servics of the Court of
Delhi until his death, This fizity of employment was probably due to
- hig having been assigned a rich jaghir or estate at Bardhéna, a dis-
triot some forty miles north of the capital, where be built and fortified
his headquarters, and gettled down.

From the time that he had quitted civilisation and Chandernagore,
Bombre had adopted the nalive drees, and with it the custom of keep-
ing & harem., At Bardhéna he fell in love with & very benutiful, and
eke remarkable woman, concerning whose pareptage there are various
sccounts, One historian asserts that she was the deughter of a
docayed Mughal nobleman, another that shs was a EKashmiri dancing-
gitl, and a third that she was by birth & Syudani, orlinesl descendant
of the Prophet. Bombre was already married to a womsan of the
Massalman faith, who was still alive ; but this did not prevent him
from ropeating the ceremony with this girl who had taken his fancy.
His connection with her laid the foundation of the fortunes of his
family, for the Begum Somrn, as she came io be called, was not less
notable for her heanty than for ber extraordinery cleverness and force
of character, Bhe scon gained a great ascendancy over Sombre, and
it was in a great measure owing to ber influence that he abandoned
his roving life and settled down permanently at BardhAna.

Sombre was an illiterate man who could neither read nor write,
though Le spoke Persian and Hindustani fluently. It is to his eredit
that he was never ashamed of his humble origin, and although his
servioes were eagerly courted and bid for, and he enjoyed s pogition of
considerabls political power in the country, he despised show, and
preferred s plain unostentations mode of life. But with this single
gtatement the category of his virtues is begun and ended. He pos-
seesed & certain degree of low and crafty intelligence, but was utterly
destitute of military ekill, martial epirit, or parsonal courage, whilst,
considering the possibilities open fo him, he was singularly devoid of
entorprise and ambition. Shortly after entering Najaf Khan’s service,
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he was offered a large and important Jaidad, or military assignmen
of territory, whioh wonld Lave raised him to a princely position, bui
he preferred & monetary monthly payment, and refused the proposal.
It is probable he feared the risk involved in ocenpying an extended
territory necessitaling the distribution of his troops, and preferred to
keep them together and concentraied sboui his person. For it is
koown that after the massacre of Patna he suffered agonies of
remorse and fear, and lived in the miserable and constant terror of
being betrayed into the hands of the English to expiate his ctime. To
prevent such a fate he always earried poison abomt his person, with
which o terminate his existence if necessary, and if his courage served
him.

Bombre's disposition wae merciless, eruel, and bloodthirsty, and he
was totally wanting in honour and fidelity. Avaricions and unsern-
pulous to an astounding degree, be bartered his sword to the highest
bidder, with the eagerness of a huckster disposing of perishable goods,
and changed his fealty with the same unconcern that be changed his
ooat, His force wae offidered by Europeans, but few, if any, of them
were men of respectability, and those he engaged were generally the
very dregs and drosa of society. The consequence was that his troops
were generally in a state of pronounced matiny and insnbordination,
eommitting every imaginable ouirage npon the persons of their officers,
whom they despised. They seldom obiained their pay until they had
put their gommander into confinement, and msade him dig up his
hidden trensure, if he had any, or borrow from bankers if be had
none. If the troops were impatient it was their custom to divest
Bombre of bis trousers and straddle him neross a hot gnun. When one
battalion had extracted its dues, he was ofien handed over to another
o be further squeezed In later years the Begum herself was suljected
to the starving proeees, but Colonel Bleeman is the sathority for
stating that she was pever actually grilled on s gun. The same
writer states that it was Bombre's invariable rle when engaged in
active service t¢ draw up at a safe disiance and await the course of
events. If victory deelared for the enemy he sold his unbroken furce
to the foe for & cash payment; if his own friends won, he prompily
assisted them in plandering, and so secured sll the tangible fruits of
vietory.

Lewis Ferdinand SBmith has left on record a seathing eriticiam of
Sombre's eharacter as a soldier, and of the merits and qualities of his
eorpe. “ Sombwe's parly,” he writes, “ have never been eonspicuous
They never lost a gun and never gained one, until they weve defeated
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by the British army near Adjants Ghét (Assaye). But they wegg
remarkable for their excellent retreats. Sombre made it & rule in
evary sction to draw his men out in line, fire a few shots, and then
form equare and retreat. This rule his party has ever pince adhered
to with inflexible exactitude ; by which singular mode of prudent war-
fare they have acquired no laurels, yei preserved their reputation.,
They have been the most mutinous treope in India, and woe to the
unfortunate European who was compelled by his necessities to enter
into this party. Disgrace, if not death, atiended them, from the fre.
quent revolta of the soldiers, when they regularly wreaked their
ire with clubs upon the shoulders of their European officers.”

The latter years of Bombre's life were rendered a perfect purgatory
to him by his distrust and suspicion of all around him. He died at
Agra on the 4th of May, 1778, sged fifty-eight years, and wns buried
in the garden of his residence there. But three years later his widow,
the Begum Bomru, on beiog baptized and received info the Roman
Catholic faith, oaused his remeing fo be disinterred snd deposited in
the churchyard of that city. The following is the Poringese in-
seription over his resting-place, in Padretols, Agra :—

AQUIIAZ ' EO A0S4
OWALT DE MAYO
ERREINHA NOANNO
RD. MORR . ~ DE 1718

Altor Sombre's death the command of his parly, ite pay, and the
jaghir of BardhAna, were ¢ontinued to the Begum Somra, who was
always known by that name, although on her entry into the church she
had been christened Joanna Nobilis. By means of her uncommon
ability, gallantry, and masculine foroe of character, she proved herself
equal to the responsibility. Bhe gave the command to a German
pamed Pauly, perhaps becamse he wias a countryman of her
husband, but, it has been suggested, from more tender reasons,
and gradnally entertained s sonsiderable body of Europeans, both as
officers and to work her ariillery, which numbered forty pieces of
cannon, These Enropeans were of all nationalities, English, French,
Clermans, Bwise, Portugese, Armenians, and half-castes, many of them
being deserters from the Company’s service. At one time the Begum
employed over two bundred in her force,

But she was unfortunale in her officers, for the respectable ones all
left her, and the others were & worthless, dissolute set of men, whose
outrageous conduct often incited the troops fo muliny, Fauly was
murdered ¥ by a bloody process™ in 1788 ; Baonrs, who sncoseded him,
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retired, a0 next did Evane and Dudrenee, all three disgusted with the
% beastly habits” of their European subordinates. It was abont this
time that George Thomas rose to a position of importance, if not the
actosl conirol of her foree ; be, too, was forced to leave. It will be
remembered that he was the officer concerned in the spirited sneeour
which the Begum afforded to the Emperor Bhah 'Alam, when be was
trying to reduce Najaf Kuli Kbin in 1789. Thomas departed about
1798, when the command of the party devolved npon Le Vasscalt, a
gallant and good-looking soldicr, with whom the Begum carried on an
intrigue. Bhe was presently married to him by Fsther Gregorio, a
Carmelite monk, Major Bernier and Colonel Baleur being the witnesses
of the marriage, which was kept secret. Colonel Sleeman stales that
Le Vaasoult proposed for her hand as the best method of securing his
ascendancy over Thomas, to0 whom he was always hostile. Le Vas-
soult was a gentleman by birth and edueation, and a scldier of hononr-
able feelings; but he was stern and baughty by nstore, and ¢o
thoroughly despised bhis subordinaies that, after his marriage, he
refngsed to associate with them on equal grounds, or admit them to &
seat at his table. The Begum in vain endesvoured to persusde her
husband to alier his demeanour, urging that their personal safely
required that the officers should be concilinted, Boi ber warnings .
" were disregarded. They proved too true; Le Vassoult's subordinstes
took umbrage, snd deelared that no man shonld eommand them who
would not meet them on ferms of perfect social equality. The troope
sided with the officern, and determined io depose the Begum, and
elevate Balthazar Sombre, & son of SBombre by his first wife, to the
government. This woman was still livicg, nor, indeed, did she die
fall 1888, when she must have been over s hundred years old. Bhe
was buried at Bardhips, the cemetery of which place, it is carions to
note, contained the bones of many eentenarians,

Maiters with the mutlineers were brought to s erisis by Le
Vaseoult’s harsh treatment of 8 German officer named Legois (s friend
of George Thomas), who was degraded for endesvouring to dissusde the
Begnm from making an aitack on Harikns, This arbitrary abase of
power disgusied the troops, who had fought under Legois for many
years, and were incenced st seeing bim superseded by s juuior officer.
Afler remonsirating in vain wishk Le Vaasoult, they suddenly broks
oat into open mutiny. The Begum and ber husband now became
frighlened, and determined to seek sn asylnm in the Company's
taritiory. Neither of them understood Epglish, but Le Vassould,
with the aid of a grammasr and dictionary, managed to eoramunieste
his wishes 10 Colone MeGowan, who commanded the advanes post
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of the Britich army at Antdpshahr, After some diffienlty sanction
was ascorded, but a stipnlation was made that Le Vassoult shounld be
{reated as o prisoner of war on parole, and reside with his wife at the
French settlement of Chandernagore. This was in May, 1705,

The Begum's troops had, however, obtained information of what
was going on, and immediately eummoned Balthazar Sombre—or, asg
he was more commonly called, from a title bestowed on him by the
Emperor Shah 'Alam, Zafar Yab Khan—from Delhi to sssume the
government of the BardhAna State. Meanwhile Le Vassoult and the
Begnm managed to slip away, but their depariure being discovered,
& detachment was sent in pursuit to oapture them. An agreement
existed between the Begnm and Le Vassoult, that in the event of
their falling into the hands of the mutineers, neither hould survive the -
other. In the eommotion that ensued, consequent upon their being
overtaken and surrounded, the Begum drew a dagger, aud in a balf-
hearted way slashed herself slightly in the breast, Her nttendants
sesing the blood flow shouted out thas their mistress had killed herself.
Le Vassoult, who was riding a short distance ahead, hearing the
tamult, inguired what it arose from. Ho was told that his wife was
dead. A second time he repeated the guestion, and received the
eame answer. He then drew a pistol from his bolster,’and although
he might easily have galloped off and saved himself, placed the
muzzle to his month and pulled the trigger, The ball passed through
his brain, and he sprang from his saddle a full foot into the air, before
he fell dead to the ground. His corpee was subjected to every in-
dignity and insult that the grosa and bestial imagination of his officers
and men could econceive, and left to rot, nnburied, on the ground,

The Begum, who was only alightly injured, was carried back
s captive to Sardbdna, and kept chained to a gun for seven days, and
deprived of all food except such na wos conveyed to her by stealth by
her fomale servants. Balthazar Sombre was seated on the masnad.
Heo was a detestable compounnd of ignorance, weakness, eruelty, and
debanchery, and it was not long before it became evident his rule
had not a single element of stability.

The actual insirnment of his deposition, and the Begum's re-
eatablishment in power, was George Thomas, with whom she found
means to communicate. He generously laid aside old animosities,
and responded to her appeal for help. Balthazar¥Bombre was sent
a prisoner {0 Delhi, where he died, some”asay,by poison,in 1808,
leaving a daughter, subsequently married to Colonel Dyce, whose
son becams famous as the principal personage in the great Dyee-
Sombre law-sgit.
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The command of the, Begum’s force was now bestowed on Colone!
Baleur, who, with thirty other European officers, signed a docoment
swearing fidelity and allogiance to their mistress. As illustrating the
¢lass of men who filled the posts of command in this party, it may be
mentioned that Baleur was the only one who eould write his name,
most of the others affixing their seals, whilst & fow, t0 show the
superiority of their acoomplishments, subseribed two or three letters
of the alphabet, not neceassarily those representing their proper initials,
bai such as they happened to be able to form. The eovenant was
drawn out by a Mubammadan scribe in Persisn, and aa his conscientious
scruples prevented him from acknowledging Christ as the son of God,
the precious document was soperscribed—* In the nsme of God, and
of His Majesty Christ ! ¥

The Begum never publiely declared Ler marriage to Le Vassoult,
and immedistely after his death resumed her former name. Bo
anxious was she to bury in oblivion an episode which certainly svinced
woakness in & woman usually strong minded, and already well
advanced in years, that she stipuiated in her will that her heir,
whose family pastronymie was Dyece, should in addition sssume the
name of Bombre, To complete the story of poor Le Vassounlt's fate it
shoald be added that doubis have been cast npon the bond fides of the
sgreement which the Begnm originaled, that in the event of eaptare
st the hands of the mutineers neither should survive the other. This
and her subsequent mock wound have been denomneed as s piace of
treachery on ber part, designed to rid herself of her hasband. There
is, bowever, no actual proof of this, and Colonel Sleeman, writing in
1836, mentions that be heard ** from grave old Native gentlemen, who
were long in her service, that there really was too moch trath in the
story of her intimacy with the gallaot yonng Frenchmag, though God
forgive them for saying so of & lady whose salt ihey had eaten for so
many years,” Under these circumstances the inhuman atrocity of
tiae above suggestion is hardly eoncecivalla

Colonel Saleur raised the Begum Bomru's party io siz battalions of
infantry, inereased the artillery, and added a eavalry force. The eorps
is often mentioned in the politieal history of the nexi eight years, bui
it never distinguished iiself, nor did the Begum lapse s second time
from the path of prudence. Amidst the kaleidoscopie changes of
Hindustan, she managed to preserve her power and independence
intact, uotd her wrmy, famons in peace, if not in war, met the
Epglish en the phain of Asmye. Buot even berv forinns favoured
them, for four of her five battalions, being left 10 guard the Marithi
camp, made good their escape, and only one waas destroyed.
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Just before the declaralion of war in 1808, Robert Skinner joined
the Begum's service, and after the fall of Aligarh was deputed to
arrange for her submission $o General Lake. James Skinner tells the
story so well in his memoirs thaf its quotation eannot be resisted.
*When the Begunm came in person {o pay her respéois to General
Lake, an incident occurred of a enrious and characteristio desoription.
Bhe arrived at head-quarters just after dinner, and being carried in her
palenquin at ones to the reception tent, the General sams ont to meef
and receive her. As the adhesion of every petty chieftain was, in
those days, of consequenoce, Lord Lake was not a little pleased at the
varly demonstration of the Begum's loyalty, and being a little elevated
by the wine which had just been drunk, he forgot the novel ciroum.
stance of it being a Native female, instead of some well-bearded chief,
8o he gallantly advanced, and, to the uiter dismay of her attendants,
took her in his arms and kissed her! The mistake might have been -
swkward, bat the lady’s presence of mind put all right. Receiving
courteously the proffered attention, she tnrned calmly round to her
astonished aitendants and observed, ‘It is the salute of a padre
(priest) to his daughter.”’ The Begum professes Christianity, and thus
the explanation was perfectly in character, though more experienced
spectators might have amiled at the appearance of the jolly red-soated
olergyman exhibited in the person of the General.”

The Begum lived for many years after this in friendly interconrse
with the British. Bishop Heber saw her in 1825, and described her as
4 a very queer locking old woman, with brilliant but wicked eyes, and
the remaine of besuty in her fentures,” * Queer and wicked " she hiad
been in some of her netions, a8 the following aneedote shows. Onpe
day two of her slave girls set fire to her houses at Agra in order to
maks off with their paramours, two soldiers of the guard left in charge
of them. These houses had thatched roofs, and contained all the
Begum’s valuables, The fire was put out witk much difficulty and
great loas of property, and the two elave girls were soon after dis-
covored in the bazaar at Agrs, and brought into the Begum's camp,
Bhs ordered the nflair to be investigated by a dram-head souri-
martial, and in the usual summary fashion. Their guilt being
established they were first of all flogged until they were senseless, and
then buried alive in & pit dug in front of her tent. Another version of
this atrocious story, related in Heber's narrative, states that the girls
wore buried in a hole dog in the floor of the Begum's own chambez,
and that she had ber bed drawn over it, and amoked her hookah
unconcernedly over this living grave, But Colonel Bleeman, who was
at the paine of eifting the story, vouches for the correotness of the
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former version—although it is but one degree less horrible—~which he
‘heard from an old Persian merchant named Ags, to whom the slave
gitla originally belonged. “ The Begum's object,” explained the old
Aga, “was fo make a strong impression upon the turbulent spirit of
her troops by » severe example, and ahs was entirely mccesaful.”

‘When the Begum submitted to the English, her force consisted of
six battalions of infantry, 400 horse, and s party of artillery served
chiefly by Enropeans. She possessed a good arsenal, well stored, and
a foundry for eannon, both built within the walls of the fortress of
Sardhins. The cost of the upkeep of ber miilitary establishment was
about four lakhs of rupees & year, and her other expenses were not
less than two, but the revenues from her jaghir of Sardhina were
sufficient to cover both, When she accepted British protection ber
income increased very greatly, and there were no longer any ealls for
the payment of her trcops, which were disbanded. She thos became
immensely rich, and devoted large sums to charilable and religicus
institutions. Amongst other gifts, she sent to the Pope at Rome
Ea 150,000, to the Arehbishop of Canterbury Be. 50,000, and to the
Bishop of Caleutta Re. 100,000. To Catbolic Misgions in Iodis she
.subgeribed Re. 180,000 ; and for distribntion to the deserving debtors
of Calcutia Re. 50,000. 8he also built s handsome Eoman Catholie
Chorch and a Protestant Chapel at Meerut, to which place she re-
moved her residence during ber latier years. The Roman Catbolie
bishop here was an Italian from Milan, named Julivd Ceear. He
was the medimm of her donation to the Pope, for which he received
kis bishoprie. His Holiness made the Begum’s recognised heir snd
step-grandson—Dyoce-Sombre—a Chevalior of the Order of Chuist,
besides presenting him with a splint from the real eross as a relic.

The Begum was. very diminntive in person, boi possessed a
wonderful dignity of earrisgs, and sn uneommaon resolution of
manner. At Meerut she entertained from time to time severs
years of her life an immense army of pensioners enjoyed her bounty,
and she scquired the charscter of s kind-bearted and benevolent
womsn, Bhe died in 1838, leaving behind her s fortane of £700,000,
a large portion of which was bequeathsd to charities, and the rest to
Mr. Dyee-Sambre, who married an English Iady of title, and his two
sisters, one of whom mumied an English officer, Captain Troup,
snd the other an Italisn genileman, Bignox Babroli.

Boravziasp, Roexer, Coroxxs [known to ihe Natives as Suflsf
Bakib]—Butherland was s Scotchman, snd originally an officer in the
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73rd Regiment, from which he was cashi 1-'& 5 13218
First Brigade in 1750, and in May, 1794, ekgmﬂnt ons
pay of Re. 200 a month Soon after this motm %

he obtained the command of the Third Bngaﬂe, %Qm eath of
Colonel Frémont in 1795 was transferred to that of the Second. When,
at the end of this year, De Boigne retired Sutherland was senior officer
in Hindustan, and acted as chief commander of the troops. Perron-
was, however, coneiderably senior to him, and being in the Deccan
with Daulat Réo Sindhis, had little difionlty in obtaining the snceession
to De Boigne’s appointment, in gpite of all Butherland's endeavours to
gecnre it for himself. This was the beginning of a long and jealous
foud between the two adveniurers, which only terminated with the.
Bootehman's resignation in 1802, It is probable, though not actually
recorded, that Southerland was present at the battles of Pitan and
Merta. In 17968 he was employed in the redustion of some revolted
districts in Bundelkhand, bringing into obedience several petty rijahs,
during which (in Skinner's words) he fought two general actions and
eaptured half-a-dozen forts. His next service was againet Lakwa
Déda at Chitargarh. This was the oocasion when Thomas complained
of Butherland’s conduct in having arranged a eoncerted attack on the
rebel chief over might, and then nnaccountably drawn off his forces
without any aesigned ‘reason. Bkinner records an insident which
bappened during this campaign, and does not rebound very muoh to
Butherland’s eredit, It appeara that during the desultory progress of
the war, Bkinner 'wes one-morning exerciging his horse * in full
armour,” and chaneced to moet Harji Bindhia, a Marithé chieftain,
and a relafive of Daulat Rdo. Harji invited Bkinner to join him in
hia ride to a river close by, whither he was bound, at the request of
the Marfth4 General, Ambaji Inglia, to look for s ford., This ex-
pedilion was subsequently proved to be a snare laid by Ambaji, in
collusion with Lakwa Dida—the enemy he was supposed to be fight-
ing againgt—to bring about the destrnotion of Harji, to whom both the
chiefs were hoslile. As they rode. slong Bkinner's suspicions were
aroused, and he warned Harji, who was attended by 6500 of his men,
to be on his guard. His fonrs were not ill-founded, for almost im-
mediately afterwards they foll into an ambusoade, and were attaoked
by & thonssnd of Lakws DAda's cavalry. Bkinner and Harji im-
mediately offered fight, and eventually succeeded im beating the
enemy off, though not before the former’s horse was wounded by a
sabre cat, and he himself had received two or three sword blows on
the body, from which he was only saved by his armour. Harji was
wonndad. but Bkinner fortanately cut down the man who was sitack.
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ing Lim. Returning to camp, Harji invited Skinner to Lis tent, where

all sat down in Darbar, Ther the chiel arose aud said, “ All those

who fonght with me this doy were my servants, and did but perform

their duty; but you are my friend, and fought for me as a friend.”

He then took & pair of gold bavglea set with diamonds, and put them

;oum! Skinner’s wrists, and slso gave him s sword, a shield, and a fine
orse.

‘When Colonel Sutherlaud beard of this he blamed Bkinner for what
Lad passed, and fold him he should report the eirenmstance of his
accompanying the chief, withont leave, to Perron. BEut a little later
he cansed intimation to be eonveyed to Skinner that if he would give
Lim the horse bo had received from Harji, nothing should be said of
what had happened. Bkinner sent back word he would give the
bangles, but not the Lorse, the sword, or the shield. At this Bather-
land was much incensed, and his anger was increased when he learnt
that Harji bad himself written to Perron praising Bkinner's eonduct.

* Boon after this,” adds Skinner, with quiet satisfsetion, * the Colonel
himself was discovered intriguing with the Maréth4 ehiefs, snd Porron
discharged him, bestowing his eommand on Major Pohlian.” This
.Ancident is related becanse it shows the existence of an old-standiog
quarrel between Sutherland and Skinner, and, in & measare, explaing
some of the strictures the latter, in his memoira, takes oecasion to pass
upon the Scotchman.

Not long after this, Sutherland, baving been furgivea tlrough the
interest of his father-in-law, Colonel Jobn Hessing, was sent to tl:e
Deeean to take over the command of the First Brigade. The side-light
hore is interesting, for it establishes & conneetion by marriage between
Perron and Sutherland, since the General and Hezsing bad mwarried
sisters, In spother part of his memoire Ekinner mentions that Filuze
and Bonrgunien were both related to Perron, but without mentioning
the degree of connection. It wonld thus appear that there was »
reguiar family party in eommand of Bindblia's brigades, fur Perrom,
the two Hesmsings, SButherland, Derridon, ibe Filoze’s, snd Eourguien
must all have been more or less conpecied by marriage ties. Huther-
land, indeed, was nephew by marriage to Perron, having married the
General's niece ; but, deepite this, they eordially hated one another,
and the Frenchman lost no epportunity of mortifying and vexing the
Beotchman, with the object of getting rid of bim, for it did not suit Lis
poliey that his second in eommand shounld be a British subjeet.

Butherland assomed eommand of the First Brigade in 17¢%. Previcus
to this his prineipal services had been the storming and eapture of
Karwir with four battalions in 1705, and the sicge and eapture of Tori
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Fatehpar in 1796, 2t the head of eight battalions. In the Deccan he
wee chiefly engaged in helping Danlat Réo Bindhia to consolidate his
power at Poonsh, and it was not until 1801 that an opportunity
occurred for him to really distinguish himself. In this year Bindhia
returned to Malwa, leaving Sutherland and a portion of the First
Brigade behind to support his interesis at the Deccan capital during
his absenoce. Then came the disaztrous defeat of Ujjain, and Buther-
land was 8¢ once summoned fo his master’s aid. As soon as the rainy
season slackened, and the Narbada becams fordable, Satherland was-
detached to retrieve the defeat sustained in June., With fourteen
battalions of regular infantry and 20,000 Marithi horse he gave battle
to Jaswant Réo Holkar and Amir Khéin on the plain outaide the city
of Indore, where the latter had taken up a strong position. After an
obstinate sontest he gained a complete vietory, drove Holkar and his
troops from their entrenchments, took 98 guns, 160 tumbrils, and all
the baggage, and wound up the exploit by plandering Indore, He
lost 400 men in the action, which was a very severe one. Although a
detailed account of this battle hag been given in the skeich of Perron’s
life, it will not be out of place to quote the following description of is
from the pages of *Pandurang Harl,” which gives & graphie idea of
the fight from a Bindu point of view. Pundurang Hari, it may be
mentioned, was at the time a cavalry officer in Holkar's Maritha
Horse.

“1 had just entered npon my new service when despaiches arrived
with orders for us to march to Indore, Holkers eapital , .. A
Mahratta army eonsists' in general of horse and foot of every neigh-
bouring nation, religion, and costume. It makes s very motley
appearance, &8 it is under mo discipline, and destitute of regular
uniform. Few of the men in the same line, either cavalry or infantry,
have weapons of a like form, Scme are armed with sword and shield,
others with matchlocks or muskets. Some carry bows and arrows,
others spesrs, lances, or war rockets. Many are expert with the
battleaxe, bui the eabre i indispensable to all. The men in armonr,
of whom there are many to make up the variety, eut a very eurions
sppearance. A helmet covers not only the bead and ears, but pro-
tects the shonlders. The body is cased in iron network, or in a thick
quilted vest. They give preference to the two-edged sword before the
curved one used by the Persians and Arabs. . . . Every réjah, prince,
or leader is responsible among the Mahrattas to the Peishwa, or head
of the empire, for his general conduot. He pays tributs for his district,
and attends wher summoned with his quota of men, which ig regu-
lated by his wealih and population. He is supreme in command ov
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his oorpe, which is attached alone to him and to bis fortunes, and sd-
beres to whatever party he supports. . . . Afler a fatiguing march we
reached Indore, the eapital of Jeewant Réo Holker. Our preparations
were now complete, and we ware confident of success. Our cavalry
waé & strange rabbls, monunted on tall and short horses of every eolour
and kind, Saddles were aloays alipping off for want of girths ; strings
fagtened f0 suy old picees of iron by way of Lite, supplied bridles; oid
tarbans served for martingules, and tent ropes for eruppers. The in-
faniry was just as wretchodly aceoutrod ma the eavalry, Everything
was wanting and nothing regular, Here voices might be heard roaring
out for ball, and there for muskets or srms. Those who wers not
foriunate enough to proeure any weapon al all, supplied the deficiency
by a bamboo pole, which they dignified with the designation of & spear.
« - « The eventinl day at length dawned. I swoke early, and opening
my fent, looked abrosd. Al was dark and misty. Soom it was all
alive in the camp, and as the day advanced clamour, turmoil, and
preparation ineressed. The drums rosred on every hand the esll to
srms, The war-elephants, eaparisoned and ready, yelled with im-
patience, and towered loftily over all other Living objecis. The peigh-
ing of horses, the clash of arms, the buxs of impatient voices, the
sounds of eomunand, the march of ithe irregnlar and eonfosed massey
to their stations, was an impressive scene. BSoom the firing of guna,
at first slow and! irregulaz, then more rapidly, convineed me the work
of death had began in some quarter, and it seermed speedily extending
ikself towards the station of my troop, which I had joined, well monntad,
ind with which I remained, with & fluitering heart, in swinl suspense.
The enrrent of batile now rolled elose by me, and aetion som took
wway all refleetion, for we bad envogh npon our banda Our men
wvere all lean kine, and too seantily fed to be muoch besavier than
keletons, Our horses ware in kittle beiter eondition, and when
Scindin's eavalry eame down op us we were knocked off on the ground
wefore we oould strike & blow. In wain I iried to rally and remount
ny men. I suceceded in prevailing uwpon only s few to rally ; the best
wart of them tarned tail and fied without onee looking behind. Thus
he division to which I was attached was speedily disposed of Owur
afantry getting mixed with the cavalry that had been driven back by
icindia, was taken by il for the infantry of that chief, instiead of our
wn, snd the mbre began to eat among thein as if they were & field of
anding eorn. I lnboured im vain to reetify the mistake, and stay the
wnage of our own men. My voice was lost in the seene of desth and
iscord, the resh of rockets, and the groans of the dying. How long
s scens nyight kave continued bedore it eonld have been put an end
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to I eannot tell, if the attention of the eavalry had not been drawn to
something, which even in the heat of batile was truly appalling to the
gight, and made them, even there, think of self-presarvation. A
wounded elephant rushed in among them, mad with the pain of & ball
he had just received, and rolled his anwieldy bulk through and over
the slashed infantry, and among the terrified horsa. Beasat and rider
were overturned and crushed beneath his tread, and all that lay in his
path beeama victims to his fary. This effeciually put a stop to the
havoe the cavalry had begun, as the horses took fright and bore their
riders off the fisld of action, leaving their own broken infantry to be
trampled to death by the enraged beast. At this moment the cavalry
of Beindia charged our artillary and captored it all fogether with onr
baggage. This was decisive. Jeswant Rio Holker saw his world-
eonquering heroas digperse in every direetion, and the battle terminated
in leaving Beindis no enemios in view, the pursued soon leaving their
eonquerors far in the rear. The virtne of leanneas, which served us
o ill in the baitle, was now of singular servioe in making our eseape.”
. Pandurang Hari makes a mistake in describing Sindhia a8 present
in person at the battle, for he was some miles in the rear with his
baggage, and Botherland was in command of the victorions army,
1t is ourions that no mention is made of the regular infantry in this
spirited deseription of the fight. The vietory eatablished Sutherland’s
repatation and sonfirmed him in his master’s favour; so muech so
that at one time it wee announoced he had been sppainted fo super-
sede Perron, whoes jealonsy operated as mueh as sny other eanse in
bringing him to Ujisin in March, 16802

Parron soon obtained Smdhusw,mddthonghSntharhnd
intrigned assidoously, he was disgraced snd transferred to the
ocommand of the Becond Brigade, which had escoried Perron down
from Hindnatan, This humiliation and *a remark of Perron’s”
esused the Beotchman to throw up his eommission in disgust, and he
returned to Agra * without leave,” scoompanied by a hundred esvalry.
Sindhia, it was siated, was very much distressed ai his departure, and
Perron went personally to paeify his brigade, and promised them a
pew commandsr of equal rank.

Butherland remaived at Agra till the hreaking out of the war with
the English, and was one of the officers confined by the mutinous
Agra gurison. Has was amsociated with George Heasing in arranging
ths tema of eapitplation, and the bearer of the letter to General
Lake whish “demanded a eessation of hostilities " on the 18th of
October, 1808. Two or three daya after this he and all the Furepean
officars in the plase found protection under the British fiag.
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On the whole, Butherland seems to have been & good officer, though
doubtless his social qualities were not so commendable as his military
abilitiea, His victory at Indore justifies his claim to be considered a
more eompetont commander than most of his eontemporariss, On
his withdrawal from BSindhia's service he obtained s pension of
Ea. 800 a month, under favour of the Governor-General's proclama-
tion, which he enjoyed for acme years. Ho died at Mattra, but the
date of his death is not known.

Bruwg, Carrarw [kmown fo the natives as Sunk 8ahib].—Captain
Symes was the eommandant of a Najib, o maichlock, batialion in
Perron’s First Brigade, and was wounded st the siorm of Sounds.
After this be was sent to supersede Bourgnien, who had been
fruitlesaly endeavouring to capture Ajmir. From thence he pro-
oceded to Tonk, which place he gmrisoned for soms gime, uptil
Jaswant Bio Holkar stiacked him, and forced bim to retreat o
Rampira. He died a¢ Sikandra s short time before the war broke
out with the English.

. Towm, WnLiaw Hexzy, Corowxr.—Colonel W. H. Tone was an
Irishman, and brother to the famous Irish rebel, Theobald Wolfe
Tone. Willinam was born in August, 17564, his grandfather being s
respoctable farmer near Naas, in eounty Kildare, and bis father a
coaschmaker, who was ruined by litigation over the family property.
Tone was intended for a sommereial lifs, and bound spprentics at the
age of fourteen to sn eminent bookseller. This epabled him 1o
indolge bis passion for reading, and he perosed every book of voyages
and travels which he eould find, and also some of military history and
advenfure. This Literature heated sn imagination nsturally warm
and enthusiastic to such a degres that, st the age of sixteen, he ran
away to Londm, and entered as a volonteer in the East Indis Com-
pavy's serviee. His first experience was unfortunste, for instead of
finding his way to Indis, as he desired, be was sent to the Island of
Bt. Helena, on which barren rock he remsined in gmrrison for siz
years, and then returned to Europe. It was highly to Lis honour
that, thongh be entered into such exeerabls society as the troops in
the Company’s satvice were composed of, and st such sn early age,
be passed through the ordeal without being afisctad by the sontagion
of their manners or their prineiples. He even found means in thal
degraded situation and remote spot to enltivate his mind o a ceriain
degree; 20 that his brothey, Wolfe Tone, was mueh surprised when be
met him in Londom, afler & separation of eighi years, to find him
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with the manners of a gentleman and s considerable acquaintance
with the best parts of English literature. Tonse had a natural talent
for poetry, which he much improved, and composed several very
plegant sets of verses. He was a handsome, well-made man with a
good address, and extremely well received among women, whom he
loved to excess. He was as brave as Cesar and devoled to soldiering,

Having remained three or four years i Europe, by which time his
father was niterly ruined by the Iaw-suit alluded to, Tone resolved
to try his fortune in India, from which step his brother did not
attempt to dissande him. Re-entering the Company’s service in 1792,
he arrived at Madras at the end of that year, With an advantageous
figure, a good address, and considerable talents, he recornmended .
himself so far to the eolonel of the regiment. in which he served, that
bhoe obtained hie discharge and letters of introduction to persons at
Calcutts, where he was advised to push his fortures. A emali military
command enabled him to defray the expenses of the voyage, and
prooured him a gratification of £50 on his arrival at his destination
a6 A reward for his exertions in quelling a dangerous mutiny which
broke out amonget the black troops under his commeand on board,
who had formed a scheme to run awsy with the ship. At Caloutis
the persons to whom he had come resommended introduced him to a
French officer named Marigny, who was second in command of the
Nisam of Haidarabad’s army, and happened to be at the Pre-
eidency purchasing military stores for his master. Marigny gave
Tone sn appointment in the Nizam's service, and promised him the
command of a battery of artillery as soon as they should arrive at
Haidarebad. The stores being purchased, Tone marched with the
First Division; of which he bad the command, and arrived safely at
the Nizam's eapital. After some time, Marigny followed ; but by an
unforeseen mcecident all Tone's hopes were blasted. A quarrel took
place between Marigny and Baymond, the Frenchman in command,
in which Tone, with an honourable indiseretion, sided with his friend.
The oonsequence was that Marigny was put in irons, and Tone only
esoaped a similar fate by eppealing, as a British sabject, to the
Resident at the Nizam’s Court for protection. This cireumstancs,
together with the breaking oui of the war between the French and
English, put an end to all prospeeis of his advanocement, as all the
Europeans in the Nizam’s army were Frenchmen,

Bo Tone get out to return to Caloutia. On his journey, having .
travellad four hundred miles, and with two huundred yet to travel,
which must have brought him into the distriot of Orissa, he dis-
mounted from his horse to shoot in & jungle by the roadside. On his
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retarn be found his servants and borses in the hands of five rufSane,
who were engaged in plundering his baggage. He immediately man
up and fired at them, and shol ons in the stomach, whersapom
another reiurned the fire with one of Tone's own pistols, which they
bad seized, and wounded him in the foot. They then made off with
their booty, and in this distressed eondition the unfortanate Irishman
had to travel iwo bundred miles in & buming climate and without
resoureea.  Bm his ecurage and good eonstitution supported him,
and he a3 length arrived st Calentia, where be speedily recovered his
beaith. His friends there bad not forgotien bim, and when sn
opportunity offered of Major Palmer prooeeding to Poovah fo take
up the sppoiniment of Besidemt at the Comrt of the Peshws of
the Marithis, they procured Tons s strong recommendation to that
Court, and he set off with Msjor Palmer in high spirits and bealth,
and with expectations of the command of o betitery of arullery st
least.

So far Tove's history bas been extracted from the memoirs of his
brother Wolfe Tone. Carrying the narmtive forward, it wouid appess
be reached Poonabh sbout the year 1795, and found employment in
Boyd's corps. Two years laier be was seleeted by Amrai Rio, the
Peshwa's brother, $0 commnand a proposed brigade of regulsr inhantry,
all the officers of which were to be British suijects, but the ides was
abandoned. In 1971 he was in eommand of two bundred Bepoys
assisting Lakwas Dids and the Bhais st the defemer of Sounds,
where he was defested by Perron's troops and obliged (o swrrander.
The General behaved wery kindly to him snd bis officers, supplying
than with a handsome esmp oquipsge, such s tents, emmels.
harses, ke. To the Colonel he offcred aarvice in bie own srmy, bot
it was declined, and Tonme was permitied 1o retive to Mahiswwr,
the eapital of Holksr, and farrished with Ea. 10,000 for his expenass,
and 10 evatls him snd his comrades in mislortwne o recover their
shaitered forinnen

Tone was killed in the following year, being siruck by a bulld
the right texnpie in an sction near Choli Mahégwur while serving with
Holkar. His brother’s biographer (his own nephew’, writing in 1477,
does not seam 1o have beem sware of this, or, st least, does nol spe-

Tmmmmd.mum-so—md
the Mahratta People,” which kas been frequently quoted by variows
m»mummumhmh
the end Gramt Duf, in bis * Hictery of the Mahrastes,” reders in
very appreciative termms to thwee letiars which Tove had published,

d



APPENDIX. 419

giving an accurate soconnt of affairs st Poomah in 1796. “I have
examined minuntely,” he writes, “all which that intelligent gentlernan
wrote respocting the Mahrattas. What he saw may be relied upon ;
a8 to what he heard, I am less surprised that he shonld have fallen
into ervor than thai he ghould have obtained information so nearly
<orroct.” - Bmith deseribes Tone a8 & man of * undannted valour and
persevering enterprise ; an unfortunaie gentleman whose abilities and
integrity were as great as his misfortunes had been undeservedly
severs,” and criticises his * Institotions* as *“*both elegant and
aoccurate.” Every one who was brought into sontact with William
Henry Tone writes well of him, and leaves us with the impression
that he wae a brave and amiable mean.

Vickess, Masor—Msjor Vickers was a half-easte, and an exceed-
ingly galiant young soldier. He entered Perron's army a8 & lientenant
in the Becond Brigade, under Major Pohlman, and eommanded one
of the trenches in the siege of Jhajgarh, displaying great bravery in
leading the siorm of that formidable plase. When the Chevalier
Dudreneo deserted Holkar’s service, Vickers was appointed to the
oommand of his eorps, and behaved with great conrage st the battle
of Poonah, in Oetober, 1802, his intrepidity and steadiness eondncing
much towards the victory, and being at the time a theme of admiration
amonget all military men. In 1804, when war broke out between
Holkar and the Britich, the chisf sent for Viekers, and asked him if
he would fight against his countrymen. The young man positively
refused to do 50, as did also two othar adventurers—Dodd and Ryan.
‘Whereupon Jaswant Rio, assigning as a justification a treasonsble
oorrespopdence which he socused them of carrying om, ordered all
three t0 be beheaded, and the sentence was carried into effeot at
Nahar Maghéna (Tiger's Hill} in the month of May, 1804. Their
heads were fixed on lances in front of Jaswant Rio's eamp, and a
public exier proclaimed that snch would be the fate of any European
who might fall into Holkar's olutches.
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